
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

AGENDA 
 

BENTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

Tuesday, June 18, 2024, 9 AM 

How to Participate in the Board of Commissioners Meeting 
Zoom Video  Click for Zoom link Click for YouTube LiveStream link 

In-person: Kalapuya Building, 4500 SW Research Way, Corvallis, Oregon 
NOTE: Seven County Service District meetings will occur immediately following the Board of 

Commissioners meeting: Agricultural Extension Services; Alpine; Alsea; Alsea Human Services; 
Cascade View; Hidden Valley Domestic Water Supply, and South Third Street. 

The meeting location is accessible to persons with disabilities. A request for an interpreter for the 
hearing impaired or for other accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made at 
least 48 hours before the meeting by contacting the Board of Commissioners Office at 541-766-
6800 or 800-735-2900 TTY, by email bocinfo@bentoncountyor.gov, or on the County’s website 
at https://boc.bentoncountyor.gov/contact/.  
 
The Board of Commissioners may call an executive session when necessary pursuant to ORS 
192.660.  The Board is not required to provide advance notice of an executive session; however, 
every effort will be made to give notice of an executive session.  If an executive session is the 
only item on the agenda for the Board meeting, notice shall be given as for all public meetings 
(ORS 192.640(2)), and the notice shall state the specific reason for the executive session as 
required by ORS 192.660. 

1. Call to Order and Introductions 
 
2. Review and Approve Agenda  

Chair May Alter the Agenda 
 

3. Proclamations 
3.1    Proclaiming June 19, 2024 as Juneteenth in Benton County, Proclamation No. 

P2024-013 – John Phillips IV, Linn-Benton NAACP  
 
4. Comments from the Public 

Time restrictions may be imposed on public comment, dependent on the business before 
the Board of Commissioners. Individual comment may be limited to three minutes. 

Board of Commissioners 
Office: (541) 766-6800 

Fax: (541) 766-6893 
 

4500 SW Research Way 
Corvallis, OR 97333 

bentoncountyor.gov 

I 

I I 

Page 1 of 220

https://boc.bentoncountyor.gov/events/june-18-2024-board-meeting/
https://www.youtube.com/c/BentonCountyGov/live
mailto:bocinfo@bentoncountyor.gov
https://boc.bentoncountyor.gov/contact/
amandmak
Highlight



 

June 18, 2024 Board Meeting Page 2 of 3 6/12/2024 12:52 PM 

 

 
6. Consent Calendar 

6.1  Renewal of Annual Liquor Licenses for Fiscal Year 2024-25 
6.2  Approval of the March 19, 2024 Meeting Minutes 
6.3  In the Matter of Appointments and Reappointments to the Following Advisory Boards 

and Committees: 
Board or Committee: Order Number: Re/Appointees: 
Corvallis-Benton County Library Board D2024-036 Ari Annachi 

Chris McMorran 
 

Courthouse Preservation Committee 
 

D2024-037 Carol Chin 
David Dodson 
Adrienne Fritze 
Roz Keeney 
Cornelia Levy-Bencheton 
 

Disposal Site Advisory Committee D2024-038 Jennifer Field 
Chuck Gilbert 
David Hackleman 
Ian McNab 
Jeff Morrell 
Brent Pawlowski 
Rachel Purcell 
Matthews Ruettgers 
Lansing Stout 
 

Enterprise Zone Advisory Committee D2024-039 Rachel McEneny 
 

Fair Board D2024-040 Rylee Henderer 
 

Food Service Advisory Committee 
 

D2024-041 Brendon Gilbert 
John McEvoy 
 

Historic Resources Commission 
 

D2024-042 Bruce Anderson 
Mariapaola Riggo 
 

5. Work Session 
5.1   15 minutes – Public Health Update – April Holland, Health Services 

5.2   30 minutes – South Corvallis Food Hub Needs Assessment Report – Christopher  
Jacobs, Benton-Corvallis Economic Development Office; Aliza Tuttle, A Tuttle 
Consults 

5.3  15 minutes – Presentation of Benton County Elections Integrity Informational Video – 
James Morales, Records and Elections; Cory Grogan, Public Information Officer 

Page 2 of 220



 

June 18, 2024 Board Meeting Page 3 of 3 6/12/2024 12:52 PM 

Mental Health, Addictions and 
Developmental Disabilities Advisory 
Committee 

D2024-043 Alan Acock 
Elizabeth Hazlewood 
 
 

Natural Areas and Parks Board 
 

D2024-044 Bryce Downey 
Phillip Hays 
Carol Walsh 

Property Value Appeals Board D2024-045 David Coulombe 
Andrew Freborg 
 

Statewide Transportation Improvement 
Fund Advisory Committee 
           

D2024-046 Greg Gescher 
Heidi Henry 
Robert Keith 
Nick Meltzer 
 

 

 
  7. New Business 

7.1   10 minutes – Discussion Regarding Annual Contract with Linn County for Youth 
Detention Beds – Matt Wetherell, Juvenile Services 

7.2   20 minutes – Modified Proposal for Health Services Structure – Rick Crager, 
Assistant County Administrator; April Holland, Health Services; Lacey Mollel, 
Community Health Centers 

 
8. Announcements 

 
9. Other 

ORS 192.640(1) “…notice shall include a list of the principal subjects anticipated to be 
considered at the meeting, but this requirement shall not limit the ability of a governing body to 
consider additional subjects.” 

 
 

Page 3 of 220



PROCLAMATIONS 

Page 4 of 220



 
BEFORE THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS FOR THE STATE 

OF OREGON, FOR THE COUNTY OF BENTON 
 

In the Matter of Proclaiming ) 
June 19, 2024 as Juneteenth  ) Proclamation P2024-013 
in Benton County   ) 
 
Juneteenth commemorates the emancipation of enslaved African Americans in the United States, 
celebrating freedom and marking an essential milestone in our nation's history. 
 
Juneteenth serves as a reminder of the resilience, courage, and perseverance of generations of 
African Americans who fought for freedom, equality, and justice. 
 
Juneteenth provides an opportunity for reflection, education, and community engagement that 
fosters understanding and appreciation of African American heritage, culture, and contributions. 
 
Benton County recognizes the importance of acknowledging and honoring the significance of 
Juneteenth in our shared history and promoting inclusivity, diversity, and equity within our 
community. 
 
Benton County is committed to promoting racial equity, justice, and reconciliation, striving for a 
future where all individuals are treated with dignity, respect, and fairness. 
 
THEREFORE, BE IT PROCLAIMED that Juneteenth, on the 19th day of June, 2024, is 
recognized as a day of remembrance, reflection, and celebration in Benton County. All community 
members are encouraged to commemorate Juneteenth by participating in educational events, 
community gatherings, and acts of service that promote unity, understanding, and social justice. 
 
Adopted this 18th day of June, 2024. 
Signed this 18th day of June, 2024. 
     BENTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 
            
     Xanthippe Augerot, Chair 
 
            
     Nancy Wyse, Vice Chair 
 
            
     Pat Malone, Commissioner 

ti] 
■ 

Benton 
County 

OREGON 

Page 5 of 220



WORK SESSIONS 

Page 6 of 220



Item 5.2 
South Corvallis Food Hub Needs Assessment Report 

Page 7 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
Needs Assessment Report

Presented to Corvallis City Council and Benton County Board of Commissioners
May, 2024

Page 8 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Project Team:
Aliza Tuttle; Principal of A Tuttle Consults and Primary Investigator
Kirsten Miller, Project Manager
Mark Luterra, Business Research
Kelsey Johnson, PhD, Quantitative Research
Rebecka Weinsteiger, Administration

- ... I• 

■ •• - • 

r -• • 

Page 9 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Food Hub Project Timeline

$550,000 ARPA Grant 
Awarded to Benton 
County from the 
State of Oregon to 
identify gaps in local 
food and beverage 
supply systems and 
create a food hub in 
South Corvallis by 
December 31, 2024. 

Dec

2021 2022 2023 2024

Page 10 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Food Hub Project Timeline

$550,000 ARPA Grant 
Awarded to Benton 
County from the 
State of Oregon to 
identify gaps in local 
food and beverage 
supply systems and 
create a food hub in 
South Corvallis by 
December 31, 2024. 

Dec Nov

2021 2022 2023 2024

Request for Proposal to 
select a consultant to 
complete a Systems 
Assessment released.

Page 11 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Modified deadline to submit final report, 
available at southcorvallisfoodhub.org

City of Corvallis will release Request for 
Proposal to select Food Hub Operator/s

Food Hub Project Timeline

$550,000 ARPA Grant 
Awarded to Benton 
County from the 
State of Oregon to 
identify gaps in local 
food and beverage 
supply systems and 
create a food hub in 
South Corvallis by 
December 31, 2024. 

Dec Nov Jan May

2021 2022 2023 2024

Request for Proposal to 
select a consultant to 
complete a Systems 
Assessment released.

Weinsteiger Consulting/  
A Tuttle Consults project 
team signed a contract 
with the City of Corvallis. 

. . 
' • t . ... 

Page 12 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

A System Assessment for the South Corvallis Food Hub project:

1. Determine the feasibility of a South Corvallis Food Hub
2. Develop an Inventory of Equipment and Infrastructure
3. Create, assess, and present three food hub scenarios
4. Identify potential operators

5. Support the Food Hub Operators to spend down the ARPA funds

Consultant Team’s Project Scope

Page 13 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

What is a Food Hub?

“A Food Hub is a business or organization that actively manages 
the aggregation, distribution, and marketing of source-
identified food products primarily from local and regional 
producers to strengthen their ability to satisfy wholesale, 
retail, and institutional demand.” 

USDA

Page 14 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

What is a Food Hub?

Page 15 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Create, assess, and present food hub scenarios

Food Hub 
Scenarios

Virtual

Industrial scale

Small scale

Page 16 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Systems Assessment

Data sources:
● 50+ interviews with local food system individuals
● 781 community survey responses
● Inventory of available equipment
● Reviewed studies of existing food hubs
● 5 site visits to nearby food hubs

..... 
FOOD HUB 
PROJECT ...... 

Para el estab/ecim1ento de 
uncentrodf>a!imentosen 
elSuraecorva//is 

,QUE RECESITRS PRRR 
CRECER TU REGac,a DE 

CUffllUR? 

Conversacion con la 
comunidad 

1 de febrero 
5:00-6:Jo p.m. 

Oficina de DevNw 
2525 SE Third St. Corvallis (Hwy 99) 

i Tendremos comida y cuidado de nli'ios en est a junta! 

COmida. 

TU Voz Es IMPORTANT£! --El equipo de/ proyecto de/ Centro de Alimentos 
(Food HubJ se ha asociado con Community 
lending Works para cone 
futures duefios de negocio 
crear un estudio 
estab/ecjmiento 

Encuesta: Si no puede asistir a la 
junta, aun que,emos que aporte 
su ,..oz en este proceso y PUede 
tomar esta encuesta. iGracias! 

Page 17 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Systems Assessment
Support for a food hub in South Corvallis is overwhelming and even stronger 
for residents of South Corvallis

Survey question: To what extent would you potentially benefit from a Food Hub in South Corvallis?

97333 (n=275) 

All (n=632) 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 

■ A great deal ■ A lot ■ A 1moderate amount ■ A little ■ Not at aU 

Page 18 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Community Survey
What are your top two priorities when you purchase groceries? (n=755)

Locally sourced/produced, 61% 

Affordability, 55% 

Convenient location, 35% 

Organic, 35% 

Vegetarian, 14% 

-1111 

Page 19 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

What are your top two priorities when you eat at a restaurant or food cart? (n=755)

Community Survey

Flavor, 64% 

Affordability, 34% 

Locally sourced, 31% 

Vegetarian, 21% 

Convenient location, 7% 

Organic, 11% 

Page 20 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Community Survey

I 27% 6,9% 

37% SS% 

I, 27% 64'% 

I 42¾ 47% 

I 53% 34% 

ot a al l t ■ . rv 

!=armers mark,et (n=7l0) 

Dining out at a casual food cart po (n=7U5) 

Increas,e ~oca~ food at existing bus'inesses {n=701 

Dining out at a si't-down res aurant (n=700) 

Intel act with people ·who produce my food (n=7U1) 

Page 21 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Business owners told us they want to source more local food 
and a local food aggregator would support them to do this

Interviews with local aspiring and existing business owners

I 27% 6,9% 

37% SS% 

I, 27% 64'% 

ot a al l t ■ - rv 

!=armers mark,et (n=7l0) 

Dining out at a casual food cart po (n=7U5) 

Increas,e ~oca~ food at existing bus'inesses {n=701 

Page 22 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Community Survey: social service agencies

The biggest ba.rrier for the people work w·th is ... 

''Cost and 'the all-too-c·ommon feeling that .low

inc·ome folk are out of place in the local food 
movement'' 
- Food security & ,smal farm support non-prof·t 

Page 23 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Community Survey: local aspiring and current business owners
Why do, you choose to procur,e llocal food? {select all that· ap,p,,y} (n= 75 ) 

Contribute to the loca I economy 

Higher quality/better flavor 

Food saf,ety issues/fresher food 

M k • II d f b • I I ar etmg, goo or 1.1sme·ss 

Customer demand 

More affordab le than non-local opt ions 

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 10 

Page 24 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Community Survey: local aspiring and current business owners
What are some supports that you would use to shift to 1more lo,cail sellling? (select all that app,{y) (n=65) 

Marketing supports 

Local food direct:ory 

Local food deliv,ery system 

Loca I food aggregator 

Price supports 

Local food processing supports 

I do not want to sell more local foods. 

12 4 3 I 
12 4 2 1 

12 4 3 

12 4 m 
1 I ~Ill 1 

1 

1 

0 10 20 30 

■ Small farm ■ Med1ium farm ■ Large farm ■ Industrial Farm 

Page 25 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Systems Assessment

Existing and potential small food-based businesses 
are interested in a Food Hub that:

1. Hosts a commercial kitchen
2. Provides aggregation and distribution services
3. Provides cold storage space

,- . -- ...... . 
. ... . 

Page 26 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Create, assess, and present food hub scenarios

Food Hub 
Scenarios

Virtual

Industrial scale

Commercial Kitchen

Food Cart Pod

Warehouse

Small scale

Page 27 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Create, assess, and present food hub scenarios

Assessment criteria determined by Corvallis Economic Development Office:

1. improve commercial opportunities for food businesses
2. improve food access in South Corvallis
3. address community needs
4. attain fiscal viability
5. be available for at least three years
6. address equipment inventory and needs
7. secure a qualified, interested, and committed operator

,- . -- ...... . 
. ... . 

Page 28 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Create, assess, and present food hub scenarios

1. Commercial kitchen
○ Consulted with potential tenants to determine needs
○ Reviewed existing facilities

2. Food cart pod
○ Consulted with aspiring and food cart owners to determine needs

3. Warehouse
○ Consulted with potential local wholesale producers and purchasers
○ Reviewed potential sites in South Corvallis
○ Consulted with regional food hubs

,- . -- ...... . 
. ... . 

Page 29 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Commercial Kitchen Scenario Assessment

Potential Components: 

1. Hourly rental or long-term rental of:
a. Oregon Department of Agriculture (ODA) licensed facility
b. County licensed facility

2. Classroom space
3. Small business incubator support
4. Co-packing facility
5. Light food-processing facility
6. Other…

,- . -- ...... . 
. ... . 

Page 30 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Commercial Kitchen Scenario Assessment

Potential Benefits:

1. Support new and help existing food business grow
2. Meets one of local food businesses’ top needs

,- . -- ...... . 
. ... . 

Page 31 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Commercial Kitchen Scenario Assessment
Rate Start-u Costs Year 1 Year 2 Year 3: Year 4 

Capacity Goal 40% 50% 60% 85% 
Ex ,enses 

s affTime $ 4,700 .00 $ 7,402.50 $ 10,362.56 $, 13,601 .80 

Kitchen Rental to Benton County Parks & R,ec $5.0/day $, 3,760 .00 $ ,700 .00 $, 5,640 .00 S, 7,9190.00 

Supplies&. Equ ipment $ 410,000.00 $ 1,000 .00 $ ,200 .00 $ 1,500 .00 $, 1,700. 0 

Tota I Ex pe 111s,es $, 40,000.00 $, ·9, 60 .00 .$ 13,302.50 $, 17,502.56 $, 23,291 .8.0 

Revenue 

R'ental $15/hr $, 13,248.00 $ 16,5,60 .00 $ 19,872 .. 00 $ 28,152 .00 

Total IRe11e1rne $, 13,248 .00 $ 16,5,60 .00 .$, 19,872 .00 $, 28,152 .00 

Profit / Loss without ARPA fu nd ing $ 40! 00.00 $, 3,788 .00 $ 3,257.50 $. 2,36,9 ,44 s 4,860.20 

Ex enses covered by APRA funding $ 40,000.00 $ 9·,460.00 $ 13,302.50 $, 17,502 .56 
Profit/Loss with ARPA fund in $ $ 13,248.00 $ 16,560.00 $ 19,872.00 $ 4,860.20 

Page 32 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Commercial Kitchen Scenario Assessment

● Start-up costs: $40,000
● Total ARPA funds projected 

to be spent: $80,265

40,000 

-0 
(/) 
::::, 20,000 
w--II) 
II) 

0 
_J 

Cummulative Prnfit/Loss Projections 

~ 0 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
0 .... 

Q_ 

-20,000 

-40,000 ~------------------------,--------' 
2 3 4 

Year 

Funding Scenarios - ARPA - no ARPA 

Page 33 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Food Cart Pod Scenario Assessment

Potential Components: 

1. Shared indoor or outdoor gathering space
2. Short or long term food cart pad rental
3. Shared expenses including: water, electricity, marketing 
4. Low-barrier entry to business
5. Small business incubator support
6. Other…

,- . -- ...... . 
. ... . 

Page 34 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Food Cart Pod Scenario Assessment

Potential Benefits: 

1. Supports new and helps existing food business grow
2. Expands options to purchase food in South Corvallis
3. Meets community desires 
4. Two potential operators have expressed interest

,- . -- ...... . 
. ... . 

Page 35 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Food Cart Pod Scenario Assessment
start-up Costs Year 1 Vear 2 Vear 3 Year 4 

Expenses 

Tota I Expenses $,15 l 'o 0,00 $311700.00 

Rever1ue 

Food T:ruck Rent $191200.00 $2.81 80 .no $381 00.00 $48100 . 0 

Total R,evenue $191200.00 $28~800.00 $38, 00.00 $. slmm.oo 

Profit/ Lo S5 1Nithout AR PA. fund i g -$12,500,0 -$21750.0 $61167 .50 $151050.88 

Expenses cover,ed by- ARPA funding $ 151000 .00 $, 31,7O(l00 S, 31,55.Q ,OO 

Profi t/Loss with ARPA funding $0 JO $191200.00 $281800.00 $61167.50 $151050.88 

Page 36 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Food Cart Pod Scenario Assessment

● Start-up costs: $15,000
● Total ARPA funds projected 

to be spent: $78,250
,..-.., 
0 
(/) 
::::, 

50,000 

~ 25,000 
U) 
U) 

0 
_J 
:,:::. 
Ii= 
0 

Cummulative Profit/Loss Projections 

n: 0 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

-25,00() 

2 3 4 
Year 

funding Scenarios - ARPA - no ARPA 

Page 37 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Warehouse Scenario Assessment

Potential Components: 

1. Dry, cold, frozen storage rented by shelf by month
2. Single local delivery site for wholesale producers
3. Streamlined online point of sale for wholesale accounts to access a 

variety of local food producers
4. Collaborative local food marketing opportunities
5. Opportunities for consumers and buying clubs to purchase local 

food in bulk at wholesale prices.

,- . -- ...... . 
. ... . 

Page 38 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Warehouse Scenario Assessment

Potential benefits:

1. Meets two of local food businesses’ top needs   
2. Increases consistency in supply of local food for wholesale 

purchasers (OSU, 509j, restaurants)
3. Increases wholesale market opportunities for existing farms 
4. Supports the 25+ farms that hope to expand in the next 5 years
5. Increases availability of wholesale pricing
6. One potential operator has expressed interest

,- . -- ...... . 
. ... . 

Page 39 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Warehouse Scenario Assessment

Expenses 

R.evenue 

Sales Goall 

Margin 

To,tal Expe•nses 

Sales 

cooler/freezer space lease 

Total Rev,enue 

Profit/Loss w ithout ARPA funding 

Expenses covered by ARPA funding 

Profit/Loss including ARPA funding 

$303,400.00 

$0.00 

-$303,400.00 

$303,400.00 

$0.00 

$250,000.00 

30% 

$140,800.00 

$75,000.00 

$._2,000.00 

$87,000.00 

-$53,800.00 

$64,800.00 

$11,000.00 

$500.000 .. 00 

30% 

$1.80,300 . .00 

$150,,000 .. 00 

$18,000 .. 00 

$1.68,000.00 

-$ 2,300.00 

$64.800.00 

$52,500.00 

$750,000.00 

30% 

$ 225,300.00 

$225,000.00 

$24,00D.OO 

$249,000.00 

$23,700.00 

$0.00 

$23,700.00 

Page 40 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

● Start-up costs: $303,400
● Total ARPA funds projected 

to be spent: $433,000

Warehouse Scenario Assessment
Cummulative Profit/Loss Projections 

100,000 

0 -------------------------------------------------------------------

........ 
0 
(/) 
::::, 
~ -100,000 

(/) 
(/) 

0 
_j 
:.:, 
li= -200 000 0 ' .... 
Q_ 

-300,000 

1.0 1.5 2.0 
Year 

2.5 

Funding Scenarios - ARPA - no ARPA 

3.0 

Page 41 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Create, assess, and present food hub scenarios
Commercial 

Kitchen
Food Cart 

Pod
Warehouse

improve commercial 
opportunities for food 
businesses

Yes Yes Yes

improve food access in South 
Corvallis

No Operator 
dependent

Operator 
dependent

address community needs Yes Yes Yes

attain fiscal viability Operator 
dependent Yes Yes

available 3+ years Yes Yes Yes

address equipment inventory 
and needs

Yes No Yes

potential operator identified No Yes Yes

Page 42 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Systems Assessment

A focus on equity and collaboration

Opportunities for historically disadvantaged groups to own and shape

Affordability: SNAP, Double-up Food Bucks, Community price supports, hot 
meals for low or no income 

Food access: Home delivery, more options to buy culturally appropriate, local, 
and delicious foods

Our community told us they want:

@ 

~ 
® 
® 

Page 43 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Next Steps

City of Corvallis to:
1. Release Request for Proposal to select Food Hub Operator/s
2. Select Food Hub Operator/s and
3. Sign contracts with Food Hub Operator/s

May July

Consultant team to:
1. Email bi-weekly project updates to the community
2. Answer potential Food Hub Operator or community questions 

regarding Systems Assessment

2024

Page 44 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub
TASK ONE

Support Potential Food Hub Operators

Please contact us with any questions:
Aliza@atuttleconsults.com

Join the email list for updates

..... , '.. . .. ., .. 
j . . . ' ... ,, ' ..... .,/ . · , 

.... 

Page 45 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report 
  
 P a g e  0  

 

South Corvallis 
Food Hub: 
Comprehensive 
Needs Assessment 
Report 

May 2024       

 

Page 46 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  1  

CONTENTS 
 

Executive Summary .......................................................................................... 3 

Introduction ................................................................................................... 4 

South Corvallis Context ..................................................................................... 6 

Previous South Corvallis Food System Reports and Studies ........................................... 9 

What is a Food Hub? ........................................................................................ 10 

Food Hubs in Oregon ..................................................................................... 11 

South Corvallis Food Hub Scenarios ...................................................................... 13 

Small-scale Warehouse ............................................................................... 16 

Commercial Kitchen .................................................................................. 20 

Food Cart Pod .......................................................................................... 24 

Next Steps & Reccomendations ........................................................................... 28 

Appendix 1: Small-scale Warehouse Fiscal Modeling .................................................. 29 

Appendix 2: Commercial Kitchen Fiscal Modeling ..................................................... 32 

Appendix 3: Food Cart Pod Fiscal Modeling ............................................................ 35 

 

Attachment 1: Community Survey Report 

Attachment 2: Inventory of Equipment  

 

  

Page 47 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  2  

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 
The South Corvallis Food Hub Needs Assessment was a true collaborative effort. The consultant 

would like to express sincere thanks to the team: Rebecka Weinsteiger, Kirsten Miller, Markael 

Luterra, Kelsey Johnson, and Kat Walter; and to Jim Morefield and Jasmin Woodside, early 

supporters of the project. 

We deeply thank those who agreed to be technical advisors for the development of the 

proposal: Tom Gerding, Lee Eckroth, Sydney DeLuna, Jen Brown, Rebecca Landis, Annette Mills, 

Lynn Meyer, Nicole Hindes, Peggy McGuire, Emily Reiman, and Chris Quaka. We thank the 

members of the local food community who supported this consultant team’s efforts from the 

beginning: Cindee Lolik, Teagan Moran, Shawn Collins, Sara Power, Ilene McClelland, Lauren 

Gwin, Amy Garrett, Greg Little, Maggie Berg, Camille Kaplan, Richard Mosher, Luke Beene, April 

Hall Cutting, Cheryl Good, and Rachel Ashley, and to those who later contributed to support the 

development of the study: David Barron, Ricardo Contreras, and Wallace Jennings.  

The consultant team would not have been able to collect as much data as we did without the 

support and time of community‐based food system ambassadors who conducted interviews in 

English and Spanish, and used their existing connections to conduct meaningful conversations. 

Thank you to Diego Nieto, Liz Habley, Michele Colomb, Kat Walter, and Anna Perry. We thank 

site visit hosts Hummingbird Wholesale, Organically Grown Company, Burrito Brigade, 

Willamette Farm and Food Coalition, Lane County Bounty, and Central Coast Food Web.  

Many individuals in the community offered volunteer time for this study. Our team’s own time 

limitations stopped us from including all of them, but we thank each individual who offered and 

we thank those who researched and reviewed literature: Sagan Wallace, Stephanie Sackinger, 

Tammy Winfield, Christine Tataru, Kris Kaul, and Camille Kaplan, and to those who lent their 

business experience to create the fiscal models: Elizabeth Gibb, Jacob Oliver, Maggie Berg, and 

Shannon Miller. 

Finally, we wish to thank each and every participant in this study, from the over 800 individuals 

who took the time to complete the survey and the over 50 individuals who participated in an 

interview. The project team thanks our partners who are our thought partners and our 

community support system. 

This study is for those who live, eat, and play in South Corvallis. We hope this serves you.  

SUGGESTED CITATION 

Tuttle, A. (2024). South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Facility Needs Assessment Report. 
Prepared for the Corvallis-Benton County Economic Development Office. 

Page 48 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  3  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

In 2021, Benton County, on behalf of the Corvallis Benton County Economic 

Development Office, received funding from the Oregon legislature to begin work 

on creating a food hub in South Corvallis.1 The City of Corvallis contracted with A 

Tuttle Consults, a local research consulting firm, to examine the feasibility of 

establishing a South Corvallis food hub.  

This feasibility study focuses on financial viability. It provides three scenarios that 

may utilize funds from APRA to catalyze economic activity in South Corvallis.  

South Corvallis is the southern‐most neighborhood in Corvallis with just over 

23,000 residents, is bisected by a 5‐lane highway, and reports a slightly higher 

median household income ($63,119) compared to Corvallis as a whole ($61,610). 

The western area of the neighborhood reports a household income of $60,409 

compared to the eastern area, reported at $102,454.  

Over the past twenty years, various community groups have studied food access 

in South Corvallis through a variety of lenses, including studies centering the 

needs and impacts on farmers and South Corvallis residents, particularly those in 

low‐income groups, and studies examining the feasibility of a neighborhood food 

center. However, none of these studies have resulted in a food hub of any form.  

This study tested the feasibility of and community support for three food hub 

scenarios: a virtual, small‐scale, and industrial‐scale food hub. This was 

accomplished through a community survey, individual interviews, literature 

review, and regional site visits to existing food hubs. Of those three scenarios, the 

community demonstrated strong support and need for components of the small‐

scale scenario: a small‐scale warehouse, a commercial kitchen, and a food cart 

pod. Through market analysis and fiscal modeling, the study found that these 

three small‐scale food hub models were financially viable.   

Equity, food access, affordability, and collaboration arose as overarching themes 

for this project from data collected from the community.   
 

1 RFP CD-2023-02 Pg. 3 

Page 49 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  4  

INTRODUCTION 
The purpose of this report is to serve as a resource for potential operators of a South Corvallis 

Food Hub. The authors aim to provide information gathered from the community to inform 

business plans, scenarios, and operating projections.  

Available Funding 

Through the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) of 2021, the Corvallis Benton County Economic 

Development Office (EDO) was awarded funds to support the development a Food Hub in 

South Corvallis. At the dissemination of this report (May 6, 2024) the EDO has $495,000 

available to be granted to support the development of a food hub. These funds will be granted 

to operators through a request for proposals process determined by the EDO.  

Timeline 

At this time, operators must obligate funds awarded by December 31, 2024 and spend them by 

December 31, 2025. All questions about this timeline are to be directed to the EDO.  

Fiscal Viability 

The South Corvallis Food Hub could take many forms. The goal of this feasibility study is to 

provide potential operators with evidence of independent fiscal viability by the end of 2025 for 

three distinct food hub models. 

Research Design 

The information presented in this report is derived from data collected through a community 

web survey (781 respondents), an inventory of equipment available and needed, and interviews 

with over fifty individuals from the local food system, including small business owners, aspiring 

business owners, non‐profit leaders and volunteers, and South Corvallis residents.  

Limitations 

This feasibility study was limited in scope and depth due to the timeline and budget of the 

project. The abbreviated timeline for this study (January 2024 to March 2024) did not provide 

sufficient time to co‐design a study method with all affected groups. This may have created 

questions and/or response options on the community survey and interview that did not affirm 

all cultures and experiences. Any omissions or harm caused due to this timeline are deeply 

regrettable. The consultant team is engaged in ongoing repair efforts through intentional 

community outreach, collaboration, and long‐term relationship building. 

Page 50 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  5  

The format of an electronic survey is known to be a limited access method. Those without 

access to electronic devices and those who have previously experienced input fatigue may not 

self‐select to participate. However, this survey is not intended to be generalizable to any 

population; it was designed as the first step in a series to test the feasibility of specific food hub 

scenarios related to a food hub in South Corvallis.  

Despite these limitations, the authors believe the findings of this feasibility study are valuable in 

informing any potential operators of fiscal viability of a food hub in South Corvallis.  

Moving Towards a More Equitable Future 

We recommend that any future grants and funds that may be allocated in communities 

disproportionally affected by systemic racism be spent following studies and guidance from 

those communities most affected by such public investments. This includes ensuring that there 

are appropriate timelines and sufficient communication between the funding entities and 

recipients, and research uses best research practices in restorative justice‐based methods. 

 

 

  

Page 51 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  6  

SOUTH CORVALLIS CONTEXT 
Corvallis, the County Seat of Benton County, is located within the traditional homelands of the 

Ampinefu Band of Kalapuya. Following the Willamette Valley Treaty of 1855, the Kalapuya 

people were forcibly removed to reservations in Western Oregon, and today the living 

decedents are part of the Confederated Tribes of Grand Ronde Community of Oregon and the 

Confederated Tribes of the Siletz Indians.2 

According to the most recent American Community Survey (ACS 2022, 5‐year survey), there are 

97,630 residents in Benton County and 60,050 residents of Corvallis. Oregon State University’s 

main campus is in Corvallis and students are counted in the population of the City of Corvallis. 

OSU recorded 24,188 students at their Corvallis campus in the fall of 2023. Enrollment is 

expected to continue to increase.   

IDENTIFYING SOUTH CORVALLIS 

 South Corvallis is the southern‐most neighborhood group of Corvallis 

and encompasses about a third of the 97333‐zip code, distinct from 

other parts of Corvallis that use the 97330, 97331, and 97339 zip 

codes. It is politically represented in Ward 3 and parts of Ward 2 of 

the Corvallis City Council. South Corvallis is a group of neighborhoods 

including Tunison, Crystal Lake, Lincoln School, and most recently 

most southern, Willamette Landing. South Corvallis is also known 

colloquially as “Southtown,” and may be referred to in documents3 as 

Southtown or South Corvallis. The neighborhood is bordered to the west 

and north by the meandering Marys River, to the east by the Willamette 

River and Crystal Lake Park, to the south by Kiger Island Drive and the city 

limits.  

South Corvallis is bisected by Highway 99 (99W), a heavily used 5‐lane 

highway managed by Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT). ODOT and the City of 

Corvallis are actively collaborating to change the road to better “meet the demands of all 

current users.”4  This highway has loud road noise from trucks, limited crosswalks, and is 

perceived by residents as dangerous5, most recently killing a 10‐year‐old child in a marked 

 
2 This history is based on Oregon State University’s Land Acknowledgement found at: https://diversity.oregonstate.edu/feature-
story/land-acknowledgement 
3 Living Southtown is a neighborhood group mobilized as part of the Urban Renewal for Southtown Corvallis, for example: 
https://www.devnw.org/thriving-communities/community-building-and-neighborhood-revitalization/southtown-corvallis/ 
4 https://www.oregon.gov/odot/projects/pages/project-details.aspx?project=OR99W-South-Corvallis-Improvements 
5 https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Projects/Project%20Documents/Public-Involvement-Stakeholder-Interview-Highlights.pdf 

Benton County 

Corvallis 

Page 52 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  7  

crosswalk.6 Because of this, 99W is perceived as a barrier that separates the west side of the 

neighborhood from the east side, and is an important aspect of the neighborhood context.   

There is one neighborhood association in South Corvallis (Tunison)7, which is on the west side 

of 99W.  

RESIDENTS OF SOUTH CORVALLIS 

South Corvallis, as delineated by (generally) the 97333 zip code, has a slightly higher percentage 

(79%) of White residents than Corvallis (74%) and Benton County (77%); a slightly lower 

proportion of Latine (Hispanic) (8%), compared to Corvallis (9%) and Benton County (9%); and a 

slightly lower proportion of Asian residents (6%) and multi‐race/ethnic residents (4%) 

compared to Corvallis (10% and 5% respectively) and Benton County (7% and 6% respectively).  

	
Benton	County	/	

Corvallis	Metro	Area	 Corvallis	City	
97333	Zip	Code	
(South	Corvallis)	

Population		 97,630	 60,050	 23,028	
Race	/	Ethnicity	

	   

White 77% 74% 79% 
Hispanic 9% 9% 8% 

Asian 7% 10% 6% 
2+ Categories 6% 5% 4% 

All other 1% 2% 2% 

The 97333 zip code also reports a slightly higher median household income ($63,119) compared 

to Corvallis ($61,610), but lower than Benton County as a whole ($68,524). Similarly, 97333 

reports a slightly lower poverty rate (24.6%) compared to Corvallis (26.4%), but higher than 

Benton County (21.7%).  

	
Benton	County	/	

Corvallis	Metro	Area	 Corvallis	City	
97333	Zip	Code	
(South	Corvallis)	

Median	Household	Income $	68,524		 $	61,610		 $	63,119		
% of hh that make <$50k 37% 41% 42% 

% of hh that make $50k - $100k 29% 28% 27% 
% of households that make $100k 

- $200k 
25% 23% 22% 

$ of hh that make > $200k 9% 8% 9% 
Poverty	Rate	(%	below	poverty	
line)	

20.7%	 26.4%	 24.6%	

 
6 https://www.oregonlive.com/commuting/2020/01/girl-11-struck-and-killed-by-driver-in-corvallis.html 
7 https://www.corvallisoregon.gov/cd/page/neighborhood-associations 

I I I 
I I I 

Page 53 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  8  

South Corvallis is more accurately delineated by 

census tracts 1.01 and 1.02. At this level of analysis, 

a significant amount of heterogeneity and disparity 

in economic status within South Corvallis becomes 

clear. Specifically, we find that census tract 1.01, 

which extends east‐west from Crystal Lake Dr. to 

the Marys River and south to Goodnight Ave, has a 

poverty rate of 30.9% and a median income of 

$60,409. This is in stark contrast to the neighboring 

1.02 census tract which encompasses the “Benton 

County Crystal Lake Drive” and Willamette Landing 

neighborhoods, which have a poverty rate of only 

10.1% and a median income of $102,454. While this 

study only disaggregates these data as far as the 

census tract level, these economic differences become even more stark at the block and block‐

group levels. 

 

97333	

1.01	(SE	Corvallis	to	
Marys	River	to	
Goodnight	Ave)	

1.02	(SE	Corvallis	/	
Benton	County	‐	
Willamette	Park	
and	South	of	

Goodnight	Ave)*	
Population		 23,028	 3,997	 3,341	
Race	/	Ethnicity	

	   

White 79% 86% 73% 
Hispanic 8% 8% 14% 

Asian 6% 1% 9% 
2+ Categories 4% 3% 4% 

All other 2% 1% 0% 
Median	Household	Income	 $	63,119		 $	60,409		 $	102,454		

% of hh that make <$50k 42% 42% 21% 
% of hh that make $50k - 

$100k 
27% 38% 27% 

% of households that make 
$100k - $200k 

22% 17% 38% 

$ of hh that make > $200k 9% 3% 14% 
Poverty	Rate	(%	below	
poverty	line)	

24.6%	 30.9%	 10.1%	

 *the margin of error for these data is high.   

South Corvallis (Census Tracts) 

1.01 

1.02 

I I I 

I I I 

Page 54 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  9  

PREVIOUS SOUTH CORVALLIS FOOD SYSTEM 
REPORTS AND STUDIES 
 

In 2005‐2006 the Ecumenical Ministries of Oregon in 

collaboration with Oregon State University and the Rural 

Studies Initiative conducted a community food assessment 

called From Our Own Soil. The study focused on farmers and 

low‐income residents in Benton County, and added a section 

questioning how communities of faith contribute to food 

security. The effort found potential in local food processing, a 

desire among farmers to increase local food marketing 

opportunities, and the need for the community to build 

demand for local food. 

The 2012 South Corvallis Food Center Feasibility Report, 

funded by a USDA Community Food Projects grant, aimed to 

assess the viability of a community food center in South 

Corvallis. Food centers, according to that report, “move from 

straight food banking to providing a programmatic response to 

help low‐income communities.” Community Food Centers are 

also “places where people can access food and learn healthful 

and sustainable practices to increase their quality of life.” That 

study concluded that without an affordable site, a capital 

campaign, and organizational ownership for the project, the 

Community Food Center is not feasible at this time (2012). 

That project concluded with developing a virtual network of 

food resource organizations to plan for a future community 

food center.  

Additional studies, including a Benton County Community Food 

Assessment (2014) and a report completed for South Corvallis 

residents by the OSU Policy Analysis Lab, corroborated 

previous findings and added commentary.  

This needs assessment aims to understand if any of the above 

conditions have changed and, if so, if a Food Hub is now 

feasible.  

Selected 
Reports on 
Food System 
Needs in 
Benton County, 
Corvallis, and 
South Corvallis 

2006 From Our Own 
Soil: A Community 
Food Assessment: 
Benton County, 
Oregon, and Its 
Foodshed (Ecumenical 
Ministries of Oregon) 

2012 South Corvallis 
Community Food 
Center Feasibility 
Report (USDA 
Community Food 
Project Competitive 
Grant Program) 

2012 Food Incubator 
Study 

2014 Benton County 
Community Food 
Assessment 

2020 OPAL: South 
Corvallis Residents’ 
Assessment: A Pilot 
Project 

'JOrt Page 9 

Page 55 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  10  

WHAT IS A FOOD HUB?  
In the Wallace Center and Michigan State University for Regional Food Systems’ first bi‐annual 

Food Hub Survey Report in 2013, the authors defined a regional food hub as “a business or 

organization that actively manages the aggregation, distribution and marketing of source‐

identified food products primarily from local and regional producers to strengthen their ability 

to satisfy wholesale, retail, and institutional demand.” This definition is from the USDA. The 

Regional Food Hub Survey included many other types of businesses until 2019, however, with 

the understanding that food hubs exhibit a great deal of variety in their individual business 

models and core values.  

The 2019 National Food Hub Survey included only food hubs that fit the USDA definition of food 

hubs, but the 2021 National Food Hub Survey again expanded the inclusion criteria. This 

expansion was in response to the 2020 Delivering More than Food: Understanding and 

Operationalizing Racial Equity in Food Hubs Report and Racial Equity Implementation Guide for 

Food Hubs: A Framework for Translating Value into Organizational Action.8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

For the purpose of this report, the South Corvallis Food Hub may align with the USDA definition 

of a food hub, but the actual form, name, and terminology used to describe the outcome of the 

service, building, or network created by selected food hub operators are not limited to this 

definition. Food Hubs may have the potential to create a more equitable food system, if 

operators create a business and governance structure that centers equity. A framework of 

guiding principles and key questions are provided in the footnotes.9 Operators are encouraged 

to take the recommendations of the community and best equity practices into account.   

 
8 Jones, T., Cooper, D., Noor, S., & Parks, A. (2018). A Racial Equity Implementation Guide for food hubs: A framework for 
translating value into organizational action [White paper]. Race Forward. https://www.raceforward.org/practice/tools/racial-equity-
implementation-guide-food-hubs 
9 https://www.policylink.org/sites/default/files/RecoveryGuide-LJ-2021_050621c.pdf 

“a food hub… actively manages the aggregation, 

distribution and marketing of source‐identified food 

products primarily from local and regional producers to 

strengthen their ability to satisfy wholesale, retail, and 

institutional demand” 

Page 56 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  11  

FOOD HUBS IN OREGON 

According to the Oregon State University Extension Service (OSU Extension) there are twelve 

food hubs in Oregon.10 They range from hosting an online farmers market with home delivery 

(such as Lane County Bounty in Springfield), a commercial kitchen with a small business 

incubator program (such as North Coast Food Web) to an event space, individual food business 

retail space, and a BIPOC farmers market (such as EcoTrust’s Redd on Salmon Street in 

Portland). The main theme that ties these food hubs together are that they focus on and 

strengthen the local food economy in some way, although they tend to prioritize social impact 

over high profits, trading some profit for goals such as paying better prices to farmers and 

reducing barriers to healthy food.11 

Six of these local food hubs published feasibility studies prior to their creation. Some common 

themes arose, although the studies varied widely in their methods, scope, and purpose. 

The food hubs studied all centered around a small‐scale warehouse with some additional 

services. The main function of the warehouse is a single location for farmers and food 

producers to drop off goods that are then redistributed to buyers, sometimes through last‐mile 

delivery. Some food hubs have an attached commercial kitchen space (North Coast) and others 

do not. The Klamath County food hub study recommended a focus on business sustainability, 

efficiency, and the market realities of producers. The Central Oregon Food Hub also 

conceptualized services provided as a disaster resilience strategy. 

Two studies (Southwest Oregon and Mid‐Willamette Valley) reported farmer interest in 

participating in a food hub that offers wholesale while two studies reported farmers needing 

near‐retail prices for products and the inability to sell at wholesale. Two food hub feasibility 

studies identified a need for meat processing facilities (Mid‐Willamette Valley and North Coast).  

Common challenges for food hubs identified included funding for staff (Central Oregon, 

Southwest Oregon), cost and upkeep of facilities (Central Oregon, Southwest Oregon), and 

connecting to smaller hubs (Southwest Oregon, Klamath County). 

 
10 https://extension.oregonstate.edu/food/food-systems/food-hubs-oregon 
11 Wallace Food Hub benchmark report 2018: FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT FOR FOOD HUB SUCCESS ONE KPI AT A TIME 
Wallowa County: Athens, K. (2017). “Local” as a Resiliency Strategy Wallowa County Food Hub Feasibility Study. Northeast 
Oregon Economic Development District (NEOEDD). 
Central Oregon Food Hub: Van Dis, K. (2012). Central Oregon Food Hub Feasibility Study. Central Oregon Intergovernmental 
Council. 
Mid-Willamette Valley: Smith, E., & Fernandez-Salvador, J. (2018). Food Hub Feasibility Study in Oregon's Mid-Willamette Valley: 
Interviews with Conventional and Organic Small and Mid-Sized Farmers. EOrganic. https://eorganic.org/node/25213 
Klamath County: Economic Development District, S. C. O. (2019). South Central Oregon Economic Development District Food 
Hub Feasibility Study. Competinomics, LLC. 
North Coast: https://www.readkong.com/page/north-coast-food-hub-feasibility-report-9989830 
Southwest Oregon: Umpqua, N., & Project, B. Z. (2020). Southwest Oregon Food Hub Feasibility Assessment: Results and Next 
Steps. https://ocfsn.org/food-hub 

Page 57 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  12  

North Coast and Central Oregon shared common producer needs met by the future food hub. 

These needs were cold storage, a more cohesive distribution chain, and a commercial kitchen 

with light processing capabilities. 

North Coast’s and the Mid‐Willamette Valley’s feasibility studies noted that each part of the 

food system chain must be in place before producers will start to use it to scale their business. 

Klamath County’s feasibility study recommended grounding all future action in farmer needs 

and interests through farmer surveys or other feedback mechanisms and to building 

relationships. 

OSU Extension supports regional food hubs by partnering with the Oregon Community Food 

Systems Network, a collaboration of over fifty organizations statewide, and through their 

Center for Small Farms & Community Food Systems, Farm to School, and OSU Small Farms 

programs.  

 

   

The  Redd  on  Salmon  Street  is  a  two‐block 

“campus”  for  food  businesses  in  Southeast 

Portland.  It  opened  in  2018  as  a  project  of 

EcoTrust. 

The  Redd  hosts  event  spaces,  a  commissary 

kitchen,  business  incubator  spaces,  a  last‐mile 

bicycle  delivery  service,  a  farmers’ market  for 

Black and Indigenous producers and eaters, and 

many other food services.  

EcoTrust  is  a  Portland  based  non‐profit  with 

over  fifty current projects across  the  region at 

the  intersection  of  equity,  economy,  and  the 

environment.  

Regional Food Hub Spotlight: The Redd on Salmon Street 

Page 58 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  13  

 SOUTH CORVALLIS FOOD HUB SCENARIOS  
As stated, Food Hubs can be many things and take many forms. This South Corvallis Food Hub 

feasibility study tested scenarios of Food Hubs for viability: an all‐virtual model, an industrial 

scale model, and a small‐scale model. 

Each scenario’s description, primary user, potential operational activities, operator structure, 

needed community partnerships, viability needs, and site requirements are provided below. 

Virtual    

Description  An organization or initiative with the express goal of 
connecting food producers, distributors, and buyers.  

Primary Users  Connecting people virtually around food and orchestrating the 
movement of food 

Potential Primary 
Operational Activities 

 Commercial Kitchen Space Management  

 Food value chain facilitator 
 Marketing & business development 

 Networking/event planning 
 Virtual infrastructure (e.g. Local Food Marketplace Online 
Sales Platform) through which transactions can be 
coordinated, but all actual aggregation and distribution 
remains the responsibility of producers/buyers 

Operator Structure  Program of existing non‐profit 

Potential Community 
Partnerships 

All local food programs, sites, and facilities 

Viability Needs  Community engagement 

Site Requirements  None/office space; could utilize Benton County Fairgrounds 
Commercial Kitchen 

 

This scenario was not expected to be viable because the consultants were not able to model a 

viable method to spend down the available ARPA funding.12  

 
12 The consultant team completed all scenario and fiscal modeling based on the timeline in the RFP CD-2023-02 
that states: Ensure that all [work be] complete for the purposes identified no later than December 1, 2024 (Task 
2.1.2.1.c). The consultant was notified on April 17, 2024 that this timeline for work to be completed was extended 
to December 31, 2025. The consultant acknowledges this timeline shift may influence the viability of scenarios.  

Page 59 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  14  

Industrial   

Description  A commercial enterprise to support large scale regional food 
producers and buyers.   

Primary Users  Local food producers and buyers (Industrial and large scale) 

Potential Primary 
Operational Activities 

 Space Rental to large scale food producers  
 Property management 

Operator Structure  Sole owner, new non‐profit, LLC 

Potential Community 
Partnerships 

Oregon State University, Ten Rivers Food Web 

Viability Needs  Tenant businesses, building ownership 

Site Requirements  50,000 sqft warehouse space, loading dock, 480V, cold, 
frozen, and dry storage space, office space, industrial food 
processing space and equipment 

 

This scenario is not expected to be viable because the consultants were not able to identify a 

suitable site in South Corvallis nor model a viable fiscal scenario (too few potential tenants to 

make this scenario viable were identified). The ARPA funding available ($495,000) was not 

enough to secure a building and the timeline did not allow for a capital campaign. No potential 

operator was identified.   

  

Page 60 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  15  

Small‐scale  

Description  A food hub that utilizes an online marketplace to connect 
buyers with consumers 

Primary Users  Local food consumers and producers (individuals and 
households) 

Potential Primary 
Operational Activities 

 BIPOC centered market or other amenities 

 Commercial kitchen 

 Farm stand 

 Food cart pod 
 Food pantry 
 Refrigerated box truck delivery route 
 Delivery van route 
 Marketing & business development 

 Meeting space 

 Networking/event planning 
 Online and/or in‐person farmers’ market 

 Permanent or seasonal farmers’ market 

Operator Structure  Sole proprietorship, member‐owned co‐op, program of 
existing non‐profit, others 

Potential Community 
Partnerships 

South Corvallis Food Bank, Corvallis‐Albany Farmers Markets, 
Flicker and Fir, Casa Latinos Unidos, DevNW, Ten Rivers Food 
Web, Linn‐Benton‐Lincoln Health Equity Alliance, Corvallis 
Sustainability Coalition, Corvallis Environmental Center, others 

Viability Needs  Community engagement, fiscal support 

Site Requirements  5,000 square feet, cold, frozen, and dry storage space, a 
loading dock or other suitable space, parking lot, space for 
farmers market, food cart pod, or other use 

 

This scenario is expected to be viable because potential sites were identified in South Corvallis 

that may be both suitable and available, community and small business support was 

documented, and a few potential operators were identified.  

 

  
Individual aspects of the small‐scale warehouse scenario are 

expanded below to further support potential operators. These 

aspects are (1) a small‐scale warehouse, (2) a commercial kitchen, 

and (3) a food cart pod. 

Page 61 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  16  

SMALL-SCALE WAREHOUSE 
 

The following feasibility assessment is informed by data collected from the inventory of 

equipment, community survey, interviews, site visits, and available facility tours.   

Description  

A business or organization that actively manages the aggregation, distribution and marketing of 

source‐identified food products primarily from local and regional producers to strengthen their 

ability to satisfy wholesale, retail, and institutional demand 

Primary Users 

Wholesale accounts including restaurants, institutional purchasers (OSU Dining, 509J, etc) 

value‐added food producers, neighborhood buying clubs, emergency food providers, local 

farmers13, and others 

Potential Primary Operational 
Activities 

 Aggregation of local food products 
(regional farmers drop off their produce 
at a single site) 

 Local & regional distribution of local food 
products (operator distributes food 
products from many regional producers) 

 Streamlined online point of sale for 
wholesale accounts to access a plethora 
of local products 

 Collaborative local food marketing 
opportunities 

 Space rental in dry, cold, and frozen 
facilities rented by the pallet/shelf/sq ft 
by the month 

 Light processing space 

 
13 https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2022/Online_Resources/County_Profiles/Oregon/cp41003.pdf 

Potential producer snapshot 

Data from Benton County 2022 NASS 

 1,892-1,952 producers 
 Average age of producers is 58; 

o 124 are <35 years old  
o 514 are 65 to 74 years old 
o 139 are non-white or multiracial 

Market Value: 

 $7.7M in Vegetables, melons  
& sweet potatoes 

 26.4M in Fruits, tree nuts, & berries 
 18.6M in Livestock, poultry & eggs 

Farms: 

 41% are 1 to 9 acres 
 37% are 10 to 49 acres 
 3 organic farms 

Page 62 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  17  

Operator Structure: 

Sole‐proprietorship, program of an existing non‐profit, new non‐profit, collaboration of private 

ownership and non‐profits, member‐owned cooperative, others 

Potential Community Partnerships: 

Corvallis‐Albany Farmers Markets, Flicker and Fir, Ten Rivers Food Web, Linn‐Benton‐Lincoln 

Health Equity Alliance, Corvallis Environmental Center, others 

Fiscal Viability Modeling: 

Start‐up costs, including facility rental, installing a walk‐in freezer, a walk‐in refrigerator, light 

remodeling, and purchasing materials & supplied needed, are estimated to be just over 

$300,000. Additional fiscal modeling details are in Appendix 1. These costs could be covered 

using the ARPA grant funds or other grant funds. ARPA funding can be used to pay for rent into 

operating years 1 and 2. A fiscally viable model may be possible.  

Community support from feasibility study:  

Aggregation and distribution services and access to a delivery truck was the most 

commonly identified infrastructure need of local food business owners and food 

producers. This service would enable them increase local food at their businesses, 

and the lack of this service limited expansion.  

Cold storage & local food marketing supports would benefit local food businesses 

About 60% of community survey respondents were interested in increasing local 

food at existing businesses.  

About 90% of community survey respondents were very interested in purchasing 

locally grown fruits and produce. 

Nearly 90% of business respondents to the community survey endorsed already 

purchasing local food. Fresh fruits & vegetables were the most commonly 

purchased items, and contributing to the local economy and higher quality/better 

flavor were the most common reasons why they purchased local food.  

Page 63 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  18  

 

Utilizing this model, the cumulative profit at the end of Year 3, with the support of ARPA 

funding, is projected to be $87,267. The cumulative loss at the end of Year 3 without ARPA 

funding is projected to be ‐$345,800. This scenario may utilize $433,000 of ARPA funds. 

 

Site: 

A review of all properties for sale and lease in South Corvallis was conducted with the support 
of a commercial real estate agent. At this time, two commercial properties were identified as 
potentially suitable sites for a food hub in South Corvallis.  

Commercial properties identified: 

1. 1490 SW 3rd St., Corvallis, OR 97333 “Fastenal Building” 

2. 1750‐1780 SW 3rd St., Corvallis, OR 97333 “Mill Race Center” 

Sales Goal 

Margin 

Expenses 

Total Expenses 

Revenue 

Sales 

cooler/ freezer space lease 

Total Revenue 

Profit/ Loss w it hout ARPA funding 

Expenses covered by ARPA f unding 

Profit/Loss irn;; ludiag ARPA funding 

Cumulative Profit/Loss w ithout ARPA 

Cumulative Profit /Loss w ith ARPA 

Start up & build out Year 1 Year2 Year3 

$250,000.00 $500,000.00 $750,000.00 

30% 30% 30% 

$303,400.00 $140,800.00 $180,300.00 $225,300.00 

$75,000.00 $150,000.00 $225,000.00 

$12,000.00 $18,000.00 $24,000.00 

$0.00 $87,000.00 $168,000.00 $249,000.00 

-$303,400.00 -$53,800.00 -$12,300.00 $23,700.00 

$303,400.00 $64,800.00 $64,800.00 $0.00 

$0.00 $11,000.00 $52,500.00 $23,700.00 

Start up Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 

-$303,400.00 

$0.00 

-S357,200 00 

$11 ,000 00 

-S369,500.00 

$63,500 00 

-S345,800 00 

$87,200 00 

Page 64 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  19  

  Regional Food Hub Spotlight: Central Coast Food Web 

Central  Coast  Food  Web  opened  in  2023  in 

Newport  in  an  effort  to  re‐localize  seafood  in 

Lincoln County and Oregon.  

The facility provides shared space for producers 

who grow and land seafood on the central coast. 

The Food Hub supports producers by managing 

a Farm and Fish Market (currently an online sales 

platform)  and  collectively  marketing  local 

seafood and farmed products to the community.  

 

Page 65 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  20  

COMMERCIAL KITCHEN 
 

The following feasibility assessment is informed by data collected from the inventory of 

equipment, community survey, interviews, site visits, information from current commercial 

kitchen operators, and available facility tours.   

Description  

A licensed commercial kitchen that is available by the hour, day, or month to small to medium‐

sized food businesses or organizations to rent for a fee to use for commercial scale food 

preparation, light food processing, or other uses permitted in the space  

Primary Users 

Small to medium‐sized food businesses, nonprofit organizations, gleaning groups, small to 

medium‐sized farmers, emergency food providers, and others 

Potential Primary Operational Activities 

 Provide hourly, daily, or monthly rental of ODA licensed kitchen facility to support 
commercial scale food preparation 

 Classroom facilities to teach cooking, preserving, and other skills 

 Small business development support to assist business owners to meet their goals 

 Co‐packing facility 
 Light processing space 

Operator Structure: 

Sole‐proprietorship, program of an existing non‐profit, new non‐profit, collaboration of private 

ownership and non‐profits, member‐owned cooperative, others 

Community support in the feasibility study:  

Access to a commercial scale kitchen was one of the most common needs 

identified by existing and aspirational food business owners.  

Three non‐profit groups indicated they may utilize the space for food 

preparation, food preserving, and cleaning. 

The lack of this facility was identified as a current barrier for aspiring small 

business owners, especially food truck owners.  

Page 66 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  21  

Potential Community Partnerships: 

Benton County Fairgrounds (Benton County Parks and Recreation Department), Corvallis 

Environmental Center, Gleaning groups, others 

Fiscal Viability Modeling: 

This scenario was modeled on the assumption of building out an underutilized existing 

commercial kitchen space at the Benton County Fairgrounds. The consultant team met with the 

Fairgrounds staff and toured the kitchen twice to create this model.  

The existing space is currently equipped with many aspects of a kitchen including a commercial 

gas range, reach‐in refrigeration and frozen storage space, prep space, and other basics. 

However, the space is not yet equipped with some essential items including a stand mixer 

(30qt), blenders, heat sealers, food processor, and smallware. Start‐up costs are estimated to 

be $40,000.  

The Benton County Fairgrounds kitchen is an actively used space and is unavailable during 

specific times, including the County Fair, specific OSU game days, and weekends among other 

times. The fiscal model was created on the assumption the kitchen was available 47 weeks of 

the year, 184 days, and 12 hours per rental day. The model assumes the operators pay $50 per 

day to the Fairgrounds, only pay on the days the kitchen is actually used, and the individual 

tenants pay a rate of $25 per hour to the operators. A key current limitation of the kitchen is 

the lack of staff time available to manage the operations of running a rental kitchen. This model 

assumes a 0.1 FTE staff level in Year 1, 0.15 FTE in Year 2 (with a 5% COLA year over year), 0.2 

FTE in Year 3, and a 0.25 FTE in Year 4. 

Additional fiscal modeling details are in Appendix 2. These costs could be covered using the 

ARPA grant funds and funds could also be used to pay for rent into operating years 1 and 2. A 

fiscally viable model may be possible.  

Page 67 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  22  

Utilizing this model, the cumulative profit at the end of Year 3, with the support of ARPA 

funding, is projected to be $48,180. The cumulative loss at the end of Year 3 without ARPA 

funding is projected to be $5,980. This scenario may utilize a total of $80,265 of ARPA funds. 

 

Site: 

A review of all known existing and possible commercial kitchens in South Corvallis and the 
surrounding areas was conducted.  

Many commercial kitchens exist in Corvallis but none were identified in South Corvallis that 
were available to rent or share. Commercial kitchen space is known but occupied at the 
Corvallis Community Center, at various faith‐based buildings, and at local restaurants. The 
kitchen in the South Corvallis cohousing community (CoHo) is a large home kitchen, not a 
licensed commercial kitchen and is not available to rent. Agreements could be made with select 
few individual restaurant owners in a “ghost kitchen” arrangement, but the consultants 
determined these were not available often enough or with enough regularity to fiscally 
model.14 An underutilized commercial kitchen space at the Benton County Fairgrounds was 
identified. 

 

 

 
14 One currently active and licensed commercial kitchen is available in Linn County within ten minutes of 
downtown Corvallis. 

Rate Start-u Costs Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 

Capacity Goal 

Ex enses 

Staff Time 

Kitchen Renta l to Bento11 County Pa rks & Rec $SO/ day 

Suppl ies & Equipment 

Revenue 

Profi t/Loss wi thout ARPA funding 

Total Expenses 

Rental $15/ hr 

Tota l Revenue 

Expenses covered b)I. APRA funding 

Profit/Loss li!li1b. ARPA fund in 

$ 40,000.00 

$40,000.00 

$ (40,000.00 

$ 40,000.00 

s 

40% 50% 60% 

$ 1,000.00 $ 1,200.00 $ 1,500.00 

$ 1,000.00 $ 1,200.00 $ 1,500.00 

$ 13,248.00 $ 16,560.00 $ 19,872.00 

$ 13,248.00 $ 16,560.00 $ 19,872.00 

$ 12,248.00 $ 15,360.00 $18,372.00 

$ 1,000.00 $ 1,200.00 

$13,248.00 $16,560.00 $18,372.00 

Rate Start-up Costs Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 

Cumul ative Profit/ Loss w ithout ARPA 

Cumulative Profi t/ Loss with ARPA 

$(40,000.00) $(27,752.00) $(12,392.00) $ 5,980.00 

$ $ 13,248.00 $ 29,808.00 $ 48, 180.00 

Page 68 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  23  

 

 

 

 

 

  

Commercial Kitchen Model: Indy Kitchen 

Image: https://www.thekitchendoor.com/kitchen-
rental/indy-commons 

Indy Kitchen  is part of  Indy Commons, a  storefront  co‐working  space  that also 

offers shared office space, an event space, a podcasting recording studio, and an 

artisan food and craft market operating Thursday – Saturday, 12pm – 5pm.  

Indy  Kitchen  is  a  shared  culinary  space  in 

downtown  Independence,  Oregon.  Food 

entrepreneurs,  chefs,  and  businesses  can 

rent a fully‐equipped and licensed facility by 

the hour to prepare, cook, and package their 

product.  

The  kitchen  operates  on  a  membership 

model  with  a  one‐time  membership  fee 

($25) and variable hourly rates ranging from 

$15 – $35. The kitchen also offers storage bin 

rentals by the month at $15.  

Page 69 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  24  

FOOD CART POD 
The following feasibility assessment is informed by data collected from the inventory of 

equipment, community survey, interviews, and information from current food cart pod owners.   

Description  

A collection of food carts that may be independently owned and pay a monthly “pad rental” fee 

to an operator who manages shared utilities, space, and marketing  

Primary Users 

Food cart owners 

Potential Primary Operational Activities 

 Provide weekly, monthly, or annual rental licensed food cart pad 

 Small business development support to assist business owners to meet their goals 

 Shared indoor or outdoor gathering or dining space 
 Low‐barrier entry to small business ownership 

Operator Structure: 

Sole‐proprietorship, program of an existing non‐profit, new non‐profit, collaboration of private 

ownership and non‐profits, member‐owned cooperative, others 

Potential Community Partnerships: 

Southtown Urban Renewal Development Zone, Casa Latinos Unidos, DevNW, others 

Support in the feasibility study:  

93% of community survey respondents were at least somewhat interested in 

dining out at a fast casual food cart pod, and 37% ranked a food cart pod as their 

top choice for a service a food hub could provide. 

Respondents who eat at a food cart or restaurant ranked flavor as their most 

important priority, above affordability, locally sourced ingredients, convenience, 

and all other choices.   

21% of food business respondents to the community survey indicated they would 

benefit from a food cart pod.  

Aspiring and existing food business owners, especially BIPOC individuals, 

expressed support for food carts as a low‐barrier access to business ownership. 

Page 70 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  25  

Fiscal Viability Modeling: 

This scenario was modeled on assumptions including that Corvallis municipal code will be 

changed to allow food carts and food cart pods in South Corvallis, a food cart needs about 100 

square feet, pad lease terms are one year, operator business insurance is $200 a month, and 

food cart owners pay a pad rental fee of $800 a month to the operators. The scenario assumes 

two food cart tenants in Year 1, three in Year 2, and four in Year 3. A food truck pod would 

most likely benefit from a nearby parking lot and/or walkable access, and an easily accessible 

home delivery service facility (e.g., a shared DoorDash counter for all carts). 

Additional fiscal modeling details are in Appendix 3. Startup costs are estimated at $15,000, and 

may include landscaping, plumbing, concrete pad pouring, and other one‐time costs. These 

costs could be covered using the ARPA grant funds and funds could also be used to pay for site 

rental into operating years 1 and 2. A fiscally viable model may be possible.  

  

Utilizing this model, the cumulative profit at the end of Year 3, with the support of ARPA 

funding, is projected to be $54,167. The cumulative loss at the end of Year 3 without ARPA 

funding is projected to be $24,082. This scenario may utilize a total of $79,850 of ARPA funds. 

 

Site: 

The consultant team did not identify sites in South Corvallis suitable for a food cart pod.  

Expenses 

Total Expens.es 

Reve1me 

Food Truck Rent 

Tota I Revenue 

Expenses covered by ARPA funding 

Profit/Loss with ARPA funding 

Cumulative Profit/Loss ,uithou ARPA 

Cumulative Profit/ Loss with ARPA 

Start-up Costs Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 

$15,000.00 $31,700.00 $31,550.00 $32,232 .50 

$19,200.00 $28,800.00 $38,400.00 

$19,200.00 $2.8,800.00 $38,400.00 

-$15, 00.00 -$12,500 .00 -$2,750 .00 $6,167.50 

$ 15,000.00 $ 31,700.00 $ 31,550.00 

SJ.OG $19,200.00 $28,800.00 $6,167.50 

Start-up Costs Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 

-$15,00 .0 -$27,500 .. 00 -$30,250.00 -$24, 82.5 

$0.00 $19,200.00 $48,000.00 $54,167 .50 

Page 71 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  26  

 

  

The  Portland  Mercado  provides 

affordable  retail  space  for  Latine 

businesses to launch and grow in their 

outdoor  food  cart  rental  space  and 

indoor  public  market  space.  It  is  a 

Latino  culture hub  in Portland and a 

project  of  Hacienda  Community 

Development  Corporation,  a  non‐

profit organization. 

Food Cart Pod Model: Portland Mercado 

Image: https://place.la/portfolio/portland-mercado/ 

Page 72 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report    P a g e  27  

 

SCENARIO VIABILITY ASSESSMENT CRITERIA MATRIX 
 

  Small scale warehouse Food Cart Pod Commercial Kitchen 

Improve commercial 
opportunities for 
food businesses 

Central distribution and aggregation, improve 
consistency in volume and supply. >25 small 
farms plan to expand in the next 5 years 

Low‐barrier to entry to small business 
ownership, particularly accessible to 
BIPOC aspiring owners 

Essential and missing component in small 
scale business development continuum 

Improve food access 
in South Corvallis 

Neighborhood groups encouraged to form 
buying clubs to access wholesale prices for 
locally produced food. Delivery feasible 

Price supports feasible (SNAP, DUFB, 
community supports, etc) 

May improve geographic food access 

Affordability to be addressed  

Delivery feasible; Price supports 
feasible 

May not directly affect 

Address community 
needs 

90% of local food businesses already 
purchase local food, desire to increase. 
Access to affordable food identified as barrier 
from social service orgs 

90% of consumers interested in purchasing 
locally sourced/produced groceries and 60% 
of consumers interested in increasing local 
food at existing businesses  

Top interest among community survey 
respondents 

Top interest among aspiring food cart 
owners 

Top need identified in equipment 
inventory 

Attain fiscal 
viability 

Wholesale value margin + lease of food 
storage space will cover operating expenses if 
engagement targets are met  

Income from pad rental fees may cover 
operating expenses, although start‐up 
expenses are unclear and site‐
dependent 

Income from vendor fees and kitchen 
rental coordination may be insufficient to 
cover operating expenses, particularly if 
the overarching goal is to reduce 
consumer costs 

Available 3+ years Likely, may achieve profitability within three 
years 

Unknown  Likely 

Address equipment 
inventory and needs 

Aggregation & distribution top need 
identified by local businesses. Cold, dry, and 
frozen storage identified as need. Access to 
delivery truck feasible 

Cold storage identified as need, but 
not shared office space, which would 
likely be a strong source of revenue for 
this scenario 

Commercial kitchen top need identified by 
local businesses 

Operator Identified Potentially  Potentially  Potentially 

Page 73 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  28  

NEXT STEPS & RECCOMENDATIONS 
 

NEXT STEPS:  

 

 This report is publicly available on May 6, 2024.  

 The consultant team is scheduled to present to the City of Corvallis and Benton County 

elected officials during the month of May, 2024.  

 Following the public release of this report, the Corvallis Benton County Economic 

Development Office will release a public Request for Proposals for Operators. Potential 

operators are invited to watch the recording of public meetings presenting the findings 

from this study, available on the City of Corvallis website, and direct any questions to 

the EDO.  

 Operators will be selected to carry out aspects of this project.  

 

GLEANED WISDOM FROM CLOSED FOOD HUBS 

 

In 2017, the USDA released a study of closed food hubs to understand the causes and themes 
of their closures.15 Their findings advised food hub operators of the following:  

 Create and stick to a solid business plan 
 Secure a strong financial foundation (mix of income streams/grants)  
 Start with expert staff and continually train 
 Focus on operating strengths & find partners for the rest 
 Know your customers & markets 
 Work with multiple stakeholders while letting farmers lead to affect long-term systems 

change 
 Understand the food production process 
 Don’t expand too fast 
 Make success of the enterprise/organization part of the mission 

 

Additional information to support potential operators follow in 

appendices, including fiscal details of each scenario, the Community 

Survey Report, and the Inventory of Equipment.    

 
15 Feldstein, S., & Barham, J. (2017). Running a Food Hub: Learning from Food Hub Closures. United States Department of Agriculture. 
https://www.rd.usda.gov/publicationforcooperatives/sr‐77‐running‐food‐hub‐volume‐4‐learning‐food‐hub‐closures 

Page 74 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  29  
 

APPENDIX 1: SMALL-SCALE WAREHOUSE FISCAL MODELING 
 

Expenditures 
   

Assumptions 

Operator labor  $25,000.00 
   

Building lease  $32,400 
 

$1.20/sf/mo, 4500 sf, 6‐month lease July 1, 2024, 
through December 31, 2024 

Walk‐in cooler, freezer, install  $95,000.00 
 

1000 sq. ft. walk in cooler at $75/sq. ft., smaller 
commercial freezer(s) for $20,000 

Other building retrofits/renovations  $50,000.00 
 

Additional plumbing, electrical as needed 

Forklift  $24,000.00 
   

Powered pallet jack  $3,400.00 
   

Refrigerated box truck  $50,000.00 
   

Utilities  $2,000.00 
   

Warehouse expenses and equipment 
(see below table) 

$14,200.00 
 

See below table itemized breakdown 

Office expenses and equipment  $3,400.00 
 

See below table itemized breakdown 

Overhead (insurance etc.)  $3,000.00 
   

Online marketplace ‐ setup  $1,000.00 
   

Total project setup 
expenditures 

$303,400.00 
 

Note: Setup expenditures may extend into 2025 

 

Itemized Warehouse Expenses and Equipment   Cost per  count  Total 

Pallet Rack Shelving 
Unit 

Pallet Rack Starter, 108"W x 42"D x 144"H 
Includes 2 shelves  

$800.00  4  $3,200.00 

 

Pallet Rack Wire Decking, 58"W x 42"D (2750 
lbs cap) Gray 

$56.00  8  $448.00 

Pallets   (new)  $40.00  25  $1,000.00 

Smaller Storage 
Shelving warehouse 

Muscle Rack 77 W x 24 D x 72 H 3‐Tier Steel 
Welded Storage Rack 

$212.00  7  $1,484.00 

Smaller Storage 
Shelving Fridge and 
Freezer  

Muscle Rack 77 W x 24 D x 72 H 3‐Tier Steel 
Welded Storage Rack 

$212.00  12  $2,544.00 

Sorting Tables (Food 
Grade) 

Regency 30" x 72" 18‐Gauge 304 Stainless Steel 
Commercial Work Table with Galvanized Legs 
and Undershelf 

$205.00  4  $820.00 

Recycling Center  Commercial Zone Polytec 73246399 126 Gallon 
3‐Stream Polyethylene Square Landfill / 
Recycling / Compost Receptacles with Open 
Top Lids 

$340.00  1  $340.00 

Trash Cans   Lavex 23 Gallon Black Square Trash Can  $25.00  4  $100.00 I 

Page 75 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  30  
 

Floor Care   Regency 18‐Gauge 304 Stainless Steel Standing 
Mop Sink 

$300.00  1  $300.00 

 

Mop Sink accessories and faucet   $300.00  1  $300.00  

Lavex 35 Qt. Black Mop Bucket & Side Press 
Wringer Combo 

$50.00  1  $50.00 

 

Lavex 16" Mop and Broom Rack with 6 Hanging 
Hooks and 5 Tool Clips 

$15.00  1  $15.00 

 

Lavex 12" Open‐Lid Lobby Dust Pan with Broom  $15.00  2  $30.00  

wet mop   $13.00  2  $26.00 

Carts  Lavex Large 2‐Shelf Utility Cart with Flat Top 
and Built‐In Tool Compartment ‐ 44" x 25 1/4" 
x 32 1/4" 

$90.00  3  $270.00 

 

Lavex 30" x 48" Blue Steel Platform Truck   
2000 lb. Capacity 

$190.00  1  $190.00 

Storage bins  Open bins/ Bus tubs  $6.00  20  $120.00  

Vigor 18" x 12" x 9" Clear Polycarbonate Food 
Storage Box with Lid ‐ 6/Pack 

$140.00  2  $280.00 

Cleaning Supplies and 
rags 

 

$100.00  1  $100.00 

Packing Supplies  tape/ sharpies/ rubber bands/ plastic shipping 
tape  

$75.00  1  $75.00 

 

Boxes for re‐packing  $0.75  50  $37.50 

Hand washing sink 

 

$400.00  1  $400.00 

Food washing sink 

 

$1,000.00  1  $1,000.00 

Shipping costs for 
equipment 

 

$1,000.00  1  $1,000.00 

Desks  used  $60.00  2  $120.00 

Chairs  used  $60.00  2  $120.00 

computer 

 

$1,500.00  1  $1,500.00 

Printer  

 

$300.00  1  $300.00 

Printer Ink 

 

$100.00  4  $400.00 

Shelving 

 

$200.00  2  $400.00 

Office supplies  pens/ tape/ boom box  $200.00  1  $200.00 

Heater  Space Heater   $100.00  1  $100.00 

Coffee maker/ Tea 
kettle 

 

$50.00  1  $50.00 

Other misc. supplies 

     

$200.00 

Office supplies total    Total    $3,390.00 

Warehouse Expenses and Equipment Total  $14,129.50 

Page 76 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  31  
 

 
SMALL SCALE WAREHOUSE FISCAL MODELING IN DETAIL

 

Start up & build out Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 

Sa les Goal $25-0,000_00 ssoo,ooo_oo $75-0,00 .00 

Margin 3.096 3096 3096 

Expenses 

Capi al in...estment - i:n·-ras, ru ,ure $ 45,000.00 

Capit :11 inves~ment - EC! ip $95,000.00 

$25,000_00 $5! ' 1}[1_00 .$&!l, o-o_oo $120,00 .00 

$2,000.00 $7 oo_oo $9,50-0_00 $9,500.00 

MatnL a ce/ uel [ del'iver •t va ) $8, 1}[1_00 .$15, 1}[1_00 .$20,00 .00 

Ol'lli:ne arketplace, sofuvare• s ,ooo_oo $3 1}[1_00 $3, o-o_oo $3,00 .00 

Over ea d [insurance e•,c..) $3,000.00 ss,oo-o_oo $5, o-o_oo $5,00 .00 

Marli:eti'ng/ ou~re:1ah $3, 1}[1_00 $3,00-0_00 $3,000.00 

,t e-a.se $32,400.00 S6<1,80 .oo $6<1,80 .00 s,;q, 000.00 

Total Expenses. $303,400 0 $14'!l,81}0_00 $ &!l,30-0_00 $225,30 .00 

Revenue 

Sales· $75 oo_oo $ 5-0, o-o_oo $225,000.00 

roo,'er/,,fr,eezer .sprnce: le-a.se $12, 1}[1_00 .Sl8, o-o_oo .$2 ,00 .00 

rota IR:even 111e $0J!l0 $87 1}[1_00 $1E.8, o-o_oo $249,00 .00 

Pro ARIPA funding -$303,400.00 -553,800.00 -512,300.00 $23,700.00 

ExpEl15E5 CO VEi Ed by ARPA f unrJfng $303,400_00 $64,800_00 $64,800_00 so.oo 

Pro V oss iocludinll: A PA f unding $0.00 $11,000JJO ss2,500_00 $23,700.00 

Page 77 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  32  
 

APPENDIX 2: COMMERCIAL KITCHEN FISCAL MODELING 
COMMERCIAL KITCHEN ITEMIZED START-UP COSTS 

 

Commercial Kitchen Fiscal Modeling in Detail 
Item  price/item  count  total price 

2 qt square ‐ 6 pack  $32.99  2  $65.98 

4 qt square ‐ 6 pack  $43.99  1  $43.99 

6 qt square ‐ 4 pack  $41.99  1  $41.99 

8 qt square ‐ 4 pack  $46.99  2  $93.98 

12 qt square ‐ 4 pack  $61.32  1  $61.32 

22 qt square ‐ 4 pack  $108.78  1  $108.78 

Containers total      416.04 

sheet tray ‐ full size ‐ 12 pack  $59.99  1  $59.99 

sheet tray ‐ half size ‐ 12 pack  $51.48  1  $51.48 

sheet tray rack (speed rack) full  $99.99  1  $99.99 

hotel pan ‐ 6" full  $16.99  6  $101.94 

hotel pan ‐ 4" full  $12.49  12  $149.88 

hotel pan ‐ 2" full  $9.49  6  $56.94 

mixing bowl set (10 piece)  $47.99  1  $47.99 

mixing bowl set (5 piece)  $9.99  2  $19.98 

mixing bowl 1.5 qt  $0.99  5  $4.95 

mixing bowl 3 qt  $1.69  5  $8.45 

colander ‐ 16 qt  $24.99  1  $24.99 

chinoise ‐ 10"  $32.99  1  $32.99 

"china cap" strainer ‐ 12"  $19.49  1  $19.49 

sieve ‐ 8"  $4.49  1  $4.49 

sieve ‐ 4 3/4"   $2.59  1  $2.59 

Food Prep Total      686.14 

Rate Start--ll Costs Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 

Capacity Goal 
Ex ense-s 

Staff Time 

Kitchen Renta l to Benton County Parks & Rec $SO/day 

Suppl ies & Equipment 

Revenue 

Profi t/ Loss w ithout ARPA funding 

Tota l Expenses 

Rental $15/ hr 

Total Revenue 

Expenses covered b)I, APRA funding 

Profit/Loss li!li1b. ARPA fund in 

$ 40,000.00 

$ 40,000.00 

$ (40,000.00 

$ 40,000.00 

s 

40% 50% 60% 

$ 1,000.00 $ 1,200.00 $ 1,500 .00 

$ 1,000.00 $ 1,200.00 $ 1,500 .00 

$ 13,248.00 $ 16,560.00 $19,872.00 

$ 13,248.00 $ 16,560.00 $ 19,872.00 

$18,372.00 

$ 1,200.00 
$16,560.00 $18,372.00 

Page 78 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  33  
 

frying pan ‐ aluminum 10" 6 pack  $45.99  2  $91.98 

frying pan ‐ aluminum 7"   $4.00  6  $24.00 

frying pan ‐ stainless steel 16"  $52.99  1  $52.99 

sauce pan ‐ stainless steel ‐ 2 qt  $15.99  2  $31.98 

sauce pan ‐ stainless steel ‐ 4 qt  $22.99  2  $45.98 

sauce pan ‐ stainless steel ‐ 6 qt  $26.99  2  $53.98 

stock pot ‐ stainless steel ‐ 12 qt  $38.99  1  $38.99 

stock pot ‐ stainless steel ‐ 16 qt  $44.49  1  $44.49 

stock pot ‐ stainless steel ‐ 20 qt  $55.99  1  $55.99 

brazier pot ‐ stainless steel ‐ 20 qt  $82.99  1  $82.99 

Cookware total      $523.37 

scale, 20 lb  $29.99  1  $29.99 

Small appliance total      29.99 

grater ‐ micro plane  $5.29  1  $5.29 

grater ‐ coarse  $4.79  1  $4.79 

mandolin  $32.99  1  $32.99 

funnel set  $7.79  1  $7.79 

cooling rack ‐ full  $8.39  2  $16.78 

bench scraper  $1.69  2  $3.38 

bowl scraper  $0.36  2  $0.72 

rolling pin ‐ wood ‐ 15"  $8.99  1  $8.99 

measuring cup ‐ liquid ‐ set of 5  $24.99  1  $24.99 

measuring cup ‐ dry ‐ set of 4  $2.99  1  $2.99 

measuring spoon ‐ set of 4  $1.59  1  $1.59 

whisk ‐ 12"  $2.59  1  $2.59 

whisk ‐ 24"  $4.79  1  $4.79 

spatula ‐ offset ‐ 4"  $1.19  2  $2.38 

spatula ‐ offset ‐ 6"  $6.39  1  $6.39 

spatula ‐ offset ‐ 10"  $8.69  2  $17.38 

spatula ‐ high heat ‐ 10"  $8.01  2  $16.02 

spatula ‐ high heat ‐ 16 1/2"  $13.64  2  $27.28 

spoonula ‐ high heat ‐ 10"  $9.59  2  $19.18 

spoonula ‐ high heat ‐ 13 1/2"  $12.49  2  $24.98 

spoonula ‐ high heat ‐ 16 3/8"  $15.99  2  $31.98 

spatula ‐ turner ‐ 8 x 3"  $2.99  2  $5.98 

spatula ‐ fish/egg ‐ 6 x 3"  $2.99  2  $5.98 

spoon ‐ metal ‐ 13"  $1.39  2  $2.78 

spoon ‐ metal ‐ slotted ‐ 13"  $0.98  2  $1.96 

ladle ‐ 4oz  $1.49  1  $1.49 

ladle ‐ 8oz  $1.99  2  $3.98 

scoop/disher ‐ set of 9  $39.99  1  $39.99 

Page 79 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  34  
 

tongs ‐ coated handle ‐ 12"  $2.49  2  $4.98 

tongs ‐ coated handle ‐ 16"  $2.99  3  $8.97 

tongs ‐ coated handle ‐ 9 1/2"  $2.19  2  $4.38 

can opener ‐ easy crank handle  $10.99  1  $10.99 

peeler ‐ "Y"  $2.99  2  $5.98 

Utensils Total      $360.73 

wire shelving ‐ 24" x 30"  $148.49  2  $296.98 

wall mounted shelving ‐ 12" x 48"  $62.99  5  $314.95 

Storage total      $611.93 

grill bricks  $20.00  /month  $240.00 

paper towel  $20.00  /month  $240.00 

dishsoap, bleach, degreaser  $20.00  /month  $240.00 

sponges, scrubbies, brushes, etc  $30.00  /month  $360.00 

scrub brush w/handle for floors  $14.49  1  $14.49 

floor squeegee  $5.99  1  $5.99 

Janitorial Total 
   

$1,100.48 

Kitchen aide professional mixer  $599.95     

Hobart 30 qt mixer  $16,484.16     

vacuum packer ‐ chamber  $749.00     

Impulse heat sealer  $20.99     

Vitamix blender  $399.98     

Robot Coupe ‐ food processor  $1,064.18     

spice grinder (just a coffee grinder)  $15.29     

citrus juicer  $35.49     

steam kettle 60 gallon  $16,049.00     

Large Kitchen Equipment Total      $35,418.04 

TOTAL EQUIPMENT START UP 
COST 

   
$39,146.72 

 

  

Page 80 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Comprehensive Needs Assessment Report P a g e  35  
 

APPENDIX 3: FOOD CART POD FISCAL MODELING 
FOOD CART POD FISCAL MODELING IN DETAIL 

 

 

 

END OF 

COMPREHENSIVE NEEDS ASSESSMENT REPORT 

Start-up Costs Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 

Expenses 

Licensing $1,500.00 $700.00 $700.00 

Labor/Ta~es (.25 FTE) $13,000.00 $13,650.00 $14,332 .50 

Uti lities $5,000.00 $,5,000.00 $5,000.00 

Iv arketing $,1,200.00 $1,200.00 $1,200.00 

P0S/equipment and rental $,3,000.00 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 

Liability Insu rance $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 

SAlf= $1,000.00 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 

Jani orial $,2, 00.00 $-2, 00.00 $2,400.00 

Offioe SU plies .$400.00 $400.00 $400.00 

Iv ortgage/Rent ,[portion o • food hub location'?) $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 

Iv iscel laneous Sl,000.00 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 

Total E.xpe11ses $15,.000.00 $32,500.00 $32,350.00 $33,032 .50 

!Revenue 

Food Truck Rent $19,200.00 $28,800.00 $38,400.00 

Tota I Revenue $19,2.00.00 $28,800.00 $38,400.00 

Profit / Loss without ARPA funding -S15,0 D. 0 -$13,300.0 -$3,550 .00 $5,367.50 

Expenses covered by ARPA funding $ 15,000.00 $ 32, 500,00 $, 32,350.00 

Profit/Loss with ARPA fund ing 50 00 $19,200.00 $28,800.00 $5,367.50 

Page 81 of 220



 

   

South Corvallis  
Food Hub 

Community 
Survey Report 

March 2024 

Page 82 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  1 

 Introduction 
This survey is a component of a food system assessment to determine the feasibility of a 

possible food hub in South Corvallis. The food system assessment was conducted during 

Winter of 2024.  

 

Respondents were shown different questions if they endorsed interacting with the food 

system as an eater, a food business (owner, worker, or decision‐maker), an institutional 

purchaser, or a social service organization worker or volunteer. All response categories 

received over 75 responses, and the 97333 zip code, a proxy for South Corvallis,1 

received a higher percentage of respondents.  

 

This survey is not designed to be representative of any population or group or used to 

describe needs of any group. A total of 781 survey responses were included.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cover image: Red Russian Kale from Adaptive Seeds: https://awaytogarden.com/grow‐kale‐sarah‐
kleeger‐adaptive‐seeds/ 
 

 
1 South Corvallis comprises about a third of the land area covered in the 97333 zip code. The neighborhood is more 
accurately delineated by census tracts, but for the purposes of this survey the 97333 zip code was used because it is 
easily identifiable by survey respondents and most people in the 97333 zip code live in South Corvallis. 

Page 83 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  2 

 Purpose of the Report and Survey 
The purpose of this report is to describe the findings of the community survey, one of 

the four data collection methods of the feasibility study of a future South Corvallis Food 

Hub. This survey was conducted as a required part of the System Assessment contracted 

by the City of Corvallis Economic Development Office.  

 

The survey questions were created to fulfill specific requirements of the System 

Assessment for the South Corvallis Food Hub, including gauging (1) community (eater), 

(2) producers’, (3) institutional purchasers’, and (4) existing business owners’ desires; (5) 

creating an inventory of existing and needed equipment, and (6) assessing economic 

support for various scenarios of a food hub. The questions were reviewed by 

representatives from each of these groups before the survey was published. Their input 

expanded the questions and response options in a few ways, most notably to include 

those who want to start a food‐based business and social service organizations. 

 

 Distribution and Methods 

The survey was distributed through existing community email lists including the Corvallis 

Sustainability Coalition, the Corvallis‐Albany Farmers’ Market producer list, the First 

Alternative Co‐op member list, Ten Rivers Food Web, and other local food‐ and 

community‐focused email lists. The web survey was open for responses for three weeks 

(from January 16, 2024 through February 7, 2024). Over eight hundred responses were 

received. A total of 781 responses met the inclusion criteria, which was a response to 

the first two questions: (1) “Do you live, work, or play in Benton County, Oregon” and 

(2) How do you currently interact with the food system”, and then a response to any 

one additional question.  

 

Responses to the second question, “how do you currently interact with the food 

system”, informed which questions survey respondents were shown in the remainder of 

the survey using branching logic. For example, a survey respondent could choose to only 

select “I eat food” as a response option and would only be shown questions related to 

their desires for a future food hub and some demographic questions. A survey 

respondent could also select “I eat food”, “I work or volunteer for a social service 

organization, nonprofit, or government agency”, and “I own, hold decision‐making 

power, or want to start a food‐based business”, and therefore would be shown all 

questions related to each of these three topics.  

  

Page 84 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  3 

The data collected was de‐identified and used to understand the needs, barriers, and 

opportunities in the community. Researchers trained in quantitative data analysis 

methods used IBM SPSS software to analyze the questions that collected quantitative 

data and researchers trained in qualitative data analysis methods used Atlas.ti software 

to analyze open‐ended responses. Each question was reviewed by two researchers for 

reliability.  

 

 Limitations 

No research is perfect and this research study is no exception. This community survey 

was limited in scope and depth due to the timeline and budget of the project. The 

abbreviated timeline for this study (January 2024 to March 2024) did not provide 

enough time to adequately co‐design a study method nor review survey questions with 

all affected groups which may have created questions and response options that did not 

affirm all cultures and experiences. Any omissions due to this timeline are deeply 

regrettable and repair has been attempted through intentional community outreach, 

collaboration, and long‐term relationship building efforts. 

 

The format of an electronic survey is known to be a limited access method. Those 

without access to electronic devices and those who have previously experienced input 

fatigue may not self‐select to participate. However, this survey is not intended to be 

generalizable to any population; it was designed as the first step in a series of testing for 

feasibility of specific scenarios related to a Food Hub in South Corvallis. 

 

In the future, we suggest any feasibility study that could result in funding allocated in 

communities that have been disproportionally affected by systemic racism to be led by 

the communities most affected and conducted on an appropriate timeline using best 

practices in restorative justice‐based research methods, including Participatory Action 

Research (PAR) and collaborative storytelling. These methods are known to result in 

rigorous results and build community capacity, although they take significantly more 

time than was allocated to this project.  

 

Despite these limitations, the authors believe the findings of this feasibility study are 

valuable in informing the future direction of a Food Hub in South Corvallis.  

 

   

Page 85 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  4 

 Executive Summary 
Support for a food hub in South Corvallis is overwhelming and even stronger from South 

Corvallis residents.  

Nearly all (95%) of survey respondents and an even higher percentage (98%) of respondents 

in the 97333 zip code endorse a food hub in South Corvallis would potentially benefit them 

at least a little. 

73% of 97333 zip code respondents endorsed a food hub in South Corvallis would 

potentially benefit them at least a moderate amount, and 51% endorsed it would 

potentially benefit them a lot or a great deal. 

Locally sourced or produced groceries, a food cart pod, a farmers’ market, and increasing 

local food at existing businesses are all supported by a majority of eater respondents. Eaters 

spend more money per month on groceries than on restaurants and food carts.  

Locally sourced/produced groceries were the most common top priority endorsed by eaters 

when purchasing groceries.  

Almost three‐quarters of respondents report spending between $100 and 

$800 a month on groceries.  

Flavor was the most common top priority for respondents who eat at restaurants or food 

carts.  

Over 80% of respondents spend less than $300 a month at restaurants or 

food carts.  

A food cart pod was the most common top interest of services a food hub could provide, 

followed by a farmers’ market and increasing local food at existing businesses.  

About 90% of eaters endorsed being very interested in purchasing local fruits and produce, 

over 60% of eaters endorse interest in a farmers’ market, and the same percentage 

expressed interest in increasing local food at existing businesses.  

  

Page 86 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  5 

Purchasing local food is already common among food businesses and the desire to purchase 

more, especially more produce and shelf‐stable items, appears to be strong. A directory2 and 

a local food aggregator would support more local food purchasing. Many small farms (over 

25) plan to expand in the next few years. 

Nearly 90% of local food business owner respondents endorse already purchasing local 

food, including local fresh vegetables, fruits, and milk and dairy, but irregular supply 

stymied additional procurement. They also expressed a desire to purchase more produce 

and shelf‐stable items, but did not have enough availability to do so.  

A directory of local producers and a local food aggregator was the most commonly 

endorsed support that would enable businesses to buy more local food. 

Culturally familiar foods were grown by about half of farmer respondents including produce 

such as potatoes, corn, beans, squash, tomatoes, specialty herbs, chili peppers, and 

Wapato.  

Lack of sufficient volume for needs was the most commonly identified barrier to selling 

products locally. 

Marketing supports and a central distribution center that includes cold storage could enable 

local food producers to sell more local food.  

Nearly half of all business respondents and the same percent of farmer respondents are 

willing to participate in a local food marketing campaign.  

Farmers want to sell more produce, dried foods and grains, and all products locally, but 

they experience barriers such as a lack of resources (equipment and land), no central 

distribution center, and other barriers. 

A lack of affordable food was the biggest barrier to accessing locally produced food for those 

served by social service organizations 

   

 
2 Ten Rivers Food Web, a local non-profit, aims to launch a directory of local food producers in Spring 2024, according to their 
website: https://www.tenriversfoodweb.org/directory 

Page 87 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  6 

 Demographics and Response Rates 

All response categories (eaters, social service workers or volunteers, food‐based 

businesses, and institutional buyers) received over 75 responses 

Almost all survey respondents endorsed interacting with the food system as an eater 

(97%), about a third endorsed interacting with the food system as part of their work, 

paid or unpaid, for a social service organization, nonprofit, or government agency (32%), 

one‐fifth (20%) endorsed owning, holding decision‐making power, or wanting to start a 

food‐based business, and just over one in ten endorsed owning or working for an 

institution that purchases food (11%). These four groups will be referred to as “eaters”, 

“social service workers or volunteers”, “food‐based businesses”, and “institutional 

buyers” throughout this survey.  

 

How do you currently interact with the food system? (select all that apply)  N=781  % 

I eat food (Eaters)  755  97% 

I work or volunteer for a social service organization, nonprofit, or 
government agency (Social service workers or volunteers) 

251  32% 

I own, hold decision‐making power, or want to start a food‐based business 
(restaurant, farm, value‐added product, industrial production facility)  
(Food‐based business) 

158  20% 

I own or work for an institution that purchases food (school, hospital, 
cafeteria, etc) (Institutional buyers) 

92  11% 

 

 

Eaters 

Social Service 
workers or 
volunteers 

food‐based 
business 

Institutional 
buyers 

Eaters  378  247  140  88 

Social service workers or volunteers  247  3  45  42 

Food‐based business  140  45  17  24 

Institutional buyers   88  42  24  4 
 

Page 88 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  7 

Survey respondent demographics (income and race) generally reflect the 97333 

zip code with a slight oversampling of White respondents 

The 97333 zip code reports a slightly higher median household income ($63,119) 3 

compared to Corvallis ($61,610) and a slightly lower poverty rate (24.6%) compared to 

Corvallis as a whole (26.4%).  
 

Fewer than half (36%) of survey respondents endorsed a total household income of the 

Corvallis median household income ($61,610 in 2023)4 or lower, meaning this survey 

may have slightly oversampled higher earners; and may more accurately represent the 

income distribution of the 97333 zip code than of Corvallis. The same percent (36%) of 

survey respondents endorsing a 97333‐zip code endorsed a total household income of 

the Corvallis City median household income or below.  

 

 

How much was your total household income in the past year? (n=570) 

 
 

Responses to questions asking about race and ethnicity show an oversampling of White 

respondents (91% of respondents compared to 79% in the 97333 zip code), but the remaining 

groups are within the margin of error.* 

 

 

 

 
3 https://www.incomebyzipcode.com/oregon/97333 (using ACS 2022 5-year estimate) 
*the margin of error for these data are high. The margin of error for South Corvallis (population 23,000) in a survey 
with about 250 responses is 6%. 
4 https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/corvalliscityoregon/PST045223 

17%

18%

19%

18%

38%

37%

26%

27%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

All (n=570)

97333 (n=248)

$0 ‐ $36,000 $36,001‐ $61,000 $61,001 ‐ $101,000 $101,001 or more■ ■ ■ ■ 

Page 89 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  8 

Are you a member of any of the 

following groups?  n=598 
% of survey 
respondents 

97333 zip 
code 
(South 
Corvallis)* 

Over/under 
sample rate 
compared to 
South 
Corvallis 

White   545  91%  79%  +12% 

Hispanic   33  6%  8%  ‐2% 

Asian   22  4%  6%  ‐2% 

American Indian or Alaskan Native   11  2%  <1%  +1% 

Black or African American   7  1%  1%  ‐ 

Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander   2  .3%  <1%  ‐ 

A different group: (please describe)   22  2%  ‐  ‐ 

Jewish  6  1%  ‐  ‐ 

Middle Eastern/Arabic/SWANA  5  1%  ‐  ‐ 
 

 

 

 

The vast majority (95%) of survey respondents were not students at Oregon State 

University although 40% of the Corvallis population are students at OSU.5   

 

Are you a current OSU student? (n=636) 

 
 

 

   

 
5 https://www.corvallisoregon.gov/cd/page/population 

No,
95%

Undergraduate,
2%

Graduate,
2%

Post‐doc,
1%

Page 90 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  9 

Nearly all survey respondents endorse a food hub in South Corvallis would 

potentially benefit them at least a little 

Nearly all survey respondents (96% of 632) endorsed a Food Hub in South Corvallis 

would potentially benefit them at least a little, and an even greater percent (98%) of 

survey respondents living in the 97333 zip code (South Corvallis, n=275) endorsed a 

Food Hub in South Corvallis would potentially benefit them at least a little. Over half 

(51%) of survey respondents (n=275) in the 97333 zip code endorsed a Food Hub in 

South Corvallis would potentially benefit them a lot or a great deal.  

  

To what extent would you potentially benefit from a Food Hub in South Corvallis? (n=632) 

 
   

19%

28%

19%

23%

36%

34%

22%

13%

4%

2%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

All (n=632)

97333 (n=275)

A great deal A lot A moderate amount A little Not at all

----111111111111111---------~ 

■ ■ ■ ■ ■ 

Page 91 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  10 

 Community Survey Questions for Eaters 

Almost three‐quarters of respondents endorse spending between $100 and $800 

a month on groceries 

The majority (74%) of survey respondents endorsed spending between $100 and $800 a 

month on groceries, with exactly half of those spending between $100 and $400 (37%) 

and $401 to $800 (37%). About five percent endorse spending less than $100 or only 

used SNAP/EBT, WIC budget, or utilized the food pantry and/or free meal sites and 

thirteen percent spent $800 or more on groceries.  

 

About how much does your household spend on groceries each month? (n=755) 

 
 

   

0.4%

2%

2%

37%

37%

9%

3%

7%

0 50 100 150 200 250 300

I use only what I get from the food pantry and/or free meal
sites

I keep within my SNAP/EBT and/or WIC budget

Less than $100 a month

$101 ‐ $400

$401 ‐ $800

$801 ‐$1,200

$1,201 or more

I don’t track my food budget

number of respondents

Page 92 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  11 

Locally sourced/produced groceries most common top priority when eaters 

purchasing groceries  

Locally sourced/produced was the most common (61%) priority endorsed by 

respondents when they purchase groceries, followed by affordability, endorsed by 55% 

of respondents, convenient location (35%), and organic (35%). Vegetarian or plant‐

based options (14%), culturally significant/relevant (6%), and social interactions (people 

I may run into when I’m shopping) (5%) were priorities for fewer respondents. Other 

responses (10%, n=75) included quality (n=17), environmentally sustainable/social 

priorities in production (n=13) (fair wages, regenerative, etc.), special diets (n=8) 

including gluten‐free and allergen friendly, variety (n=7), and healthy (n=7). Six or fewer 

respondents each endorsed their top two priorities were cooperative/independent 

ownership, cultural appropriateness, food access related to transportation/location, no 

or minimal packaging, pleasant shopping environment, and prepared food.  

 

What are your top two priorities when you purchase groceries? (n=755) 

 
 

 

 

  

Locally sourced/produced, 61% 

Affordability, 55% 

Convenient location, 35% 

Organic, 35% 

Vegetarian, 14% 

.. 
• 

Page 93 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  12 

Flavor most common top priority for respondents who eat a restaurant or food 

cart over affordability, locally sourced ingredients, and all other choices  

Flavor was the most common (64%) priority endorsed by respondents when they eat at 

restaurant or food cart, followed by affordability (34%), locally sourced (31%), and 

vegetarian (21%). Convenient location (7%) and organic (11%) were priorities for fewer 

respondents. Other responses, provided by 111 respondents, could be grouped into a 

few themes of priorities, including quality or “deliciousness” of food and pleasant 

atmosphere (each 26 respondents), health and nutrition (n=15), adventurous eating 

(n=13), and locally owned (n=10). Less common themes (each with fewer than ten 

respondents), included cleanliness, kid friendly, outdoor seating, special diets, and 

variety of food.  

 

What are your top two priorities when you eat at a restaurant or food cart? (n=755) 

 
 

Flavor, 64% 

Affordability, 34% 

Locally sourced, 31% 

Vegetarian, 21% 

Convenient location, 7% 

Organic, 11% 

Page 94 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  13 

Over 80% of respondents spend less than $300 a month at restaurants  

The majority (82%) of survey respondents endorsed spending less than $300 a month at 

restaurants, few (13%) endorsed spending between $300 and $600, and fewer than one 

percent endorsed spending more than $600 per month at restaurants. Very few (3%) 

eater survey respondents endorsed not tracking their restaurant budget and no 

respondents endorsed spending $1,001 or more per month.  

 

How much does your household usually spend at restaurants each month? (n=755) 

 
 

 

 

 

About 90% of respondents endorsed being very interested in purchasing local 

fruits and produce  

At least 70% of respondents endorsed being at least somewhat interested in purchasing 

every local product listed. All respondents (n=714) endorsed being at least somewhat 

(9%) if not very (89%) interested in purchasing local fruits and produce (2% did not 

respond to this question). The majority (93%) also endorsed being at least somewhat 

(33%) if not very (60%) interested in purchasing bulk foods and pantry staples, the 

same percent also endorsed being at least somewhat interested in purchasing beans, 

grains rice, and flour (93%), and 88% of respondents endorsed being at least somewhat 

interested in purchasing honey and cheese. Other responses, provided by 83 

respondents, could be grouped into a few themes of products, including bread and 

baked goods (n=11), ethnic foods and culturally appropriate foods (n=10), tea (n=7), 

dairy (n=6) and gluten‐free products (n=6). Fewer than five respondents endorsed being 

interested in allergen‐friendly local products, animal feed, broth/stock ingredients, 

butcher/fishmonger service, cooking fats, delivery, desserts/sweets, eggs, fish, herbs, 

meat, ready to eat meals, reusable containers, seasonal, seeds or starts for the garden, 

spices, value‐added products, and vegan. 

 

35% 47% 13% 1%3%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Less than $100 a month $101 ‐ $300 $301 ‐ $600

$601 ‐$1,000 $1,001 or more I don’t track my restaurant budget

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

Page 95 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  14 

How interested are you in purchasing the following local products? 

 
       
   

26%

26%

21%

20%

21%

15%

17%

14%

9%

9%

6%

5%

0%

45%

36%

39%

53%

44%

53%

30%

28%

39%

35%

34%

33%

9%

25%

36%

35%

24%

33%

27%

51%

56%

49%

53%

59%

60%

89%

Fresh flowers (n=697)

Beer, wine, cider, or spirits (n=700)

Plant‐based foods (vegan) (n=689)

Arts & crafts (n=699)

Fermented foods (n=704)

Prepared foods (n=690)

Meat (n=704)

Fish (n=708)

Cheese (n=705)

Honey (n=699)

Beans, grains, rice, and flour (n=710)

Bulk foods and pantry staples (n=707)

Fruits and produce (n=714)

Not at all Somewhat Very■ ■ ■ 

Page 96 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  15 

Over 60% of eaters endorse interest in farmer’s market & increasing local food 

at existing businesses  

A farmer’s market was endorsed by almost all (96%) respondents (n=710) as a service 

the food hub could provide that they would at least be somewhat if not very interested 

in, closely followed by dining out at a casual food cart pod (93%), increasing local food at 

existing businesses (91%), and dining out at a sit‐down restaurant (91%). Other 

responses, provided by 49 respondents, could be grouped into a few themes of services, 

including coordination between producers & non‐retail buyers (n=6), and ability to buy 

affordable food (n=6). Fewer than five but more than one respondent endorsed ability 

to buy ethnic foods, ability to buy local foods, access to land, business support services, 

classes or classroom space, commercial kitchen, cultural support (including one 

respondent each being interested in a culturally specific farmers market and diverse 

representation “representacion diversa”), prepared meals to go, a space for children to 

play, and storage space.   

 

How interested are you in the following services a Food Hub could provide? 

  

70%

49%

49%

34%

23%

18%

15%

15%

14%

11%

7%

6%

5%

3%

13%

32%

26%

40%

48%

47%

45%

43%

35%

53%

42%

27%

37%

27%

13%

15%

21%

21%

27%

32%

36%

40%

49%

34%

47%

64%

55%

69%

Help me start or build a food business (n=688)

Local grocery delivery (n=691)

Land access to grow food (n=691)

Web‐based local food shop (n=685)

Buying club/co‐op owned food business (n=699)

Shop at small stores with arts & crafts (n=697)

Educational programming (n=698)

Entertainment (n=703)

Discount overstock/ blemished local foods (n=702)

Interact with people who produce my food (n=701)

Dining out at a sit‐down restaurant (n=700)

Increase local food at existing businesses (n=701)

Dining out at a casual food cart pod  (n=705)

Farmers market (n=710)

Not at all Somewhat Very■ ■ ■ 

Page 97 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  16 

Food cart pod most common top interest, then farmers market & increase local 

food at existing businesses  

Dining out at a casual food cart pod was most commonly (37%) endorsed by 

respondents when asked to choose their top two services a food hub could potentially 

provide, followed by farmer’s market (31%), and closely followed by increasing local 

food at existing businesses. Other responses included food access (n=8), business 

support (n=6), distribution/aggregation (n=4), and child‐friendly play areas (n=2).  

 

Of the services you indicated interest in above, please select your top two: (n=673) 

 
 

  

Dining out at a casual food cart pod, 37% 

Farmers market, 31% 

Increase local food at existing businesses, 30% 

Dining out at a sit-down restaurant, 24% 

Discount overstock/ blemished local foods, 24% 

Page 98 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  17 

Convertible building able to open one or more walls supported by half of all 

respondents 

All community survey respondents were asked what type of building style would suit 

their needs if the food hub is in a building. A convertible building able to open one or 

more walls was supported by half of all respondents (50% of n=654), followed by an 

outdoor space for an open‐air market (39%), permanent food stalls (24%), completely 

enclosed building with climate control (24%), temporary food stalls (19%), gardening 

space (16%), and farm incubator space (9% of all respondents).  

 

If the future food hub is a building, what type of building style would best suit your needs and 

desires? (n=654) 

 

   

9%

16%

19%

24%

24%

39%

50%

0 100 200 300

Farm incubator space

Gardening space

Temporary food stalls

Completely enclosed building with climate
control

Permanent food stalls

Outdoor space for an open‐air market

Convertible building able to open one or
more walls

Page 99 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  18 

 

 Community Survey Questions for Respondents 
who Work or Volunteer for Social Service Orgs 

Working for or volunteering with a government agency most common type of 

organization endorsed by survey respondents  

A government agency was the most common type of non‐profit endorsed by this group 

of respondents (18% of respondents). Food, garden, or land‐based non‐profits was the 

next most common response, although it was not an original response option and is a 

category data analysts created from the “something else, please describe” response 

option. Food bank, pantry, or gleaners was the third most common response (12%), 

followed by social service organizations (8%), other local non‐profits (6%), health care or 

mental health care (6%), and school or university (6%). The remainder of response 

categories each had fewer than ten respondents (fewer than 5%), and were, in order or 

percentage of responses: environmental non‐profits, faith‐based programs, housing 

providers, arts & creative non‐profits, foundations and grant making organizations, 

culturally‐specific non‐profits, and labor unions or trade organizations. Of the food, 

garden, or land‐based non‐profits, the most common organization named was Stone 

Soup (n=6) followed by the Corvallis Sustainability Coalition (n=5).  

 

What type of organization do you work or volunteer for? (n=206) 

 
 

 

12

12

12

17

25

32

37

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40

School or University

Health Care or Mental Health Care

Other local non‐profits

Social Service

Food bank, pantry, or gleaners

Food, Garden, or land‐based non‐profit

Government agency

Page 100 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  19 

What does the group you work with bring to the local food system? 
(n=183)  n   % 

Distribute food to low‐income individuals  61  33% 

Education (food system, gardening, cooking, farming)  25  14% 

Strengthen local food system (hosting events, connecting)  15  8% 

Eaters/buy food for events   14  8% 

Connection to resources (housing, energy, food aid)  10  5% 

Farmer/producer supports (connect to resources)  10  5% 

Food producer (e.g., produces food for Linn‐Benton food share)  10  5% 

Prioritizes cultural foods  8  4% 

Institutional purchaser (School district, OSU, hospital, etc)  8  4% 

Organizational/non‐profit supports  8  4% 

Awards grants  7  4% 

Business support  4  2% 

Political action  4  2% 

Environmental   3  2% 

Others included a food aid user and an organization that focuses on food justice. 

 

Lack of affordable food biggest barrier to accessing locally produced food 

We asked survey respondents to describe the biggest barrier for those they work with to access 

locally produced foods, and used qualitative data analysis to create themes from the over 160 

open‐ended responses.  A lack of affordable food was the most common response (33%), using 

words such as “Cost” and “affordability” to create this response category. Convenience was 

endorsed as the biggest barrier by 10% of respondents to this question, including limited hours 

of food pantries, inconvenient location of free food sites, and lack of places to purchase food in 

south Corvallis. Lack of availability of local food was endorsed as the biggest barrier by 8% of 

respondents to this question, followed by a lack of coordinated distribution and logistics or 

increased staff time to coordinate multiple deliveries (6%). 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The biggest barrier for the people I work with is… 
“Cost and the all‐too‐common feeling that low‐
income folk are out of place in the local food 
movement” 
‐ Food security & small farm support non‐profit  

Page 101 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  20 

Additional barriers identified included a lack of personal transportation (5%), lack of funding for 

organizations (5%), prohibitive regulations and rules (5%), symptoms of poverty (including time 

poverty, lack of stable housing, and lack of personal cooking items) (4%), lack of volunteers and 

volunteer time (4%), and a lack of access to land (4%). Barriers endorsed by 3% (n=5) or fewer of 

respondents include, in order of popularity: lack of storage or event space, difficulties new 

businesses experience entering the market, lack of knowledge around cooking, lack of 

collaboration across social service agencies/producers, lack of culturally appropriate foods and 

markets, language barrier, lack of public desire for local foods, lack of diverse people in 

leadership positions, lack of BIPOC‐centered spaces and a lack of a processing facility for value‐

added products.  

 

What is the biggest barrier for the group you work with to access locally produced food? (n=167) 

 
 

   

5

6

6

6

8

9

9

10

13

16

54

0 10 20 30 40 50

Lack of space (storage, event, etc)

Lack of access to land

Lack of volunteers/time

Symptoms of poverty

Regulations/rules

Lack of funding for organizations

Personal transportation

Distribution/Logistics

Availability

Convenience

Lack of affordable food

---------

Page 102 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  21 

 Community Survey Questions for Food-Based 
Businesses 

Business owners almost half of food‐based business respondents 

Owning food‐based businesses was the most common way survey respondents 

endorsed being part of the food‐based business ecosystem (43% of respondents to this 

section), followed by working for and holding decision‐making power for food‐based 

businesses (23%) and wanting to start a food‐based business (16%). Purchasing food on 

an institutional scale was endorsed by fewer than 10% of respondents to this question.  

 

What is true for you? (select all that apply) (n=205) 

 
 

  

9%

16%

23%

43%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

I purchase food on an institutional scale

I want to start a food‐based business

I work for but hold decision‐making power for
a food‐based business

I own a food‐based business

Page 103 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  22 

Small farms most common type of food‐based business among respondents 

Small farms, fewer than ten acres, was endorsed as the type of food‐based businesses 

owned, made purchasing decisions for, or wanting to start by a quarter (25%) of 

respondents, followed by locally owned restaurants (17%) and valued‐added food 

producer (13%). Fewer than ten percent of respondents endorsed owning, making 

purchasing decision for, or wanting to start a food distributor/retailer, small food 

processing kitchen or facility, or medium farm (10‐50 acres). Fewer than five percent 

endorsed a large farm (50‐130 acres), cafeteria setting, industrial farm (130+ acres), 

large food processing facility, or a regional/national franchise restaurant. Alcoholic 

beverage manufacturing and distributing (n=5) was the most common “other” response 

provided (n=31 other responses) which included craft cider and wine. Additional other 

responses included food carts (n=4), including mobile pizza and coffee carts, food‐based 

non‐profits (n=4), including food pantries and resource centers, and individuals or 

groups with community gardens or space for collective gardening (n=3).  

 

What best describes the food‐based business you own, make purchasing decisions for, or want to 

start? (n=205) 

 
 

  

1%

1%

2%

2%

4%

6%

8%

9%

13%

17%

25%

0% 10% 20% 30%

Regional/National franchise restaurant

Large food processing facility

Industrial Farm (130+ acres)

Cafeteria setting

Large Farm (50 ‐ 130 acres)

Medium Farm (10‐50 acres)

Small food processing kitchen or facility

Food distributor/retailer

Value‐added food producer

Locally owned restaurant

Small Farm (0‐10 acres)

--■ 
■ 
I 
I 

Page 104 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  23 

Gross annual sales $1M or less for over 80% of food‐based business respondents  

Eighty‐one percent of respondents to this question endorsed their gross annual sales 

were less than one million dollars. Thirty percent of respondents endorsed their gross 

annual sales were $10,000 or less, the next fifth of all respondents endorsed their gross 

annual sales were between $10,000 and $100,000, and the next fifteen percent 

endorsed sales between $100,000 and one million dollars. Just over ten percent (11%) 

of respondents endorsed their sales were over a million dollars and 24% declined to 

answer.  

 

About how much are your gross annual sales? (n=161) 

 
*24% of respondents to this question selected “prefer not to answer” 

 

 

  

29% 20% 12% 5% 11%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

$0 ‐ $10,000 $10,001 ‐ $100,000 $100,001 ‐ $500,000 $500,001 ‐ $1M > $1M■ ■ ■ ■ ■ 

Page 105 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  24 

Almost half of small farm respondents endorse gross annual sales of $10,000 or 

less 

When disaggregated by type of business, the majority (58%, n=11) of food 

distributors/retailers endorsed their gross annual sales were over a million dollars, 

fifteen percent (n=2) endorsed their sales were less than $100,000, and the remaining 

quarter (26%) declined to respond. Just under a quarter of value‐added food producer 

respondents endorsed their sales were less than $10,000 (n=6), a third (31%) endorsed 

their sales were more than $10,000 but less than $100,000, eight percent endorsed 

their sales were more than $100,000 but less than $500,000, and four percent (n=1) 

endorsed their sales were one million or more (a third declined to respond). Few (13%; 

n=4) of locally‐owned restaurant respondents endorsed their sales were less than 

$10,000, a quarter (25%) endorsed their sales were between $10,000 and $100,000, a 

slightly higher percentage (38%) endorsed their sales were more than $100,000 but less 

than one million dollars, and 13% (n=4) endorsed their sales were over a million dollars 

(the same number declined to respond). About half (45%; n=22) of small farmers 

endorsed their gross annual sales were $10,000 or less and the remainder endorsed 

their gross sales were less than $500,000. 

 

About how much are your gross annual sales? (n=205) 

 
   

45%

13%

23%

31%

25%

31%

11%

10%

16%

8%

22%

5%

13%

4%

58%

14%

13%

35%

26%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Small farm

Locally owned restaurant

Value‐added food producer

Food distributor/retailer

$0 ‐ $10,000 $10K ‐ $100K $100K ‐ $500K $500K ‐ $1M > $1M Prefer not to answer■ ■ ■ ■ ■ ■ 

Page 106 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  25 

 Community Survey Questions for Locally Owned 
Restaurants, Regional/national Franchises, and 
Value-Added Food Producers 

Prepared meals most common type of food produced/distributed by locally 

owned restaurants, regional/national franchises, and value‐added food 

producer respondents 

The most common type of food produced or distributed by respondents to this survey 

was prepared meals (restaurants, food carts, and prepared meal providers; n=38), 

closely followed by breads, baked goods, or tortillas (n=36), and fresh vegetables (n=36).  

 

What types of foods do you or your business produce or distribute?  n=100 

Prepared meals   38 

Breads, baked goods, or tortillas   36 

Fresh vegetables   32 

Something else  31 

Fresh fruits   29 

Grocery items (shelf‐stable items)   26 

Meat   26 

Sauces or salsas   26 

Dry beans & grains   23 

Canned foods   22 

Milk & dairy (bulk liquids)   20 

Other responses (n=30) included: a variety foods and beverages or services (n=16) including 

catering services and food banks, specialty items like popsicles, chocolate, and frozen foods. 

Alcoholic beverages were listed by five respondents, including wine (n=3), craft cider (n=2) and 

one respondent listed each garden starts, herbs, mercantile items and household products, and 

pet foods, paper goods, and 21+ goods.  

 

Page 107 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  26 

Direct from local farms or producers most common place business respondents 

endorse purchasing food 

Direct from local farms or producers was the most common (n=63) way locally owned 

restaurant, regional/national franchises, and value‐added food producer respondents 

endorsed purchasing food or raw ingredients, followed distantly by Organically Grown 

Company (n=20), Chef’s Warehouse (formerly Provvista) (n=19), Hummingbird 

Wholesale (n=19), Van Vleet Meat (n=18), US Chef’s Food Store (n=17), GloryBee (n=16), 

and UNFI (n=15).  

Where do you currently purchase your food or raw 
ingredients from? (select all that apply)  n=100 

Exclusive 
contract 

Direct from local farms or producers   63  8 

Organically Grown Company   20  2 

Chef's Warehouse (Provvista)   19   

Hummingbird Wholesale   19  1 

Van Vleet Meat   18   

US Chef's Food Store   17  1 

GloryBee   16  1 

UNFI   15  6 

Sysco   4  1 

Azure Standard   4   

FSA  3   

 

Nearly 90% of local food business owner respondents endorse already 

purchasing local food 

For the purposes of this survey, we prompted 

locally owned restaurants, regional/national 

franchises, and value‐added food producer 

respondents to define local foods as those that 

are grown, produced, or processed within the 

“local 6” county area, that is, Benton, Linn, 

Lincoln, Lane, Marion, and Polk counties.  

 

The vast majority (89%) of locally owned 

restaurants, regional/national franchises, and 

value‐added food producer respondents 

endorsed already purchasing local food.  

Yes, 
89%

No, 
15%

Do you currently procure local products 

at least some of the time? (n=89) 

Page 108 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  27 

 

Local fresh vegetables, fruits, and milk and dairy purchased at least some of the 

time by most business respondents 

 What products do you currently procure locally, at least some of the time?  
(select all that apply)  n=75 

Fresh vegetables   62 

Fresh fruits    59 

Milk & dairy   40 

Meat   39 

Breads, tortillas, sauces, or salsa   36 

Dry beans & grains   29 

Other merchandise including crafts or flowers   26 

Prepared meals   23 

Canned foods   18 

Other responses (n=7) included additional types of produce (n=3), seafood (n=3), and two 

respondents endorsed procuring baked goods and their ingredients locally.  

 

Why do you choose to procure local food?  (select all that apply) (n=75) 

 
Other responses included their relationships and partnerships with other community members 

(n=5), the sustainability and the environmental impact of procuring local food (n=3), and benefits 

of supporting their regional economy (n=2).  

 

 

15

29

32

35

65

68

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70

More affordable than non‐local options

Customer demand

Marketing, "good for business"

Food safety issues/fresher food

Higher quality/better flavor

Contribute to the local economy

Page 109 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  28 

Irregular supply most commonly endorsed barrier to procuring local food 

experienced by business respondents 

Irregular supply was the most commonly endorsed barrier to procuring local food 

experienced by business respondents, endorsed by forty‐one respondents (of a total 

92), followed by unaffordable price, endorsed by thirty‐nine respondents. About 30% of 

business respondents endorsed they experience additional barriers, including product 

isn’t available locally, increased time needed to coordinate many orders, increased time 

to coordinate many deliveries (all endorsed by 26 respondents). Other barriers 

experienced included distribution disruptions (n=20), storage space (n=19), and lack of 

relationship with local suppliers (n=19). Less commonly endorsed barriers were lack of 

sufficient volume for needs, incorrect package size or format for use, lack of cold chain 

safety, and other logistics complications.   
 

Which of the following barriers to procuring local food do you experience? (select all that apply) (n=92) 

 Other responses (n=8) included logistics complications more generally, meeting distributor minimums, 

needing to pick and process solo, state laws that limit dairy retail, and “all of the above – but it’s what 

we do”. More detailed responses can be found in the accompanying inventory of equipment.  

3

5

13

19

19

20

26

26

26

39

41

0 10 20 30 40

Lack of cold chain integrity/food safety

Incorrect package size or format for my use

Lack of sufficient volume for my needs

Lack of relationship with local suppliers

Storage space

Distribution disruptions

Increased time needed to coordinate many
deliveries

Increased time needed to coordinate many
orders

Product isn’t available locally 

Unaffordable price

Irregular supply

I 

Page 110 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  29 

Directory of local producers and local food aggregator most commonly endorsed 

support that would enable businesses to buy more local food 

Directory of local producers was the most commonly endorsed support that would 

enable businesses to buy more local food, endorsed by 49 of 92 (53%) of respondents, 

closely followed by local food aggregator (endorsed by 45 of 92; 49%) and a delivery 

system for local food (43 of 92; 47%). Price supports (n=37), marketing supports (n=28), 

processing supports for local food and a shared storage space (both n=23) were also 

endorsed as supports that would enable businesses to buy more local food, followed by 

a commissary/shared kitchen (n=21). Other supports suggested by one producer each 

included a local certified butcher, cultural supports, and a method to provide large box 

stores with local foods.  

 

What are some supports that would enable you to buy more local food? (select all that apply) (n=92) 

 
Other responses (n=7) included a certified butchery of local product, “cultural”, farmers being 

able to process their own produce and being more competitive with grocery stores like Winco 

and Grocery Outlet, etc, lower cost, and seeing local food at places like Grocery Depot or Winco 

 

Response: Shared storage space 

Of the twenty‐three food business respondents who endorsed a “shared storage space” 

would enable them to buy more local food, 70% endorsed cold storage, 22% endorsed 

frozen storage, and 9% endorsed dry goods storage would fit their needs. Of those, 

about half endorsed needing year‐round access [(cold storage (n=7), frozen storage 

(n=3), and dry goods storage (n=2)], just under half endorsed needing keyed access to a 

24/hour space [(cold storage (n=6), frozen storage (n=4)], and a similar number 

endorsed needing the ability to coordinate with the facility or site manager for access 

3

21

23

23

28

37

43

45

49

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Nothing (not interested in local foods)

Commissary/shared kitchen

Shared storage space

Processing supports for local food

Marketing supports

Price supports

Delivery system for local food

Local food aggregators

Directory of local producers

I 

Page 111 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  30 

[(cold storage (n=7), frozen storage and dry goods storage (n=1)]. Of the twenty‐three 

food businesses endorsing a shared storage space would enable them to buy more food, 

only five (22%) endorsed having seasonal access only and two (9%) endorsed access 

during regular business hours only would meeting their needs. 

 

 
Cold 

storage 
Frozen 
Storage 

Dry Goods 
Storage  Total 

What type of shared storage space would 
help you buy more local food? (select all 
that apply) 

16  5  2  23 

What type of access do you need to this storage space? (select all that apply) 

year‐round access  7  3  2  12 

keyed access to a 24‐hour space  6  4  ‐  10 

ability to coordinate with facility or site 
manager for access 

7  1  1  9 

seasonal access only  3  2  ‐  5 

during regular business hours only  1  2  ‐  2 

 

Response: Commissary/shared kitchen 

Of the twenty‐one food business respondents who endorsed a “a commissary/shared 

kitchen” would enable them to buy more local food, the majority (71%) endorsed 

needing year‐round access to that kitchen (n=15), just over half (57%) endorsed needing 

keyed access to a 24‐hour space (n=12), and a third (33%) endorsed the ability to 

coordinate with facility or site manager for access (n=7). A few (n=4) need the space 

only on a seasonal basis and only one respondent endorsed needing the space during 

regular business hours only.  

What type of access do you need to this commissary kitchen space? 
(select all that apply) 

Total 
n=21 

year‐round access   15 

keyed access to a 24‐hour space   12 

ability to coordinate with facility or site manager for access   7 

seasonal access only  4 

during regular business hours only   1 

 

Produce and shelf‐stable items most commonly desired foods to procure locally 

What foods do you wish you could procure locally? (n=45) 

Food based business survey respondents most commonly endorsed wanting to 

procure produce (40%) locally. Shelf‐stable items such as dried goods, grains, 

beans, spices, and baking ingredients were mentioned by over a quarter (28%) of 

these respondents and others endorsed a desire to procure dairy (15%), meat 

and poultry (15%), and seafood (11%) locally. Another five respondents reported 

that they would like to procure all of their foods locally.   

Page 112 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  31 

 

Lack of availability most commonly identified barrier to procuring desired local 

foods 

What are your barriers to procuring these foods? (n=49) 

A lack of product availability was endorsed by almost half of food‐based 

business survey respondents as the primary barrier to procuring local foods and 

43% endorsed cost as a barrier. Some (10%) endorsed climate (the growing 

season) as the barrier including how the climate impacts the variety of available 

produce. Other respondents endorsed concerns about quantity and a lack of 

demand (8%), while a few (4%) endorsed barriers around the availability of 

organic foods.  Some responses included more than one barrier.  

 

Nearly half of business respondents endorsed being willing to participate in a 

local food marketing campaign to support the local food economy 

 

What are some ways you or your business could support the local food economy? (n=65) 

 
Other responses included utilizing advocacy efforts and increasing awareness about locally produced 

foods (n=6) and others (n=4) explained they could improve local community ties to help support the 

food economy in the area.  

 
   

6

7

12

16

18

29

0 10 20 30

Commissary/shared kitchen availability

Equipment rental availability

Providing education around best practices for
purchasing locally

Participating in a distribution network (storage
space, delivery truck space, etc)

Participating in a cooperatively owned food
business

Participating in a local food marketing
campaign

Page 113 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  32 

 Community Survey Questions for Farmers 

Over 50 small farms responded to the community survey and over twenty 

percent plan to expand in the next two years 

Of the 205 respondents who endorsed the response option: “I own, hold decision‐

making power, or want to start a food‐based business”, seventy then described that 

food‐based business as a farm. A majority of survey respondents to this question 

described their farm as a small farm (0‐10 acres) (n=51), and far fewer described it as a 

medium farm (10‐50 acres) (n=12), a large farm (50 – 130 acres) (n=8), or an industrial 

farm (130+ acres) (n=4). These respondents were asked a few additional questions 

directly related to farming and food producing, although not all survey respondents 

continued to this part of the survey.  

 

The majority of the farmers who responded to this survey endorsed their farm was six 

years old or more (63%), about a quarter (26%) endorsed their farm was 2‐5 years old, 

and 11% were beginning farmers, that is, their farm was less than 2 years old. Forty‐five 

percent of respondents endorsed no plans to expand their farm, thirty‐one percent 

endorsed plans to expand in 2‐5 years, and twenty‐two percent endorsed immediate 

plans to expand (0‐1 year). Two percent endorsed plans to expand in six years or more.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0‐1 more 
year,
22%

2‐5 more 
years,
31%

6+ more 
years,
2%

I don't plan 
to expand,

45%

less than 2 
years,
11%

2‐5 years,
26%

6+ years,
63%

Do you plan to expand your farm in 

the next… (n=58) 

How long has your farm been in 

business? (n=57) 

Page 114 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  33 

Non‐certified organic most common farming practice endorsed by farm 

respondents 

Non‐certified organic was the most common farming practice from all farm respondents 

(n=44) and from small farmers in particular (72% of small farm respondents). 

Certificated organic was the next most‐common response with fifteen farm respondents 

endorsing this farming practice, six of whom were small farms, four were medium 

farms, three were large farms and two were industrial farms. The least common farming 

practice endorsed by farm respondents was conventional, with seven small farms 

endorsing this practice, two large farms, and one industrial farm.  

 

What are your farming practices? (select all that apply) (n=70) 

 

7

6

34

4

4

2

3

5

1

2

1

0 10 20 30 40 50

Conventional

Certified organic

Organic, non‐certified

Small farm Medium farm Large farm Industrial Farm■ ■ ■ ■ 

Page 115 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  34 

Over half of farm respondents sell products direct to consumer or local retail  

Over half of farm respondents endorsed selling products direct to consumer (45 of 70 

respondents) and over twenty farm respondents endorsed selling direct to retail outlets 

(n=23) and direct to restaurants or food carts (n=21). Fewer than twenty farm 

respondents endorsed any of the other provided sales channels which included direct to 

food processors (n=17), CSA or subscription services (n=15), website or online sales 

(n=9), regional aggregators (n=5), direct to institutions (n=4), to national distributors 

(n=2), and exporting internationally (n=2). Three farmer respondents endorsed selling 

their products to regional, statewide, or national seed businesses.  

 

How do you sell your products? (n=70) 

Other ways farmer respondents endorsed selling their products included regional, statewide, or national 

seed businesses (n=3) 
 

Vegetables, fruits, and berries most common main crops sold locally and overall 

Vegetables were the most commonly endorsed main crop by all sizes of farms, and 

thirty‐four of thirty‐nine farmers who endorsed selling vegetables as their main crops 

endorsed selling those crops to the local market. Fruits and berries were the second 

most commonly endorsed main crop, and again most farmers who endorsed selling 

fruits and berries as their main crop also endorsed selling these to the local market (23 

out of 28). Large animal products and eggs were endorsed as main crops by eleven 

farmer respondents, and nine of those endorsed selling large animal products to the 

2

2

4

5

9

15

17

21

23

45

0 10 20 30 40 50

Export internationally

National distributors (UNFI, Sysco, AFS, etc)

Direct to institutions

Regional aggregators

Website/online sales

CSA or subscription service

Direct to food processors

Direct to restaurants or food carts

Direct to local retail outlets

Direct to consumers

-■ 
■ 
I 
I 

Page 116 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  35 

local market. All eleven egg farmer respondents endorsed selling their eggs to the local 

market. Seed crops (including grass seed) were all endorsed by ten farmer respondents 

as a main crop, and all but one of those endorsed selling that crop on the local market. 

Fewer than ten farmer respondents endorsed selling any of the other response options 

as their main crop; those options include: grains and beans (5 of 7 endorsed selling 

locally), honey or bee products (5 of 6 endorsed selling locally), pasture/forage including 

hay/haylage (2 of 4 endorsed selling locally), small animal products (3 of 4 endorsed 

selling locally), tree nuts (both farmers who endorsed this as their main crop also 

endorsed selling locally), and all farmers who endorsed selling milk (n=2), cheeses (n=1), 

and cultivated Christmas trees (n=1) endorsed selling those products locally. 

 

What are your main crops, and which of those main crops do you sell locally? (select all that apply) 

(n=70) 

 
Other crops produced by farmer respondents included other sources of income aside from crops, such as 

value‐added items and coffee (n=4), seeds or plant/vegetable starts (n=3), and flowers, herbs, and 

mushrooms as main crops were each endorsed two respondents. Other crops include rhubarb and tree 

fruits. Additionally, two farmer respondents endorsed selling all of their products locally, another two 

farmer respondents endorsed selling plant/vegetable starts and seeds locally, and one farmer 

respondent each endorsed selling flowers, herbs, mushrooms, seaweed, and coffee locally.  

1

1

2

2

4

4

6

7

10

11

11

28

39

3

2

5

5

9

11

9

23

34

0 10 20 30 40

Cultivated Christmas trees

Cheeses

Milk

Tree nuts (including hazelnuts/filberts)

Small animal products

Pasture/forage (hay/haylage)

Honey/bee products

Grains and beans

Seed crops (including grass seed)

Eggs

Large animal products

Fruits & berries

Vegetables

Main crops sold locally Main crops

I 
I 
I 
I 

■ ■ 

Page 117 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  36 

About half of farmer respondents endorsed growing culturally familiar foods, 

including produce such as potatoes, corn, beans, squash, tomatoes, specialty 

herbs, chili peppers, and Wapato 

About half (44%) of farmer respondents endorsed growing culturally familiar foods, 

followed by 31% of farmers who were unsure if they grow those foods or not, 16% 

endorsed sometimes growing these foods, and only nine percent who did not grow 

culturally familiar foods. Farmer respondents provided examples of the culturally 

familiar foods they grew which were grouped into categories. The most common foods 

grown were types of produce including potatoes, corn, beans, squash, tomatoes, 

specialty herbs, chili peppers, and Wapato. Four farmer respondents endorsed selling 

culturally familiar meat and poultry, and one each endorsed selling grains and dairy. 

Other responses include honey, wine, grape leaves, and rose petals.  

 

Do you grow or produce culturally familiar foods and if so, what are they? (n=64) 

 
Various types of produce were the most common culturally familiar foods farmer respondents 

endorsed growing or producing (n=27), including produce such as potatoes, corn, beans, squash, 

tomatoes, specialty herbs, chili peppers, and Wapato. Meat and poultry (n=4), grains (n=1), and 

dairy (n=1) were also listed by respondents as were honey, wine, grape leaves, and rose petals 

(each n=1).  

 

  

I grow culturally 
familiar foods,

44%

I do not grow 
culturally familiar 

foods,
9%

I sometimes 
grow culturally 
familiar foods,

16%

I'm unsure if I 
grow these 
foods or not,

31%

Page 118 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  37 

Lack of sufficient volume for needs most common barrier to selling products 

locally 

Lack of sufficient volume for needs was the most common barrier to selling products 

locally identified by farmer respondents (n=26), followed by increased time to 

coordinate deliveries (n=17), and that local purchasers are not willing to pay their price 

(n=16). Less commonly identified barriers to selling products locally included a lack of 

connections/marketing (n=5), delivery disruptions (n=4), and inconsistent sales at the 

market (n=2). Other barriers were identified by one farmer respondent each.  

 

What barriers do you experience in selling your products locally? (select all that apply) (n=65) 

 
Delivery disruptions were endorsed by four farmer respondents, and fifteen farmer respondents 

provided and endorsed other barriers that could be grouped into themes, including lack of 

connections/marketing (n=5) and inconsistent sales at the market (n=2).  One farmer respondent each 

endorsed each a lack of consistent irrigation, lack of land, lack of local support, limited time, many 

delivery sites, and lack of organic processing facilities. 

 

  

“Selling to stores is difficult. We sell to the co‐op, 

but it can be hit or miss”  

– small farmer 

Lack of sufficient volume for my needs, 26 

Increased time to coordinate deliveries, 17 

Local purchasers are not willing to pay my price, 16 

Page 119 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  38 

Marketing support most commonly endorsed need to shift to more local selling 

Marketing supports were the most commonly endorsed need to shift to more local 

selling by all farmer respondents and by the most small farms in particular (30 farm 

respondents endorsed marketing supports, twenty of those were small farms). The next 

most‐commonly endorsed support was a local food directory, endorsed by twenty 

farmer respondents of which twelve were small farms, followed by a local food delivery 

system and a local food aggregator, each endorsed by nineteen farms in total of which 

twelve were small farms. Price supports were the next most commonly endorsed 

support needed to shift to more local selling, endorsed by seventeen farms including 

twelve small farms, and local food processing supports were endorsed by fourteen 

farms including seven small farms. Only four of sixty‐five (16%) endorsed not wanting to 

sell more local foods.  

 

What are some supports that you would use to shift to more local selling? (select all that apply) (n=65) 

 
Three small farmer respondents provided other supports that they could use to shift to more 

local selling, including loans or grants to expand and improve the farm, and kitchen space, and 

one small farmer qualified their “delivery” response with, “ I don't think it's feasible unless it is 

tied to SNAP and Double‐Up Food Bucks (DUFB).” 

 

3

7

12

12

12

12

20

4

4

4

4

4

5

1

2

1

3

2

3

4

1

1

1

1

0 10 20 30

I do not want to sell more local foods.

Local food processing supports

Price supports

Local food aggregator

Local food delivery system

Local food directory

Marketing supports

Small farm Medium farm Large farm Industrial Farm■ ■ ■ ■ 

Page 120 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  39 

Farmers want to sell more produce, dried foods and grains, and all products 

locally but experience barriers including lack of resources (equipment and land) 

and a lack of a central distribution center among others 

What foods do you wish you could sell locally? (n=20) 

Seven farmer respondents endorsed wishing to sell produce locally, four endorsed 

wishing to sell any and all foods at a local level, and another four endorsed wanting to 

sell dried foods and grains. One farmer respondent each endorsed wishing to sell meat, 

poultry, and dairy.  

 

What are your barriers to selling these foods? (n=20) 

Ten farmer respondents endorsed a lack of resources as a barrier to selling these foods 

locally, including equipment and materials, land to produce more products, and having 

a central distribution center. Four farmer respondents endorsed a lack of local 

awareness and demand, three endorsed budgetary concerns and another three 

endorsed time constraints. One farmer respondent each endorsed community 

perception of the cost of purchasing locally and access to more vendors as barriers.  

 

   

“The main barrier is my time and cost to distribute.”  

– large farmer 
 

Page 121 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  40 

Nearly half of farmer respondents endorsed being willing to participate in a 

local food marketing campaign 

Nearly half of farmer respondents (29 of 65; 45%) endorsed being willing to participate 

in a local food marketing campaign to participate in the local food economy. Eighteen 

farmer respondents endorsed participating in the local food economy through a 

cooperative business model (27% of respondents), followed by participating in a 

distribution network (n=16), and providing education around best practices for selling 

locally. Seven farmer respondents endorsed being willing to participate in the local food 

economy by providing equipment rental or commissary kitchen availability.  

 

What are some ways you/your business may participate in the local food economy? (select all that 

apply) (n=65) 

 

 
Other ways farmer respondents endorsed they or their food business may participate in the local food 

economy included land they could share (n=2), interest in a central pick‐up location, and one 

commented on their ability to deliver to a food hub.  

 

 

 

 

   

6

7

12

16

18

29

0 10 20 30

Commissary kitchen availability

Equipment rental availability

Provide education around best practices for
selling locally

Participate in a distribution network (storage
space, delivery truck space, etc)

Participate in a cooperative business model

Participate in a local food marketing
campaign

Page 122 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  41 

 Community Survey Questions for all Businesses 

Money concerns such as operating costs and consumers’ unwillingness to spend 

more on locally sourced products most commonly endorsed challenge or 

frustration for all business respondents in achieving their goals for their business 

What is your biggest challenge or frustration in achieving your goals for your food business? (n=86) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Almost half (42%) of the eighty‐six food‐based business respondents endorsed money 

concerns as their biggest challenge or frustration in achieving their goals for their 

business, especially related to operating costs and consumers’ unwillingness to spend 

more on locally sourced products.  Accessing places to sell to and reaching out to the 

community to build interest and demand was endorsed by 16% of these respondents. 

Additional barriers endorsed included knowledge about farming practices and 

marketing (14%), access to specific resources like a commercial kitchen and storage 

(14%), difficulty around laws and regulations (9%), and concerns around land usage 

(8%).  

 

 

  

“People are used to paying low prices for veggies 

which make it very difficult for smaller local farms to 

compete without specializing. It turns food into a 

commodity and a race to the bottom. The difficulty is 

that I truly want good local food to be accessible by all 

however this makes it almost impossible for small 

local producers to participate let alone compete.” 

 – local farmer 

 

My biggest challenge or frustration in achieving the 

goals for my business is… “not knowing laws and 

regulations”  

– aspiring food‐based business owner 

Page 123 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  42 

Access to general resources most commonly endorsed solution to achieve 

business‐related goals 

What are some specific solutions you can think of right now that would help you achieve your 

business‐related goals? For example, a development grant, business advising, technical assistance, 

access to a rental kitchen, etc. (n=75) 

 

Over one‐third (36%) of the seventy‐five 

food‐based business respondents 

endorsed access to general resources, 

such as materials and equipment, as 

potential solutions to achieve their goals. 

About a quarter (26%) endorsed access to 

funding and grants, consultation and 

guidance (19%), a centralized 

hub/cooperative for people to pick up 

orders (16%), networking with the 

community and other businesses (11%), 

marketing (5%), and finding better ways to 

sell directly to the consumers (4%) as 

solutions. An aspiring value‐added food 

producer endorsed, “Access to consultants 

regarding underrepresented community’s 

needs, to help inform policies and 

procedures with community gardens.”  
 

  

 

“A grant to fund startup costs, 

business/marketing advice” 

 – small farmer 

 

 

“Access to a more reliable space, 

with longer term terms and more 

sense of investment”  

– food cart owner 

 

Some specific solutions I can think of right now that 

would help me achieve my business‐related goals are… 

“Producer/seller cooperatives. It can help find new 

markets that otherwise would be inaccessible to 

smaller producers because of limited quantities with 

collaboration to bulk orders. With this also includes 

potential shared fridge space for harvested goods 

(fruits/meat/veg/etc.)” 

Page 124 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  43 

Cold storage most commonly endorsed service that would benefit all food 

business respondents followed by local food marketing supports 

Cold storage was the most commonly endorsed service that would benefit all food 

business respondents (41%), followed by local food marketing supports (37%), local 

food delivery (32%), cooperatively owned business model (31%), local food 

aggregation service (30%), and frozen storage (27%). All other response options were 

endorsed by fewer than 25% of respondents. In order of most common to least they 

are: incubator kitchen (24%), retail outlet space (24%), fruit/veg food processing space 

(24%), food cart pod (21%), specialized food processing equipment rentals (20%), food 

business technical assistance (20%), technical assistance (food safety, USDA, ODA 

regulations) (18%), dry goods storage (18%), co‐packing (16%), office space/co‐working 

space (11%), meat processing space 10%), and food lab (e.g., genetic testing for yeast 

strains) (4%).  

 

Eight of the fourteen respondents (11% of total respondents) that provided other 

beneficial resources endorsed networking connections, space, and production 

materials. Funding for their local businesses (n=3%) was the next most common theme 

of respondents, and one respondent commented on the need for a “BIPOC‐managed, 

BIPOC‐centered space with emphasis on culturally significant foods and businesses.” 

 

When disaggregated by type of business, local food marketing supports is the most 

commonly endorsed service that would benefit institutional purchasers and cold storage 

is the most commonly endorsed by all other types of businesses. More detailed results 

follow.  

 

Page 125 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  44 

The South Corvallis Food Hub could provide a wide array of services. Please select the services that 

would directly benefit your business. (n=131) 

 

27%

30%

31%

32%

37%

41%

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Frozen storage

Local food aggregation

Cooperatively owned business
model

Local food delivery services

Local food marketing supports

Cold storage

Number of respondents

Page 126 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report    P a g e  45 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  6

6

6

6

7

7

8

8

8

9

11

12

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

Dry goods storage

Technical assistance

Frozen storage

Local food delivery services

Food business technical assistance

Food cart pod

Fruit/Veg Food processing space

Retail outlet space

Incubator Kitchen

Cooperatively owned business model

Cold storage

Local food marketing supports

Institutional purchaser (n=23)

4

4

5

5

5

5

5

6

6

6

6

7

7

9

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%

Fruit/Veg Food processing space

Local food aggregation

Technical assistance

Food business technical assistance

Food cart pod

Retail outlet space

Cooperatively owned business model

Special processing equip rental

Incubator Kitchen

Frozen storage

Local food delivery services

Dry goods storage

Local food marketing supports

Cold storage

Small kitchen/food processing facility (n=14)

10

10

12

16

20

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Fruit/Veg Food processing space

Frozen storage

Cooperatively owned business model

Local food marketing supports

Cold storage

Small farm (n=43)

4

4

4

4

5

5

6

8

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

Dry goods storage

Specialized food processing
equipment rentals

Fruit/Veg Food processing space

Local food aggregation

Cooperatively owned business model

Local food marketing supports

Retail outlet space

Cold storage

Medium, large, or industrial farms (n=15)

The South Corvallis Food Hub could provide a wide array of services. Please select the services that would 

directly benefit your business. (n=131) 

Page 127 of 220



 
 

South Corvallis Food Hub: Community Survey Report P a g e  46 

End of Community Survey Report 

For questions about this community survey or community survey report please contact Aliza 
Tuttle, principal of A Tuttle Consults, at aliza@atuttleconsults.com. For questions about the 
South Corvallis Food Hub and Food System Assessment, please contact the Corvallis Benton 
County Economic Development Office. 

Page 128 of 220



   

 

Part of the Food Systems Assessment for the South Corvallis Food Hub 

 Suggested citation: Tuttle, A. & Luterra, M.. (2024). Inventory of Equipment available and needed to support local 

food businesses and potential food hub operators in South Corvallis. Corvallis, OR 

 

 

INVENTORY OF EQUIPMENT 
Available and needed to support local food 

businesses and potential food hub operators 

 

Submitted to the Corvallis / 
Benton County Economic 

Development Office 
March 26, 2024  

 

Page 129 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Inventory of Equipment           Submitted March 26, 2024  Page 1 of 15 

 Purpose 

The purpose of this inventory is to inform the feasibility study of the South Corvallis Food Hub 
conducted in Winter of 2024. The design of the inventory was informed by The City of Corvallis 
Request for Proposals for a Systems Assessment for a South Corvallis Food Hub, Task 2.1. This 
inventory consists of five parts: 

Task 2.1 (a) Equipment available and needed to support local food businesses and 
potential Food Hub providers.  

Task 2.1 (b) Existing and underutilized infrastructure available and needed to support 
multiple Food Hub scenarios including but not limited to commercial kitchen space 
rental, pop‐up restaurants, prepared and packaged food products for retail settings, 
and congregate meal preparation 

Task 2.1 (c) Barriers currently experienced by local food businesses 

Task 2.1 (d) Community partnerships available and needed to operate a Food Hub 

Task 2.1 (e) Funding available and projected to support long‐term fiscal sustainability 
for a Food Hub   

 

 Executive Summary  
A commercial kitchen and aggregation and distribution services are the most 
commonly endorsed need by all respondents, followed by cold storage space.  

 Specialized commercial kitchen equipment and commercial kitchen implements 
were the most commonly endorsed item owned and willing to lend, rent, give, or 
sell to the Food Hub by community survey respondents and interviewees 

 A commercial kitchen was the most common needed equipment endorsed by 
interviewees, followed by cold storage 

 Aggregation and distribution services most common infrastructure need of 
interviewees  

 Access to a delivery truck most common infrastructure need of survey respondents 

 Directory of local producers and local food aggregator service most commonly 
endorsed support to buy more local food by local food business owners 

 Lack of aggregation and distribution services most commonly endorsed barrier to 
expanding business or serving more individuals by interviewees  

 Access to land or a community garden was identified by BIPOC individuals and 
those serving minority communities 
 

"A Southtown food hub could create a 
place for community connection that 
extends beyond food."   
– local non‐profit organization 
employee   

Page 130 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Inventory of Equipment           Submitted March 26, 2024  Page 2 of 15 

 Data Sources and Methods 

This inventory was created through interviews with city and county staff (n=4), five 

questions on the community survey (n=718), six questions in the interviews (n=50), and 

a literature review of existing food hub feasibility studies and previous local data 

collection efforts. 

The community survey was distributed through existing community email lists. It was 

open for responses for three weeks (from January 16, 2024 through February 7, 2024). 

Of the over eight hundred responses received and a total of 781 responses met the 

inclusion criteria. Responses were de‐identified and analyzed using statistical software 

SPSS and qualitative analysis software Atlas.ti to understand the needs, barriers, and 

opportunities in the community. 

A team conducted 50 interviews with specific community members to compliment the 

community survey. Interviewees were asked to participate if they (a) were identified by 

the team of interviewers as potentially benefiting from or participating in the food hub 

(b) expressed interest in the community survey (answered the question, “please contact 

me to tell us additional information about your ideas or involvement with the Food 

Hub”), or (c) were referred by another interviewee as someone to speak with. 

Interviews were conducted in English and Spanish and were designed to oversample for 

(a) BIPOC food business owners and farmers (b) Spanish‐speaking business owners and 

farmers and (c) business owners and farmers in South Corvallis. Interviews were 

collected from January 24, 2024 through March 6, 2024. Of the 50 interviewees, 10 

(20%) self‐identified as BIPOC or participated in the interview in Spanish. Interviewees 

represented a wide breadth of the food system including small farmers (n=10), non‐

profits (n=9), of which two are specifically BIPOC serving non‐profits), food system 

workers (n=6), restaurant owners (n=5), chefs (n=3), food cart owners and aspiring 

owners (n=3), and others including community members, OSU instructors, produce 

buyers, small value‐added food business owners, and the manager and a board member 

of the Corvallis farmers market. 

 Limitations  

This inventory was limited in scope and depth due to the timeline and budget of the 

project. The consultant team was awarded the contract in January of 2024 and was 

expected to complete a feasibility study by March 30, 2024. This abbreviated timeline 

did not provide enough time to adequately review survey or interview questions with all 

affected groups, which may have created questions and response options that did not 

affirm all cultures and experiences. Any omissions due to this timeline are deeply 

regrettable and repair has been attempted through intentional community outreach, 

collaboration, and long‐term relationship building efforts. 

   

Page 131 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Inventory of Equipment           Submitted March 26, 2024  Page 3 of 15 

 Review of literature 

A review of food hub literature to understand existing knowledge around equipment 
needed to support local food businesses and potential food hub providers resulted in 
few local recommendations. Existing literature tended to address space needs rather 
than specific equipment (typically the feasibility studies reviewed didn’t list equipment 
at this level of detail). North Coast Food Hub recommended cold storage space and staff 
FTE to manage the space. A review of the Ripple Effect1 from the BIPOC FEAST in 2023, 
specifically the Opportunities ripple, affirmed survey and interview responses expressing 
a desire for access to land, low barrier funding, and cooking classes by and for BIPOC 
community members.  

 2.1 (a) Available Equipment 

Specialized commercial kitchen equipment was the most common type of 
item interviewees endorsed owning 

Interview question: We are compiling an inventory of equipment and creating a list of 
equipment that is needed for the community. What equipment do you have that you 
could share, rent, or provide to the community? (n=17) 

Specialized commercial kitchen equipment was the most common (n=9) type of item 
interviewees endorsed owning and being willing to share, rent, or provide to the 
community and none of the equipment mentioned was duplicated. Other items 
included knowledge (n=4) (managing farmer’s markets, navigating the system with 
limited English, aggregation and needs of restaurants, cooking demonstration), space 
for growing (n=2) (one space to grow culturally relevant foods and other more generally 
open), and a food truck (to sell or rent). A list of the commercial kitchen equipment is 
below: 

Commercial 
Kitchen  Mobile  Immobile  Space 

Cooking   Small refrigeration 

 Stand mixer 

   Commissary kitchen (to be 
built) 

 Industrial kitchen (needs 
remodeling) 

Baking   Gas powered pizza 
ovens 

 Commercial baking 
equipment 

 Bakery space 
 Café Space 

Small wares   Heat sealer, blenders, 
crockpots, etc 

 Demo equipment 

 Water bath canner 

   

 

Processing/ 
Transportation 

 Green bean harvester 
 Root harvester 

 Large beverage canning 
line 

 Tunnel pasteurizer 
 Large fermentation 
vessels (~100k gallons) 

 Delivery truck space on 
Portland route 

 Delivery van (sometimes) 

 Personal truck (gleaning) 

 
1 https://ofbportals.oregonfoodbank.org/home/partner_support/partner_support/partner_resources_space_file_repo/feast/corvallis_feast_ripple_effect_mappdf~1 

Page 132 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Inventory of Equipment           Submitted March 26, 2024  Page 4 of 15 

Commercial kitchen implements were the most common (n=21) item that 
community survey respondents endorsed owning and would be willing to 
lend, rent, give, or sell to the food hub 

Community survey question: What equipment do you own that you would be willing to 
lend, rent, give, or sell in partnership with the Food Hub? (n=58 community survey 
respondents) 

Commercial kitchen implements were the most common (n=21) item that community 
survey respondents owned and would be willing to lend, rent, give, or sell to the Food 
Hub, followed by gardening tools (n=9), tractor and/or tractor implements (n=7), food 
processing equipment (n=4), delivery van or truck (n=3), and space to host events or 
aggregate food (n=2). Ten respondents listed other equipment including larger land 
management tools, marketing support, mobile DJ equipment, and an available contract 
for additional alcohol production.   

 

 

What equipment do you own that you would be willing to 
lend, rent, give, or sell in partnership with the Food Hub?  n=58 

Commercial Kitchen Implements  21 

Gardening Tools  9 

Tractor/Tractor Implements  7 

Food Processing Equipment  4 

Delivery Van/Truck  3 

Space: (host events, food aggregation/distribution)  2 

Other  10 

 
   

Page 133 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Inventory of Equipment           Submitted March 26, 2024  Page 5 of 15 

 2.1 (a) Awareness of Equipment 

Household scale food processing equipment was the most commonly 
endorsed by community survey respondents as items they were aware of 
that could be shared in a rental or cooperative ownership model. 

Community survey question: What equipment are you aware of that could be shared in 
a rental or cooperative ownership model that could support the food system? (n=64 
community survey respondents) 

Household scale food processing equipment was the most common (n=11) item that 
community survey respondents were aware of that could be shared in a rental or 
cooperative ownership model that could support the food system, followed by tool 
share (n=9) and commercial kitchen implements (n=9), and commercial kitchen space 
(n=8). Three respondents each listed cold or frozen storage space and gardening 
implements and two respondents each mentioned a delivery truck, seed cleaning 
equipment, and tractor and/or tractor implements. Many additional responses 
mentioned by one respondent are listed below the table.  

 

What equipment are you aware of that could be shared in a rental or 
cooperative ownership model that could support the food system?  n=64 

Household‐scale food processing  11 

Tool Share  9 

Commercial Kitchen Implements  9 

Commercial Kitchen Space  8 

Various  7 

Storage Space (cold or frozen)  3 

Gardening Implements  3 

Delivery Truck  2 

Seed Cleaning Equipment  2 

Tractor/Tractor Implements  2 

Other responses include: Food Packing Equipment, Food Hub Supports from Central 
Coast Food Web, Mobile Canning/Bottling Equipment, Mobile Processing System, 
knowledge, a stationary pizza oven, reusable event tableware, permanent market space, 
and various space.    

Page 134 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Inventory of Equipment           Submitted March 26, 2024  Page 6 of 15 

 2.1 (a) Needed Equipment 

Interview questions: 

1. Please tell me a bit about some barriers currently limiting your business. 
2. Are there solutions to these barriers you’ve thought of that a food hub could 

potentially address?  
3. What are your business goals and what would help you achieve your business dreams 

the most?  

Access to a delivery truck was the most commonly endorsed barrier 
currently limiting local food business 

Meat processing equipment (and space, permits, and a butcher) (n=2) was the only 
equipment endorsed by more than one interviewee. All interviewees endorsed needing 
some type of infrastructure rather than equipment.  

Community survey question: What equipment do you need to help you reach or 
expand your business goals or help you serve additional individuals? (n=63 food 
business owners, workers, institutional purchasers, and social service organization 
workers or volunteers) 

A delivery truck (n=7; including 2 respondents who specifically listed a truck with 
frozen/cold transport space), commercial kitchen implements (n=6), and 
tractor/tractor implements (n=4). Additional equipment needed by one or two 
respondents are listed below the table.  

What equipment do you need to help you reach or expand your business 
goals or help you serve additional individuals?  n=63 

Delivery truck (with cold/frozen space, n=2)  7 

Commercial Kitchen Implements (oven, utensils, dehydrator, etc)  6 

Tractor/Tractor Implements  4 

Various/other*  7 

Wash/pack station  2 

Irrigation assistance  2 

*Other responses include 100‐200 HP tractor for large, occasional jobs, Ability to put up 
signs to promote businesses, bean & grain cleaning equipment, Business Coaching, Retail 
butcher equipment, Commercial Kitchen/dining area, Community gardens, Storage: Dry 
Goods, Market location, Everything that would be needed for a food distribution and 
resource center, Food Prep Area, Food Production Supplies, Garden Implements, 
Tractor/Tractor Implements, Land to build homes with community growing space, 
Locally‐grown organic food, Marketing assistance, Mobile ice bath, Mobile market 
vehicle w/ability to accept SNAP/DUFB and Packing equipment.  

Page 135 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Inventory of Equipment           Submitted March 26, 2024  Page 7 of 15 

 2.1 (b) Infrastructure available  

A review of all properties for sale and lease in South Corvallis was conducted with the 
support of a commercial real estate agent. Two commercial properties were identified 
as potentially suitable suites for a food hub in South Corvallis and an existing 
commercial kitchen facility was reviewed for ability to support commercial kitchen 
operations.  

Commercial properties: 

1. 1490 SW 3rd St., Corvallis, OR 97333 “Fastenal Building” 

2. 1750‐1780 SW 3rd St., Corvallis, OR 97333 “Mill Race Center” 

Commercial kitchens: 

1. Benton County Fairgrounds 

The consultant team met with a private commercial real estate agent to tour both 
commercial properties and toured the Benton County Fairgrounds and commercial 
kitchen with Benton County Fairgrounds staff. The Mill Race Center property was 
deprioritized from further feasibility exploration due to limited suitability and 
potentially high remodel costs, although it could be reconsidered if it were the only 
available option. The Fastenal Building was determined to be a potentially feasible space 
for a food hub that offers distribution and aggregation services, and the Benton County 
Fairgrounds was determined to need further investigation due to staff capacity 
limitations at the Fairgrounds and potential barriers around a lack of storage space 
available with use of the commercial kitchen. 
The consultants also interviewed other 
organizations with potential commercial kitchen 
spaces, including the Corvallis Community 
Center (C3), Stone Soup, and Meals on Wheels, 
but none of these organizations were 
determined to be suitable due to capacity issues 
or lack of amenities needed for food businesses.  

 
 
Fastenal Building 
Size: 4,500 square feet 
Zoned: Commercial 
Price: Starting at $1.20 

sqft/month  
Restroom: Yes 

   

Avery Pk & 
Natural Area ft 

Lions Sheltery 

SEBrklgewayAve 

SE Atwood Ave 

SELillyA\e 

Witlamett 

CoHo Ecovillag 

SEAfexand"Ave 

Page 136 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Inventory of Equipment           Submitted March 26, 2024  Page 8 of 15 

 2.1 (b) Infrastructure needed 

Interview question: 

1. Are there solutions to these barriers you’ve thought of that a Food Hub could 
potentially address?  

Aggregation and distribution services were the most commonly endorsed 
infrastructure needs of interviewees  

Aggregation and distribution services was the most commonly endorsed infrastructure 
needs from interviewees of all types, including small farmers, non‐profits, and food 
producers. A commercial kitchen and cold storage were tied for the second‐most 
commonly (n=9) endorsed, followed by a place for food trucks (n=8), networking (n=6) 
(to share farm labor staff, to connect producers and consumers, and to build a more 
resilient food system), and marketing supports (n=5). Four interviewees each endorsed 
needing business technical assistance, supports to increase and support cultural 
diversity in the food system, and education around local foods. Other built 
infrastructure needs endorsed by interviewees include frozen goods storage space 
(n=3), dry goods storage space (n=2), and a place to grow foods (n=2).  One interviewee 
each endorsed needing grant writing and evaluation support, increasing economic 
access to local foods, forward contracts, a public market/retail space, a repack space, a 
liaison to the city permitting process, and translation services. 

Commercial kitchen was the most common infrastructure need of survey 
respondents 

Community survey question: What equipment do you need to help you reach or 
expand your business goals or help you serve additional individuals? (n=63 food 
business owners, workers, institutional purchasers, and social service organization 
workers or volunteers)  

A Commercial Kitchen was the most common 
(n=11) infrastructure that community survey 
respondents endorsed as needing to help them 
reach or expand business goals or help serve 
additional individuals, followed by cold storage 
(n=9), frozen storage (n=5), other storage space 
(n=4), and soft infrastructure supports (n=3), such 
as help navigating permits for farm stands and 
farmworker housing, city permit process help, and 
information to minority families and communities.  

   “If we had access to a prep kitchen we 

could cook more culturally appropriate 

food and beans and grains”  
 

– Food education non‐profit 
1Benton County Fairgrounds Commercial Kitchen 

Page 137 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Inventory of Equipment           Submitted March 26, 2024  Page 9 of 15 

 

What equipment do you need to help you reach or expand your business 

goals or help you serve additional individuals?  n=63 

Commercial Kitchen  11 

Storage: Cold (e.g., walk‐in, upright refrigerator)   9 

Storage: Frozen (e.g., walk‐in freezer)  5 

Storage: Misc Space  4 

Information: (permits for farmstand, housing, info for minority families/communities)  3 

Directory of local producers and local food aggregator service were the 
most commonly endorsed supports to buy more local food by local food 
business owner survey respondents 

Community survey question: What are some supports that would enable you to buy 

more local food? (select all that apply) (n=92 locally owned food businesses) 

 
Other responses (n=7) included a certified butcher, “cultural”, farmers being able to 

process their own produce and being more competitive with grocery stores like Winco 

and Grocery Outlet, etc, lower cost, and seeing local food at places like Grocery Depot or 

Winco 

Supports that would enable you to buy more local food: shared storage space 

Of the twenty‐three food business respondents who endorsed a “shared storage 

space” would enable them to buy more local food, 70% endorsed cold storage, 

22% endorsed frozen storage, and 9% endorsed dry goods storage would fit their 

3

21

23

23

28

37

43

45

49

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Nothing (not interested in local foods)

Commissary/shared kitchen

Shared storage space

Processing supports for local food

Marketing supports

Price supports

Delivery system for local food

Local food aggregators

Directory of local producers

Page 138 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Inventory of Equipment           Submitted March 26, 2024  Page 10 of 15 

needs. Of those, about half endorsed needing year‐round access (cold storage 

(n=7), frozen storage (n=3), and dry goods storage (n=2)), just under half 

endorsed needing keyed access to a 24/hour space (cold storage (n=6), frozen 

storage (n=4)), and a similar number endorsed needing the ability to coordinate 

with the facility or site manager for access (cold storage (n=7), frozen storage 

and dry goods storage (n=1)). Of the twenty‐three food businesses endorsing a 

shared storage space would enable them to buy more food, only five (22%) 

endorsed needing seasonal access only and two (9%) endorsed needing access 

during regular business hours only. 

 
Cold 

storage 
Frozen 
Storage 

Dry 
Goods 
Storage  Total 

What type of shared storage space 
would help you buy more local food? 
(select all that apply) 

16  5  2  23 

What type of access do you need to 
this storage space? (select all that 
apply) 

    

year‐round access  7  3  2  12 

keyed access to a 24‐hour space  6  4  ‐  10 

ability to coordinate with facility or 
site manager for access 

7  1  1  9 

seasonal access only  3  2  ‐  5 

during regular business hours only  1  2  ‐  2 

Supports that would enable you to buy more local food: Commissary/shared 

kitchen 

Of the twenty‐one food business respondents who endorsed a “a 

commissary/shared kitchen” would enable them to buy more local food, the 

majority (71%) endorsed needing year‐round access to that kitchen (n=15), just 

over half (57%) endorsed needing keyed access to a 24‐hour space (n=12), and a 

third (33%) endorsed the ability to coordinate with facility or site manager for 

access (n=7). A few (n=4) need the space only on a seasonal basis and only one 

respondent endorsed needing the space during regular business hours only.  

What type of access do you need to this commissary kitchen space? 
(select all that apply) 

Total 
n=21 

year‐round access   15 

keyed access to a 24‐hour space   12 

ability to coordinate with facility or site manager for access   7 

seasonal access only  4 

during regular business hours only   1 

Page 139 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Inventory of Equipment           Submitted March 26, 2024  Page 11 of 15 

 2.1 (c) Barriers currently experienced by local food businesses 

Interview questions: 

1. Please tell me a bit about some barriers currently limiting your business. 

Lack of aggregation and distribution services was the most common 
barrier endorsed by interviewees closely followed by lack of cold storage 

Lack of aggregation and distribution services was the most commonly (n=14) endorsed 

barrier by interviewees of all types, including small farmers, non‐profits, and food 

producers. Lack of cold storage was the second‐most commonly (n=13) endorsed barrier, 

followed by lack of access to a commercial kitchen space (n=12), business technical 

assistance (n=10), and the city’s permitting process and limitations (n=9).  

Lack of access to markets or marketing supports, the high cost of labor and availability of 

skilled labor (both farm labor and artisan food production, for example, bakers), and lack 

of culturally‐specific supports (translation services, culturally‐specific food education, and 

lack of spaces to grow culturally‐specific foods) were all endorsed as barriers by six 

interviewees. Unstable pricing and/or demand was endorsed as barriers by five 

interviewees.  

Other barriers endorsed by interviewees included creating connections for producers, 

purchasers, and consumers, credit lines, loans, and grants, and lack of a food cart pod in 

south Corvallis (each endorsed by four 

interviewees). A future food truck owner explained 

a lack of place to park a food truck when not at an 

event was a barrier, two small farmers endorsed 

lack of supports around accepting SNAP and 

Double‐Up Food Bucks limited their ability to 

accept those services, an environmental education non‐profit is limited by a lack of 

supports for grant writing and evaluation, two restaurant owners want to purchase more 

local meat but it’s not available in the quantities they need, a dietician and a farmer’s 

market manager expressed a lack of public transportation‐accessible options for local 

food (especially in the winter), and a fish monger, a small farmer, and a restaurant all 

expressed travel time and travel costs were barriers.  

“The general sentiment is, ‘if I can 

start a food truck I can feed the 

community and feed my family’.”     

  – Culturally specific non‐profit 

Page 140 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Inventory of Equipment           Submitted March 26, 2024  Page 12 of 15 

Community survey question: Which of the following barriers to procuring local food do you 

experience? (select all that apply) (n=92 locally owned food businesses) 

  

Other responses (n=8) included logistics complications more generally, meeting 

distributor minimums, needing to pick and process solo, state laws that limit dairy retail, 

and “all of the above – but it’s what we do”. 

Additionally, the specific product from respondents who endorsed “product isn’t 

available locally” are listed below: 

Bread (n=3), including “specific bread in the amounts that I need”; Fruits (n=3), including 
fresh blueberries, figs, melons, and applesauce; Flour (n=3), including organic white 
flour; Asian products (n=2), including rice, pastas, coconut cream, diff types if chilies, 
fish sauces; Baking ingredients (n=2), including dry goods, spices, leaveners, oil and 
sugar; Chocolate (n=2), including chocolate hazelnut butter; Spices (n=2), including spice 
mixes; Tropical fruits (n=2), including small bananas, coconut, fresh and dried tropical 
fruits; Vegetables (n=2) including specific produce including: asparagus, fresh 
beans/peas, broccoli, cauliflower, quality garlic with *Large* cloves, potatoes 
sometimes, sweet potatoes, fresh produce during winter months; Canned goods; 
Condiments; Dried beans and grains; Low FODMAP foods; microgreens seeds; Plant 
based dairy alternatives (yogurt, cheese, etc); Tofu 
“Sometimes the quality of a local produce item is sadly not as good as a non‐local item 
and that's a hard choice to make.” 

   

3

5

13

19

19

20

26

26

26

39

41

0 10 20 30 40

Lack of cold chain integrity/food safety

Incorrect package size or format for my use

Lack of sufficient volume for my needs

Lack of relationship with local suppliers

Storage space

Distribution disruptions

Increased time needed to coordinate many deliveries

Increased time needed to coordinate many orders

Product isn’t available locally 

Unaffordable price

Irregular supply

-■ 

Page 141 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Inventory of Equipment           Submitted March 26, 2024  Page 13 of 15 

 2.1 (d) Community partnerships available and needed to operate a Food Hub 

The consultant team identified community partnerships available and needed to 
operate a Food Hub. The selected operators are encouraged to collaborate with the 
consultant team which will provide warm handoffs to these community partners, all of 
whom expect those noted by asterisks have confirmed their interest in partnering and 
collaborating:  

Service provided  Community partner 

Fiscal Sponsorship   Benton Community Foundation 

Technical Assistance   Central Coast Food Web 

 Hummingbird Wholesale 

 North Coast Food Web 

 Oregon Community Food Systems Network 

 Oregon State University Small Farms Program 

 Organically Grown Company 

Potential Users   Corvallis Albany Farmers Market 

 Corvallis Indoor Winter Market 

 Corvallis Southside Market 

 First Alternative Co‐op 
 Flicker & Fir (South Corvallis Farmstead & Market) 

 Many individual farmers and food producers 

 Many individual local restaurant owners 

 Oregon State University Basic Needs Center 
 Oregon State University Dining Services 

Non‐profit partners   Casa Latinos Unidos 
 Corvallis Environmental Center Farm to School 

 Corvallis Sustainability Coalition 
 Fresh & Local First 
 Gleaning program of Linn Benton Food Share 

 Growing Ancestral Roots (Cascade Pacific RC&D)* 
 Linn‐Benton‐Lincoln Health Equity Alliance* 
 Meals on Wheels (OCWCOG) 

 NAACP (Linn‐Benton Chapter) 
 RAIN  
 SAGE Garden 
 Slow Food 
 South Corvallis Food Pantry 
 Stone Soup 
 Ten Rivers Food Web 

 Willamette Farm & Food Coalition 

 

Page 142 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Inventory of Equipment           Submitted March 26, 2024  Page 14 of 15 

 2.1 (e) Funding available and projected to support long‐term fiscal sustainability 

This food system assessment was funded through the American Rescue Plan Act and 

matching funds from the Economic Development Office (EDO), a shared office of the 

City of Corvallis and Benton County. A fiscally viable Food Hub will generate revenue 

through activities, but may also benefit from additional sources of funding. A snapshot 

of available and projected funding sources is below, although these this project may not 

be eligible for each source listed.  

Eligibility  Community partner 

501(c)(3) or 
government entities 

 Oregon Community Foundation (link) 

 Ford Foundation (link) 
 Roundhouse Foundation (link) 
 USDA: Regional Food Systems Partnerships (link) 

 USDA: Rural Microentrepreneur Assistance 
Program in Oregon (link) 

 USDA NIFA: Community Food Projects (link) 

 Oregon Food Bank Network Support Funds (link) 

501(c)(3) only   Simply Organic (income less than $7M) (link) 

 Lisa and Douglas Goldman Fund (link) 

 Spirit Mountain Community Fun (link) 

 The Schlesinger Family Foundation (link) 

 Benton Community Foundation (various grant 
programs) 

 Meyer Memorial Trust (various grant programs) 

By invitation only   Lazar Foundation (501(c)(3) only) (link) 
 Wild Rivers Alliance (link) 

Regional, state, or 
local public‐private 
partnerships 

 USDA Healthy Food Financing Initiative (link) 

No limitations   US Congress Fiscal Year Appropriations  
 Bank of America (link) 

Government entities 
only 

 USDA Farmers Market Promotion Program (link) 

 

 

End of Inventory of Equipment 
   

Page 143 of 220



South Corvallis Food Hub: Inventory of Equipment           Submitted March 26, 2024  Page 15 of 15 

Appendix A: Interview Respondents 
 

The name of the business or organization interviewees identified are listed in alphabetical order. 
Some informal conversations with additional food system subject matter experts were also 
conducted but not listed, including with OSU Small Farms program, Oregon Community Food 
System Network, Benton Community Foundation, and many others. 

 
 
Small businesses, aspiring small businesses, 
and small business support:  

 Beer Place 

 Castor 

 Corazon 

 Crust worthy (pop‐up Pizza band) 

 Current food system worker and 
aspiring owner 

 Downward Dog 

 Forks & Corks 

 Kell's Koffee 

 Lucca 

 Murphy’s 

 Naked Crepe 

 Oregon’s Choice Gourmet/The Tinned 
Fish Shop 

 RAIN Entrepreneurial network 

 Two Towns Cider 

 Violette Food Truck 

 Whole Flower Farms 

 Wild Yeast Bakery 
 
Food system subject experts: 

 Ag Biodiversity Consulting 

 Instructors at OSU in Horticulture and 
Sustainability Departments 

 Local Dietician 

 Producer buyers at the First Alternative 
Co‐op 

 South Corvallis community member 

 South Corvallis Urban Renewal District 
campaign worker 

 Urban planner 

 Vegucation Station 
 
 

Local small and medium farms: 

 Burnt Woods Garlic Farm 

 Camron Ridge/Small Farm 

 Cross Eyed Cricket Farm 

 Eloisa Farms 

 Gathering Together Farms 

 Grassward Dairy  

 Hiatt Farm 

 Little Garden Organics 

 Moku Chocolate 

 Rainshine Farm 

 Riverland Farms 

 SolCycle Farm and Confluence Farm 

 Trempler Family Farms 
 
 
Non‐profits: 

 Casa Latinos Unidos 

 Corvallis Albany Farmers Markets 
(manager and board member) 

 Corvallis Farm to School 

 Corvallis Sustainability Coalition Food 
Action Team member and co‐facilitator 

 Fresh and Local First 

 Jammin for the Hungry 

 Linn Benton Food Share Gleaner 

 NAACP: Health and Wellness 

 SAGE garden 

 Slow Food 

 South Corvallis Food Bank 

 Stone Soup 

 Vina Moses 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 144 of 220



BOC Agenda Checklist Final Approval

Agenda Placement and Contacts

Suggested Agenda
Date

View Agenda Tracker

Suggested
Placement*

Department*

Contact Name *

Phone Extension*

Meeting Attendee
Name *

Item Title *

Item Involves*

Estimated Time *

Board/Committee
Involvement*

06/18/24

BOC Tuesday Meeting

Board of Commissioners

Cory Grogan

6843

Cory Grogan, James Morales

Agenda Item Details

Benton County Elections Integrity Informational Video

Check all that apply
Appointments
Budget
Contract/Agreement
Discussion and Action
Discussion Only
Document Recording
Employment
Notice of Intent
Order/Resolution
Ordinance/Public Hearing 1st Reading
Ordinance/Public Hearing 2nd Reading
Proclamation
Project/Committee Update
Public Comment
Special Report
Other Information and Education

15

Yes
No

r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
~ 

r 
r-

Page 145 of 220

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1S2peKETqeC8LwBJ3LVhQ1eRm_0Lt4i8Zh9nFeOzJ40Y


Advertisement* Yes
No:) 

J Page 146 of 220



Issues and Fiscal Impact

Identified Salient
Issues*

Options*

Fiscal Impact*

Item Issues and Description

n/a

n/a

Yes
No:) 

J 

Page 147 of 220



2040 Thriving Communities Initiative

2040 Thriving Communities Initiative
Describe how this agenda checklist advances the core values or focus areas of 2040, or supports a strategy of a
departmental goal.

To review the initiative, visit the website HERE.

Mandated
Service?*

Core Values*

Explain Core Values
Selections*

Focus Areas and
Vision*

Explain Focus Areas
and Vision
Selection*

Yes
No

Values and Focus Areas
Check boxes that reflect each applicable value or focus area and explain how they will be advanced.

Select all that apply.
Vibrant, Livable Communities
Supportive People Resources
High Quality Environment and Access
Diverse Economy that Fits
Community Resilience
Equity for Everyone
Health in All Actions
N/A

Transparency about the elections and voting process.

Select all that apply.
Community Safety
Emergency Preparedness
Outdoor Recreation
Prosperous Economy
Environment and Natural Resources
Mobility and Transportation
Housing and Growth
Arts, Entertainment, Culture, and History
Food and Agriculture
Lifelong Learning and Education
N/A

The video is intended to educate voters, increase voter participation, ensure
transparency, address common questions, be accessible, and combat
misinformation.

(" 

r-

r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
~ 

r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
~ 

r 

Page 148 of 220

https://thebee.in.co.benton.or.us/2040


Recommendations and Motions

Staff
Recommendations*

Meeting Motions*

Item Recommendations and Motions

Staff recommends presenting this video for awareness of the public.

I move to ...
n/a

Page 149 of 220



Attachments, Comments, and Submission

Attachments

Comments (optional)

Department
Approver

Item Comments and Attachments

Upload any attachments to be included in the agenda, preferably as PDF files. If more than one
attachment / exhibit, please indicate "1", "2", "3" or "A", "B", "C" on the documents.

Title of video is "BCO Elections Integrity FULL 2024 v1." The video is five minutes
and thirty-seven seconds in duration.

Video is found on YouTube at https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=hKs-S5d_wVw
If you have any questions, please call ext.6800

AMANDA MAKEPEACE

Page 150 of 220



 

1. 

 
 

2. 

 

3. 
 

 
 

4.  

 

Page 151 of 220



CONSENT CALENDAR 

Page 152 of 220



BOC Agenda Checklist Master

Agenda Placement and Contacts

Suggested Agenda
Date

View Agenda Tracker

Suggested
Placement*

Department*

Contact Name *

Phone Extension*

Meeting Attendee
Name *

Item Title *

Item Involves*

Estimated Time *

Board/Committee
Involvement*

06/18/24

BOC Tuesday Meeting

Sheriff's Office

Dawn Dale

6884

Dawn Dale

Agenda Item Details

Renewal of Annual Liquor Licenses for FY 2024-25

Check all that apply
Appointments
Budget
Contract/Agreement
Discussion and Action
Discussion Only
Document Recording
Employment
Notice of Intent
Order/Resolution
Ordinance/Public Hearing 1st Reading
Ordinance/Public Hearing 2nd Reading
Proclamation
Project/Committee Update
Public Comment
Special Report
Other Consent Calendar

5 Minutes

Yes
No

r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
17 

r 
r-

Page 153 of 220

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1S2peKETqeC8LwBJ3LVhQ1eRm_0Lt4i8Zh9nFeOzJ40Y


Advertisement* Yes
No

r 
(,' 

Page 154 of 220



Issues and Fiscal Impact

Identified Salient
Issues*

Options*

Fiscal Impact*

Item Issues and Description

Local government can review the renewal of liquor licenses endorsements, and
may make one of the following recommendations to the OLCC: 
� The local government can file an unfavorable recommendation with the
commission with a statement of the grounds for the unfavorable recommendation;
or
� The local government can file a request for additional time with the commission
that sets forth the reason additional time is needed by the local government, a
statement that the local government is considering making an unfavorable
recommendation on the application, and the specific grounds on which the local
government is considering making an unfavorable recommendation.
� The local government can file an unfavorable recommendation with the OLCC
along with a statement of the grounds for the unfavorable recommendation.
Grounds for an unfavorable recommendation would be based on an applicant
committing violations as outlined in ORS 471.313 (4) (5) (Grounds for refusing to
issue license), If the OLCC does not receive communication from the local
government within 60 days after notice is given, they will proceed as though a
favorable recommendation was given.
Please Note: All applicants have passed the criminal history check conducted by
the Sheriff’s Office.

1. File a favorable recommendation with the OLCC regarding this application.
2. Request that OLCC grant additional time to study the application before making
a recommendation.
3. File an unfavorable recommendation with the OLCC along with a statement of
the grounds for the unfavorable recommendation.

Yes
No:) 

v 
Page 155 of 220



2040 Thriving Communities Initiative

Mandated
Service?*

2040 Thriving Communities Initiative
Describe how this agenda checklist advances the core values or focus areas of 2040, or supports a strategy of a
departmental goal.

To review the initiative, visit the website HERE.

Mandated Service
Description*

Core Values*

Explain Core Values
Selections*

Yes
No

If this agenda checklist describes a mandated service or other function, please describe here.
ORS 471.166 Local government recommendations on license issuance and
renewal. (1) The Oregon Liquor Control Commission may require that every
applicant for issuance or renewal of a license under this chapter acquire a written
recommendation from the governing body of the county if the place of business of
the applicant is outside an incorporated city, and from the city council if the place
of business of the applicant is within an incorporated city. The commission may
take such written recommendations into consideration before granting or refusing
the license. (3) If the commission requires that an applicant for renewal of a license
acquire the written recommendation of a local government under this section, the
commission shall give notice to the local government when an application is due for
renewal of the license. If the local government files a favorable recommendation
with the commission within 60 days after the notice is given, the commission shall
proceed with consideration of the application. The commission shall proceed with
consideration of the application as though the local government had made a
favorable recommendation unless within 60 days after notice is given to the local
government: (a) The local government files an unfavorable recommendation with
the commission with a statement of the grounds for the unfavorable
recommendation; or (b) The local government files a request for additional time
with the commission that sets forth the reason additional time is needed by the
local government, a statement that the local government is considering making an
unfavorable recommendation on the application, and the specific grounds on which
the local government is considering making an unfavorable recommendation

Values and Focus Areas
Check boxes that reflect each applicable value or focus area and explain how they will be advanced.

Select all that apply.
Vibrant, Livable Communities
Supportive People Resources
High Quality Environment and Access
Diverse Economy that Fits
Community Resilience
Equity for Everyone
Health in All Actions
N/A

N/A

r
r 

r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
~ 

Page 156 of 220

https://thebee.in.co.benton.or.us/2040


Focus Areas and
Vision*

Explain Focus Areas
and Vision
Selection*

Select all that apply.
Community Safety
Emergency Preparedness
Outdoor Recreation
Prosperous Economy
Environment and Natural Resources
Mobility and Transportation
Housing and Growth
Arts, Entertainment, Culture, and History
Food and Agriculture
Lifelong Learning and Education
N/A

N/A

r 
r 
n 
fJ 
n 
fJ 
fJ 
n 
r 
r 
~ 

Page 157 of 220



Recommendations and Motions

Staff
Recommendations*

Meeting Motions*

Item Recommendations and Motions

Sheriff Jef Van Arsdall respectfully recommends the approval of the endorsement
of the liquor license applications.

I move to ...
The Board of Commissioners moves to endorse the liquor license renewal
applications for the period of July 1, 2024, through June 30, 2025, as presented.

Page 158 of 220



Attachments, Comments, and Submission

Attachments

Comments (optional)

Department
Approver

Item Comments and Attachments

Upload any attachments to be included in the agenda, preferably as PDF files. If more than one
attachment / exhibit, please indicate "1", "2", "3" or "A", "B", "C" on the documents.

2024-25 Benton County Liquor License

Applications.pdf
4.7MB

If you have any questions, please call ext.6800

JEFRI VANARSDALL

Page 159 of 220



1. Dept Approval 5. 

2. 

3. 

4.

Department Approval 

Comments 

Signature 

County Adlmiinistrator Approval 

Comments 

Signature 

BOC Final Approval 

Comments 

Signature 

Page 160 of 220



2024-25 Benton County Liquor License Applications 

Alpine Tavern 
25200 Alpine Rd 
Monroe, OR 97456 

Bellfountain Country Store 
26720 Bellfountain Road 
Monroe, OR 97456 

Blodgett Country Store* 
21412 HWY 20 
Blodgett, OR 97326 

City Limits 
5800 NW HWY 99W 
Corvallis, OR 97330 

Country Market & Deli 
310 NW 53rd Street 
Corvallis, OR 97330 

Deb's Cafe 
185 W. Main 
Alsea, OR 97324 

Garland Nursery LLC 
5470 NE HWY 20 
Corvallis, OR 97330 

Gathering Together Farm* 
25159 Grange Hall Rd 
Philomath, OR 97370 

Golf City/ The Pub 
2115 NE Hwy 20 
Corvallis, OR 97330 

Greenberry Store & Tavern 
29974 HWY 99 W 
Corvallis, OR97330 

Jacksons Food Stores #108 
655 North Albany Rd NW 
Albany, OR 97321 

John Boy's Alsea Mercantile 
186 E Main 
Alsea, OR 97324 

Spring Hill Country Club 
155 Country Club Lane NW 
Albany, OR 97321 

The Woodsman 
529 Main St 
Philomath, OR 97370 

*OLCC Application not available as of 
6/3/24 

Page 161 of 220



Oregon Liquor Control Commission 
PO Box 22297, Milwaukie, OR 97269 1-800-452-6522 

License Renewal Aoolication 

Your Due Date For Renewal is June 10, 2024. 

I License Tree: FULL ON-PREMISES SALES I District: 3 I License: 370606 l Premises: 3999 l Code: 225 

DRIFTY LLC 
A TIN ANDREA HOOPER 
PO BOX 171 
MONROE, OR 97456 

Server Education Designee(s) 
HOOPER, ANDREA 6/'2/'2026 

0 erational uestions: 

Licensee(s) DRIITY LLC 

Tradename ALPINE TA VERN 
25200 ALPINE RD 
MONROE OR 9745§ 

(1) If there has been a change in your Server Education Designee please 
list the new person's full name and date of birth. 

Name ______________ _ 

(2) List contact information for the business. 

(3) List all arrests or convictions for any crime, violation, or infraction of 
any law during the last 18 months even if they are not liquor related for 
any owner of the business. Attach additional sheet of paper to back of 
form ifneeded. 

(4) List Insurance Company and Policy#. Under ORS 471295 (2), you 
are required to maintain a Liquor Liability policy of NO LESS THAN 
$300,000. 

(S) Were there any changes of ownership (i.e.: add/drop partners, change 
to corporations, etc.) not reported to the OLCC in the last year? 

(6) Did you make any significant changes in operation during the past 
year that you have not reported to the OLCC, such as changes in menu, 
hours of operation, or remodeling? 

DOB 

Email: 
Result 

NO O YES"" EXPLAIN: 

NO O YES"" tXPLAIN: 

IMPORT ANT: Failure to fully disclose any information requested, or providing false or misleading 
information on this form is grounds to refuse to renew the license. YOUR LICENSE EXPIRES ON 

06/30/2024. If you do not renew before this date, you must stop selling or serving alcohol immediately. NO 
EXCEPTIONS! Selling or serving alcohol with an expired license is a crime. 

Page 162 of 220



Oregon Liquor and Cannabis Commission 
PO Box 22297, Milwaukie, OR 97269 1-800-452-6522 

License Renewal Application 

Your Due Date For Renewal is June 10, 2024. 

! License Type: OFF-PREMISES SALES ! District: 3 I License: 373358 ! Premises: 65847 ! Code: 227 

FREELS, RE BEKAH 
2S803 FOSTER RD 
MONROE, OR 974S6 

0 erational uestions: 
(1) List contact information for the business. 

Licensee(s) 

Trade name 

(2) List all arrests or convictions for any crime, violation, or infraction of 
any law during the last 18 months even if they are not liquor related for 
any owner of the business. Attach additional sheet of paper to back of 
form if needed. 

(3) Were there any changes of ownership (i.e.: add/drop partners, change 
to corporations, etc.) not reported to the OLCC in the last year? 

( 4) Did you make any significant changes in operation during the past 
year that you have not reported to the OLCC, such as changes in menu, 
hours of operation, or remodeling? 

(S) Will you be holding beer or wine tastings at your location, other than 
those conducted by a manufacturer? 

FREELS, REBEKAH 

BELLFOUNT AIN COUNTRY STORE 
26720 BELLFOUNT AIN RD 
MONROE OR 97456 

NO O YES c:r EXPLAIN: 

NO DYES er EXPLAIN: 

IMPORT ANT: Failure to fully disclose any information requested, or providing false or misleading 
information on this form is grounds to refuse to renew the license. YOUR LICENSE EXPIRES ON 

06/30/2024. If you do not renew before this date, you must stop selling or serving alcohol immediately. NO 
EXCEPTIONS! Selling or serving alcohol with an expired license is a crime. 

Page 163 of 220



Oregon Liquor and Cannabis Commission 
PO Box 22297, Milwaukie, OR 97269 1-800-452-6522 

License Renewal Application 

Your Due Date For Renewal is June 10, 2024. 

! License Type: OFF-PREMISES SALES I District: 3 I License: 367310 I Premises: 4011 I Code: 227 

FRENCHAY INVESTMENTSLLC 
5800HWY99W 

Licensee(s) FRENCHA Y INVESTMENTS LLC 

CORVALLIS, OR 97330 

Tradename 

Operational Questions: 
(1) List contact infonnation for the business. 

(2) List all arrests or convictions for any crime, violation, or infraction of 
any law during the last 18 months even if they are not liquor related for 
any owner of the business. Attach additional sheet of paper to back of 
fonn if needed. 

(3) Were there any changes of ownership (i.e.: add/drop partners, change 
to corporations, etc.) not reported to the OLCC in the last year? 

(4) Did you make any significant changes in operation during the past 
year that you have not reported to the OLCC, such as changes in menu, 
hours of operation, or remodeling? 

(5) Will you be holding beer or wine tastings at your location, other than 
those conducted by a manufacturer? 

CITY LIMITS 
5800 HWY 99W 
CORY ALLIS OR 97330 

Phone Number: <°ul "'l--uc"'° :,--(j lL '1 
Email: +\IL-iC.L\ v~ {:a.)cli) lkCltS1 .l\Jc 
Name Offense Date Ci!}'./State Result 

(\ I q 

9\,NO O YES er EXPLAIN: 

-
JiJ NO O YES er EXPLAIN: 

J'.NO D YES 

IMPORT ANT: Failure to fully disclose any information requested, or providing false or misleading 
information on this form is grounds to refuse to renew the license. YOUR LICENSE EXPIRES ON 

06/30/2024. H you do not renew before this date, you must stop selling or serving alcohol immediately. NO 
EXCEPTIONS! Selling or serving alcohol with an expired license is a crime. 

Page 164 of 220



Oregon Liquor and Cannabis Commission 
PO Box 22297, Milwaukie, OR 97269 l-800-452-6522 

License Renewal Application 

Your Due Date For Renewal is June 10, 2024. 

I License Tree: OFF-PREMISES SALES 

Pl69LLC 
Pl69 LLC 
310 NW 53RD ST _ 
CORY ALLIS, OR 97330 

I District: 3 I License: 367131 I Premises: 7618 

Licensee(s) Pl69 LLC 

I Code: 227 

Trade name COUNTRY MARKET & DELI 
310 NW 53RD ST 
CORVALLIS OR 97330 

0 erational uestions: 
(I) List contact infonnation for the business. 

(2) List all arrests or convictions for any crime, violation, or infraction of 
any law during the last 18 months even if they are not liquor related for 
any owner of the business. Attach additional sheet of paper to back of 
form ifneeded. 

(3) Were there any changes of ownership (i.e.: add/drop partners, change 
to corporations, etc.) not reported to the OLCC in the last year? 

(4) Did.you make any significant changes in operation during the past 
year that you have not reported to the OLCC, such as changes in menu, 
hours of operation, or remodeling? 

(S) Will you be holding beer or wine tastings at your location, other than 
those conducted by a manufacturer? • 

Name 

NO O YES a,- EXPLAIN: 

NO □ YES a,- EXPLAIN: 

IMPORTANT: Failure to fully disclose any information requested, or providing false or misleading 
information on this form is grounds to refuse to renew the license. YOUR LICENSE EXPIRES ON 

06/30/2024. If you do not renew before this date, you must stop selling or serving alcohol immediately. NO 
EXCEPTIONS! Selling or serving alcohol with an expired license is a crime. 

Page 165 of 220



Oregon Liquor and Cannabis Commission 
PO Box 22297, Milwaukie, OR 97269 1-800-452-6522 

License Renewal Application 

Your Due Date For Renewal is June 10, 2024. 

license Type: LIMITED ON-PREMISES SALES District: 3 license: 367465 Premises: 48227 Code: 226 

DEB'S CAFE LLC 
185WMAIN 
ALSEA, OR 97324 

Licensee(s) DEB'S CAFE LLC 

Server Education Designee(s) 
LINDBERG, DEBRA K 5/1S/2024 

0 erational uestions: 

'iER. VER Tradename 
EDUCA'TION 
EXPIRED! 

(1) If there has been a change in your Server Education Designee please 
list the new person's full name and date of birth. 

(2) List contact information for the business. 

(3) List all arrests or convictions for any crime, violation, or infraction of 
any law during the last 18 months even if they are not liquor related for 
any owner of the business. Attach additional sheet of paper to back of 
form if needed. 

(4) List Insurance Company and Policy#. Under ORS 471.295 (2), you 
are required to maintain a Liquor Liability policy of NO LESS THAN 
$300,000. 

(S) Were there any changes of ownership (i.e.: add/drop partners, change 
to corporations, etc.) not reported to the OLCC in the last year? 

(6) Did you make any significant changes in operation during the past 
year that you have not reported to the OLCC, such as changes in menu, 
hours of operation, or remodeling? 

DEB'S CAFE 
185WMAIN 
ALSEA OR 97324 

Name _____________ _ 
DOB 

Phone Number: 
Email: 

Insurance Company 

"(\\)\!~£,~,ct 
Policy # tD <:a)- lOS S 'ZD b, D 
!StNO □ YES <7" EXPLAIN: 

~NO □ YES <7" EXPLAIN: 

IMPORTANT: Failure to fully disclose any information requested, or providing false or misleading 
information on this form is grounds to refuse to renew the license. YOUR LICENSE EXPIRES ON 

06/30/2024. lfyou do not renew before this date, you must stop selling or serving alcohol immediately. 
NO EXCEPTIONS! Selling or serving alcohol with an expired license is a crime. 

Page 166 of 220



Oregon Liquor and Cannabis Commission 
PO Box 22297, Milwaukie, OR 97269 1-800-452-6522 

License Renewal Application 

Your Due Date For Renewal is June 10, 2024. 

I License TyPe: OFF-PREMISES SALES I District: 3 I License: 367646 I Premises: 43589 I Code: 227 

CARLA D NURSERY LLC 
5470 E HWY 20 
CORY ALLIS, OR 97330 

0 erational Questions: 
(1) List contact infonnation for the business. 

Licensee(s) 

Tradename 

(2) List all arrests or convictions for any crime, violation, or infraction of 
any law during the last 18 months even if they are not liquor related for 
any owner of the business. Attach additional sheet of paper to back of 
fonn if needed. 

(3) Were there any changes of ownership (i.e.: add/drop partners, change 
to corporations, etc.) not reported to the OLCC in the last year? 

(4) Did you make any significant changes in operation during the past 
year that you have not reported to the OLCC, such as changes in menu, 
hours of operation, or remodeling? 

(5) Will you be holding beer or wine tastings at your location, other than 
those conducted by a manufacturer? 

CARLA D NURSERY LLC 

GARLAND NURSERY 
5470 NE HWY 20 
CORY ALLIS OR 97330 

NO □ YES er EXPLAIN: 

NO □ YES r:r EXPLAIN: 

IMPORTANT: Failure to fully disclose any information requested, or providing false or misleading 
information on this form is grounds to refuse to renew the license. YOUR LICENSE EXPmES ON 

06/30/2024. If you do not renew before this date, you must stop selling or serving alcohol immediately. 0 
EXCEPTIO S! Selling or serving alcohol with an expired license is a crime. 

Page 167 of 220



Oregon Liquor and Cannabis Commission 
PO Box 22297, Milwaukie, OR 97269 l-800-452-6522 

License Renewal Annlication 

Your Due Date For Renewal is June 10, 2024. 

License Type: LIMITED ON-PREMISES SALES District: 3 License: 367801 Premises: 4009 

HAYS ENTERPRISES INC 
2115 NE HWY 20 
CORVALLIS, OR 97330 

Server Education Designee(s) 
HAYS, JAMES W 3/26/2029 

Operational Questions: 

Licensee(s) HAYS ENTERPRJSES INC 

Tradename GOLF CITY / THE PUB 
2115 NE HWY 20 
CORVALLIS OR 97330 

(I) If there has been a change in your Server Education Designee please Name 1...l I JI ~ 

list the new person's full name and date of birth. DOB • ,, Ji"! 

(2) List contact information for the business. 
Phone Number: '{'t I -1<i -l l \ ( 
Email: r,,,.J; ,;ad i> 4-I., ,_ 
Name ' Offense Date City/State 

(3) List aJI arrests or convictions for any crime, violation, or infraction of 
any law during the last 18 months even if they are not liquor related for )\a'<'~ any owner of the business. Attach additional sheet of paper to back of 
fonn if needed. 

Code: 226 

Result 

Insurance Compan~ 
(4) List Insurance Company and Policy #. Under ORS 471 .295 (2), you l1+ Ve111cV' 'l",~ ~ (g_ 
are required to maintain a Liquor Liability policy of NO LESS THAN c o,.fi.i, ,A- u~ l,"4: I;~ k'\ i 
$300,000. 

Policy # LQ 2Qt014~ 
~O O YES er EXPLAIN: 

(5) Were there any changes of ownership (i.e.: add/drop partners, change 
to corporations, etc.) not reported to the OLCC in the last year? 

(6) Did you make any significant changes in operation during the past 
~ O O YES r:r EXPLAIN: 

year that you have not reported to the OLCC, such as changes in menu, 
ho~ of operation, or remodeling? 

IMPORTANT: Failure to fully disclose any information requested, or providing false or misleading 
information on this form is grounds to refuse to renew the license. YOUR LICENSE EXPIRES ON 

06/30/2024. If you do not renew before this date, you must stop selling or serving alcohol immediately. 
NO EXCEPTIONS! Selling or serving alcohol with an expired license is a crime. 

Page 168 of 220



- -
PO Box 22297, Milwaukie, OR 97269 J-800-452-6522 

License Renewal A lication 

Your Due Date For Renewal is June 10, 2024. 

! license T)lf}e: FULL ON-PREMISES SALES I District: 3 I License: 367812 I Premises: 4002 I Code: 225 

GREENBERRY STORE & TA VERN LLC 
29974 HWY 99 W 

Licensee(s) GREENBERRY STORE & TA VERN LLC 

CORY ALLIS, OR 97333 

Server Education Designee(s) 
AYRES, VMAN J 4/30/2027 

Tradename GREENBERRY STORE & TA VERN 
29974 HWY 99 W 

0 erational uestions: 
(I) If there has been a change in your Server Education Designee please 
list the new person's full name and date of birth. 

(2) List contact infonnation for the business. 

(3) List all arrests or convictions for any crime, violation, or infraction of 
any law during the last 18 months even if they are not liquor related for 
any owner of the business. Attach additional sheet of paper to back of 
fonn if needed. 

(4) List Insurance Company and Policy#. Under ORS 471.295 (2), you 
are required to maintain a Liquor Liability policy of NO LESS THAN 
$300,000. 

(5) Were there any changes of ownership (i.e.: add/drop partners, change 
to corporations, etc.) not reported to the OLCC in the last year? 

(6) Did you make any significant changes in operation during the past - 
year that you have not reported to the OLCC, such as changes in menu, 
hours of operation, or remodeling? 

CORY ALLIS OR 97333 

Name _______ _______ _ 
DOB 

Insurance Company 

(\prJhf,dd~{;~ 
Policy # vJ5':fi2_~fa / 

NO □ YES cr EXPLAIN: 

NO □ YES er ExPI .AJN; _ 

IMPORTANT: Failure to fully disclose any information requested, or providing false or misleading 
information on this form is grounds to refuse to renew the license. YOUR LICENSE EXPIRES ON 

06/30/2024. If you do not renew before this date, you must stop selling or serving alcohol immediately. NO 
EXCEPTIONS! Selling or serving alcohol with an expired license is a crime. 

Page 169 of 220



Oregon Liquor and Cannabis Commission 
PO Box 22297, Milwaukie, OR 97269 1-800-452-6522 

License Renewal Application 

Your Due Date For Renewal is June 10, 2024. 

License T e: OFF-PREMISES SALES 

JACKSONS FOOD STORES INC 
3450 COMMERCIAL CT 
MERIDIAN, ID 83642 

District: 3 License: 367928 

Licensee(s) JACKSONS FOOD STORES INC 

Code: 227 

Tradename JACKSONS FOOD STORES #108 
655 N ALBANY RD NW 
ALBANY OR 97321 

Operational Questions: 
(I) List contact information for the business. 

Phone Number: 208-884-GGC:Q 
Email: (CCI ;r,,.nc:ina/@;--1----- r~-

Name Offense Date Ci!Y/State Result 
(2) List all arrests or convictions for any crime, violation, or· infraction of 
any law during the last 18 months even if they are not liquor related for NOt--l.f:. 
any owner of the business. Attach additional sheet of pap~r to back of 
form if needed. 

~ NO O YES <:r EXPLAIN: 
(3) Were there any changes of ownership (i.e.: add/drop partners, change 
to corporations, etc.) not reported to the OLCC in the last year? 

(4) Did you make any significant changes in operation during the past 
f1 NO O YES ,:r EXPLAIN: 

year that you have not reported to the OLCC, such as changes in menu, 
hours of operation, or remodeling? 

(5) Will you be holding beer or wine tastings at your location, other than 1 NO D YES 

those conducted by a manufacturer? 

IMPORTANT: Failure to fully disclose any information requested, or providing false or misleading 
information on this form is grounds to ·refuse to renew the license. YOUR LICENSE EXPIRES ON 

06/30/2024. If you do not renew before this date, you must stop selling or serving alcohol immediately. NO 
EXCEPTIONS! Selling or serving alcohol with an expired license is a crime. 

Page 170 of 220



Oregon Liquor and Cannabis Commission 
PO Box 22297, Milwaukie, OR 97269 1-800-452-6522 

License Renewal Application 

Your Due Date For Renewal is June 10, 2024. 

I License Type: OFF-PREMISES SALES I District: 3 I License: 367953 I Premises: 3998 I Code: 221 

JOHN BOYS ALSEA MERCANTILE INC 
PO BOX26 
ALSEA, OR 97324 

Operational Questions: 
(1) List contact infonnation for the business. 

Licensee(s) 

Tradename 

(2) List all arrests or convictions for any crime, violation, or infraction of 
any law during the last 18 months even if they are not liquor related for 
any owner of the business. Attach additional sheet of paper to back of 
fonn ifneeded. 

(3) Were there any changes of ownership (i.e.: add/drop partners, change 
to corporations, etc.) not reported to the OLCC in the last year? 

(4) Did you make any significant changes in operation during the past 
year that you have not reported to the OLCC, such as changes in menu, 
hours of operation, or remodeling? 

(S) Will you be holding beer or wine tastings at your location, other than 
those conducted by a manufacturer? 

JOHN BOYS ALSEA MERCANTILE INC 

JOHN BOY'S ALSEA MERCANTD...E 
186 EMAIN 
ALSEA OR 97324 

Phone Number: '5 -J I ~ 4 g7 - 4'-1 (,. ';,] 
Email: \ c• vi. Y\ h v . <: 'rl'I r". r ,, .r.--?r;M(• ~ \ , f ' , n, 
Name v Offense -Oate City/Stati Result 

13 NO O YES rr EXPLAIN: 

IB'NO O YES rr EXPLAIN: 

!:;-NO O YES 

IMPORTANT: Failure to fully disclose any information requested, or providing false or misleading 
information on this form is grounds to refuse to renew the license. YOUR LICENSE EXPIRES ON 

06/30/2024. If you do not renew before this date, you must stop selling or serving alcohol immediately. NO 
EXCEPTIONS! Selling or serving alcohol with an expired license is a crime. 

Page 171 of 220



Oregon Liquor and Cannabis Commission 
PO Box 22297, Milwaukie, OR 97269 1-800-452-6522 

License Renewal Application 

Your Due Date For Renewal is June 10, 2024. 

! license Type: FULL ON-PREMISES SALES CLU I District: 3 I License: 368877 I Premises: 3497 I Code: 225 

SPRING HILL MA AGEMENT LLC 
I 55 COUNTRY CLUB LN NW 
ALBANY, OR 97321 

Server Education Designee(s) 
PELTIER, MATTHEWS 5/24/2026 

Operational Questions: 

licensee(s) 

Tradename 

(1) If there has been a change in your Server Education Designee please 
list the new person's full name and date of birth. 

(2) List contact information for the business. 

(3) List all arrests or convictions for any crime, violation, or infraction of 
any law during the last 18 months even if they are not liquor related for 
any owner of the business. Attach additional sheet of paper to back of 
form if needed. 

(4) List Insurance Company and Policy #. Under ORS 47 1.295 (2), you 
are required to maintain a Liquor Liability policy of 0 LESSTHA 
$300,000. 

(5) Were there any changes ofownership (i.e.: add/drop partners, change 
to corporations, etc.) not reported to the OLCC in the last year? 

(6) Did you make any significant changes in operation during the past 
year that you have not reported to the OLCC, such as changes in menu, 
hours of operation, or remodeling? 

SPRI G HILL MA AGEMENT LLC 

SPRING HILL COUNTRY CLUB 
155 COUNTRY CLUB LN NW 
ALBANY OR 97321 

Name TY'IA-+\r--ie.w ~ 'Pe.\-\- \e~ 
DOB GIL l5 L 197 I 
Phone Number: !::, 4 I - '7 Z C:... -<.o05 '1 
Email: <::'...oV"'.-\-sro,\""'9 C90,\ °cP¥\tJ -GC1\'\-- ct.::J(' 

Name Offense Date Ci!}'./State ..., Result 

Insurance Company 

(' \ \°\\~i (\(]CA-\- ' ·r.. ~-s . b ~~<?Q_ Ue.t 

Policy # d'::>~E,9 eaS 
f\NO □ YES c:r EXPLAIN: 

fJ..i NO □ YES c:r EXPLAIN: 

IMPORTANT: Failure to fullv disclose any information requested, or providing false or misleading 
information on this form is grounds to refuse to rene:w the license. YOUR LICENSE EXPIRES 0 

06/30/2024. If you do not renew before this date, you must stop selling or serving alcohol immediatelv. NO 
EXCEPTIONS! Selling or serving alcohol with an expired license is a crime. 

F _CLU_l2.doc 

Page 172 of 220



[ 

\ 

i..11 \(h\'f 

t 1>101J~ um · 
) c.sr 1h:.t you ha 
bouo o! opcr t on. or rec " 

Nt!.!:c- "I , ttt 

1,.,, ., k 

' . .,, 
, o 11,, ru,, 

1 11t \\OHU'''"°' 

•:• ''"'' ..... ,•un ,,,,,, •• .,., .-,·o 

• I \I POR f \' r • f ;ulur • lo fulh ,Ii-I• '4 ;td\ i11fnrm.111un n'< unllll or ft)\lllino (.ah.- ur mi,llathn' 
1nforma1,on on 1h" form" ,,roe ,ht,, n r,.-,. tn n, t" Chl· Ii• n,, . \ 0\ R I I I ,,1 I \.Pl Rf" 0 

116 JO 102-'- I (, ou dn nnl r.-n,,. l>t (, ,tt 1h1, 1bll 

Page 173 of 220



Minutes of the Board Meeting Page 1 of 15 March 19, 2024 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING 
BENTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

Tuesday, March 19, 2024 
9:00 a.m. 

Present: Xanthippe Augerot, Chair; Nancy Wyse, Commissioner; Pat Malone, 
Commissioner; Vance Croney, County Counsel; Rachel McEneny, 
County Administrator; Rick Crager, Assistant County Administrator 

Elected 
Officials: Matthew Donohue, Presiding District Court Judge; Jef Van Arsdall, 

Sheriff 

Staff: Shannon Bush, Darren Nichols, Bailey Payne, Petra Schuetz, Inga 
Williams, James Wright, Community Development; Laurel Byer, Public 
Works; Cory Grogan, JonnaVe Stokes, Communications; Marilee 
Hoppner, Debbie Sessions, Finance Services; Maura Kwiatkowski, 
Amanda Makepeace, BOC Staff; Tracy Martineau, Jo Missler, Tammy 
Webb, Human Resources; Erika Milo, BOC Recorder; Matt Wetherell, 
Juvenile Department 

Guests: Steve Chase, Sustainable Materials Management Planning Task Force 
Chair; Ken Eklund, Disposal Site Advisory Committee Chair; John 
Harris, Horsepower Productions; Julie Jackson, Republic Services; 
Karsen O’Bryan, ABC House; Kenneth Larson, Debbie Palmer, 
residents; Susan Walenza, Corvallis resident  

1. Opening:
1. Call to Order

Chair Augerot called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m. 

2. Introductions
3. Announcements

No announcements were made. 

2. Review & Approve Agenda
The following item was added under 9. Other:

9.1  ABC House Fundraising Event Attendance – Nancy Wyse, 
Commissioner 

3. Proclamation

Page 174 of 220



Minutes of the Board Meeting Page 2 of 15 March 19, 2024 

3.1  Proclaiming April 2024 as National Child Abuse and Neglect 
Prevention Month in Benton County, Proclamation #P2024-004 – 
Karsen O’Bryan, Executive Director, ABC House 

 
O’Bryan explained that ABC House sees children in Linn and Benton Counties who 
have experienced physical abuse, sexual abuse, neglect and maltreatment, drug 
endangerment, or threat of harm. ABC House serves about 800 children per year, and 
has served almost 15,000 children since its start in 1997. O’Bryan read the 
Proclamation aloud. 
 
MOTION: Malone moved to proclaim April 2024 as National Child Abuse and 

Neglect Prevention Month in Benton County, Proclamation #P2024-004. 
Wyse seconded the motion, which carried 3-0. 

 
Augerot thanked O’Bryan and team for supporting children and families. 
 
4. *Comments from the Public 
 

Susan Walenza, Corvallis resident, expressed approval for changes to the Disposal Site 
Advisory Committee (DSAC) bylaws that incorporate a code of ethics and encourage a 
more civil process between DSAC and the County. Walenza emphasized having a 
cooperative, respectful relationship between the two. Alternative bylaws submitted by 
Eklund will also be considered. Republic Services owns some landfills with fires 
underground that have lasted for years. Walenza referenced concerns voiced previously 
by Coffin Butte Landfill (CBL) employee Robert Orton, and recommended that all safety 
and environmental concerns be addressed in a respectful and timely manner. 
 
Augerot noted that Mark Yeager, resident, submitted an email comment regarding the 
proposed DSAC bylaws (Item 7.1). The email has been entered into the record.  
 
{Exhibit 1: Yeager Public Comment Email} 
 
5. Work Session 
  

*5.1  Juvenile Program Update – Matt Wetherell, Juvenile Department 
 

Wetherell presented 2022 numbers regarding racial and ethnic disparities among 
Juvenile program-involved youth in Benton County. Numbers for 2023 will be available 
from Oregon Youth Authority (OYA) in April 2024. Wetherell meets monthly with the 
Juvenile Court Improvement Project, which includes staff from the Oregon Department 
of Human Services (ODHS). As of December 31, 2023, the County had 88 open cases; 
there are now 89. These are youths in Intake, Resource, Formal Accountability 
Agreements (FAAs), Petition, Probation, and OYA. Staff try to tie these youths to 
services, but cannot compel participation, so it depends on the willingness of youth and 
families to engage. Three youths are under Aid and Assist (cannot aid or assist in their 
own defense); this number may increase slightly. The Qualified Mental Health 
Professional (QMHP) currently sees 10 youths; typical case numbers range from eight 
to 19. Crossover cases are youth who are also served by ODHS; there are currently five 

Page 175 of 220



Minutes of the Board Meeting Page 3 of 15 March 19, 2024 

under Child Protective Services, and three in Permanency Services. The most common 
age group is 15 to 17. The recidivism risk level is where it needs to be.  
 
There were 117 youth referrals in 2022. Of those, 77% were Caucasian, which matches 
the population of Benton County. In referrals, youth are placed in an FAA to divert them 
from the system. Of youths with Class A misdemeanors and felonies, 34% were 
Caucasian, and 7% were Hispanic (the second largest group). 
 
The disposition of referrals by demographics shows that the County is operating 
equitably. In 2022, the County committed two youth to OYA. Staff do everything 
possible to keep youth local. Of the 177 youths who were put on some type of diversion 
(peer support, sanction, or FAA), 49 had formal dispositions. The race and ethnicity 
proportions in these groups are similar. 
 
The Relative Rate Index compares the experiences of different groups of youth in the 
Juvenile Justice System. The OYA measure is one white youth to one Hispanic youth. 
In 2019, OYA found an error in the equation and adjusted it. After the change, the 
County rate was 2.31, meaning that for every White youth, the County had 2.31 
Hispanic youths on services, in probation, or committed to OYA. Wetherell’s goal is a 
rate of one to one or lower. This is a system-wide situation. The 2020 rate was 2.12, 
and the 2022 rate was 1.32. (There are no numbers for 2021, because the County had 
few youth in services during the pandemic). 
 
Recidivism is the number of youths who return to the Juvenile Department with 
additional referrals. In 36 months, 33% recidivated; in 12 months, 29% did.  
 
Regarding the issue of racial and ethnic disparity, Augerot asked which Juvenile 
services were reducing that number, and whether staff were also working with system 
partners to address the rate of referral. 
 
Wetherell replied the office has a bi-lingual, bi-cultural counselor. In the referral process, 
schools handle many issues internally. Staff have not discussed this much with local 
Law Enforcement because Juvenile only sees the complex cases, not low-level 
referrals. 
 
Wyse asked what years this data came from, and whether there was a trend.  
 
Wetherell explained that the OYA method is calculated youth to youth, so overall trends 
are not available. The rate was last calculated in 2021. Wetherell does not have the 
resources to calculate the rate annually.  
 
Wyse asked for Wetherell’s sense of possible trends in Benton County over the past 
decade. 
 
Wetherell replied that recidivism has slightly increased, partly due to case complexity, 
with many Mental Health cases. Violation is measured in two ways: technical violation 
(youth violated the terms of an FAA or contract of Probation orders) and non-technical 
violation (youth broke the law). Wetherell tends to avoid technical violations, which 

Page 176 of 220



Minutes of the Board Meeting Page 4 of 15 March 19, 2024 

pushes recidivism somewhat; this means the youth’s behavior is so out of control that 
they will not follow the contract. Staff have projects in the works to address these 
issues. 
 
Wyse asked whether Wetherell had identified systematic barriers, and whether some 
particular support could help. 
 
Wetherell replied that has not been identified yet. These are statewide problems.  
 
Chair Augerot recessed the Board Meeting at 9:30 a.m. and reconvened at 9:42 a.m. 
 
Crager asked about the impact of Youth Investment Council funds. 
 
Wetherell replied that funding sources include the County General Fund, OYA pass-
through funds, and Youth Development Oregon (YDO) pass-through funds from the 
Department of Education. Wetherell passes YDO monies to Strengthening Rural 
Families, which has more reach to offer Prevention Circle Groups for boys and girls. 
Group facilitators, including some from Jackson Street Youth Services, trade back and 
forth, so the County’s reach has expanded in the last few years. The County currently 
offers groups in the City of Monroe, through Corvallis School District, and in the City of 
North Albany (in partnership with Linn County Juvenile Department). Soon there will be 
groups in the Community of Alsea. The County has focused funding on intervention and 
prevention. The Juvenile Department is not necessarily serving the youth on 
supervision, so Wetherell has tasked Juvenile Mental Health staff to create groups that 
the department can run internally for those youth, instead of passing them to an external 
provider. Juvenile will also offer a new risk reduction group as soon as staff are trained. 
 
Augerot commented that caseload had remained around 80-90 cases during her tenure 
as Commissioner. In comparison to other Oregon counties, Augerot asked if there was 
a rate per 10,000 of population, as with some of the other Justice System statistics. 
 
Wetherell did not know of one, but could discuss with OYA. When Wetherell was hired, 
caseloads were about 125, and have consistently decreased. Most juvenile 
departments statewide have seen a decline in cases over the past four years. 
 
Malone asked about differences and similarities between Juvenile Department 
counseling and Children and Family Services counseling in Behavioral Health (BH). 
 
Wetherell replied that BH is a bill-for-service provider. Juvenile does not have to bill for 
services, so high-risk vulnerable youth can be immediately assessed by a counselor for 
risk of recidivism and mental health problems. Then Juvenile can refer the youth to a 
QMHP, who schedules an intake in one to two weeks. If the youth is on supervision or 
in an FAA, staff can compel those services, whereas BH services are voluntary. 
Juvenile’s counseling staff meet with BH staff several times a month, and both 
departments refer patients to each other.  
 
{Exhibit 2: Juvenile Court Improvement Project Data} 
 

Page 177 of 220



Minutes of the Board Meeting Page 5 of 15 March 19, 2024 

6. Consent Calendar 
 

6.1  Appointments to the Environmental and Natural Resources Advisory 
Committee, Order #D2024-028: Jackson Rheuben, Damilola 
Olajubutu, Sydney Tamplin 

 
6.2  Approval of the Minutes of the February 15, 2024 Joint Meeting with 

the City of Corvallis 
 
6.3  Approval of the Minutes of the January 16, 2024 Board Meeting 
 

MOTION: Wyse moved to approve the Consent Calendar of March 19, 2024. Malone 
seconded the motion, which carried, 3-0. 

 
7. Old Business 
 

7.1  Approval of Revised Disposal Site Advisory Committee (DSAC) 
Bylaws – Darren Nichols, Community Development Director; Ken Eklund, 
DSAC Chair 

 
Augerot stated that her priority today was to approve the bylaws so DSAC meetings can 
resume. Community members are waiting to join DSAC, but the Board did not want to 
hold interviews until this item was clarified.  
 
Nichols noted that the packet included the 2020 adopted bylaws, Oregon Revised 
Statute (ORS) 459 sections about DSACs, and the proposed 2024 bylaws (a clean copy 
and a redline comparison with the 2020 version). Throughout 2022 and 2023, DSAC 
faced increasing operational challenges, and failed to adopt minutes or produce the 
Oregon Department of Environmental Quality-required Community Concerns Reports 
for 2021 and 2022. At the October 2023 DSAC meeting, a community member 
threatened County staff with violence. In November 2023, the Board suspended DSAC 
meetings and directed staff to address concerns such as drafting new bylaws for safe 
and effective operation. Over three months, staff reviewed the bylaws and incorporated 
edits from the Equity, Diversity, and Inclusion Coordinator, the Sustainability 
Coordinator, Public Information Officer Grogan, County Counsel, County Administrator 
McEneny, and Nichols. Eklund also reviewed the proposed bylaws and made 
recommendations, several of which were included in the revised draft for Board 
feedback, after which Eklund and Augerot provided more comments. The resulting 
bylaws align with DSAC’s responsibilities under ORS to ensure the Board, DSAC, and 
staff are fostering constructive dialogue between the community and the landfill 
operator, Republic Services, and to hear community concerns and review the operation 
of the regional disposal site. 
 
Eklund read from prepared remarks, stating the staff-proposed changes all act to slow 
or stop DSAC processes. None of the changes aid or empower DSAC. This leads to 
problems such as attracting and retaining DSAC members, incentivizing work, 
maintaining good relations with the public, and providing diverse perspectives to the 
Board. The changes do not address the source of DSAC’s difficulty in fulfilling its State-
mandated tasks over the past 18 months. Eklund noted July 2022 was the last regular 

Page 178 of 220



Minutes of the Board Meeting Page 6 of 15 March 19, 2024 

DSAC meeting; from September 2022 to the present, the County prevented DSAC from 
meeting or restricted the agenda, so the committee’s inability to complete its tasks was 
imposed, not a malfunction. The bylaws should prevent departments from similarly 
suppressing the work of future committees. Eklund requested that the Board add the 
article published in the packet addendum: ‘Article 14: Facilitating Activities, 
Transparency.’ Eklund read the article aloud and stated that if the Board does not 
incorporate the proposed Article 14 or equivalent, similar periods of turmoil will likely 
happen in the future. The current DSAC members would like the bylaws that are 
approved today to respect their work. 
 
Augerot noted that part of the DSAC suspension occurred during the Benton County 
Talks Trash process, when the Board also suspended Solid Waste Advisory Committee 
meetings to focus on the ‘one table’ approach. Some other cancellations were due to 
lack of sufficient participants. Augerot had no desire to squelch an advisory committee, 
but such committees are County entities. The County needs to invite the community in, 
establish a mutually respectful and collaborative process, and meet the goals in ORS.  
 
Malone commented that the County has tried to standardize various advisory committee 
bylaws to create consistency, and asked how this version addresses those issues. 
 
Nichols indicated the staff version fits well with the standardized approach and 
consistent level of performance and operation among all County boards, committees, 
and commissions. For the 10 bodies Community Development oversees, this version 
seems consistent with those other bylaws and meets the unique needs and functions of 
DSAC. 
 
Augerot shared that today’s redline bylaws include three new sections at the end to 
address the code of conduct and ethics, continuous improvement and evaluation, and 
whistleblower protection. Those sections are unique to this set of bylaws. The sections 
address issues of continuing to learn, addressing each other fairly and ethically, and 
acknowledging all voices. 
 
Wyse noted Augerot previously mentioned not being comfortable referring to a code of 
conduct if the County did not have one; Wyse concurred, and asked about the three 
proposed additions under article 12. 
 
Augerot replied that the only Benton County document with a code of conduct is the 
Commissioners Handbook, which addresses how Commissioners behave among 
themselves and on behalf of the community. No general code of conduct is posted on 
the County’s internal or external website. Augerot would like the Board to adopt a code 
of conduct to which the bylaws would refer.  
 
Counsel recommended that the language in Articles 12 through 14 be included with the 
understanding that the County would develop and adopt a code of ethics. This code 
could become an addendum to bylaws for all Benton citizen advisory bodies. 
 

Page 179 of 220



Minutes of the Board Meeting Page 7 of 15 March 19, 2024 

Wyse felt that the process was backward, and suggested the County omit that part of 
the bylaws today, develop a code of ethics/conduct, then add a few sentences to all 
advisory group bylaws, including DSAC. 
 
Counsel supported that approach, which could be discussed at a Work Session, then 
presented on a Consent Calendar as applying to all bylaws with the code of 
conduct/ethics language the Board had already approved. 
 
Wyse had other changes and questions to discuss and preferred to bring the DSAC 
bylaws to a Goal-Setting Meeting for discussion. 
 
Malone preferred to approve the bylaws today, as the next Goal Setting was not until 
April 9, 2024. Malone asked Nichols about the results of a four- to six-week delay in 
bylaws approval. 
 
Nichols replied that staff felt these additions set expectations for Benton’s citizen 
committees and staff. The delay would push the next DSAC meeting to May or June 
2024, depending on scheduling and the speed of appointing members. Under State law, 
DSAC should meet quarterly; the first quarter of 2024 is almost over. DSAC needs to re-
engage with the community and the landfill operator as soon as reasonably possible. 
 
Wyse suggested the County hold one DSAC meeting under the existing bylaws while 
working on the new bylaws. 
 
Nichols noted ORS gives the Board discretion over scheduling DSAC meetings. 
 
Augerot observed that DSAC had not met regularly or made required reports; DSAC 
gives a formal voice to the community, especially Coffin Butte Landfill neighbors. 
Augerot was not comfortable delaying the approval that long, and would prefer to invite 
participation in a committee with a defined charter rather than one that will change.  
 
Malone noted these bylaws were brought to the Board in February 2024, but were 
postponed due to a packet error. Articles 12 through 14 are useful and could guide 
other advisory committees. Malone favored Counsel’s suggestion of applying these 
changes to all advisory committee bylaws when the code is solidified. 
 
Wyse raised additional points and questions about the bylaws, and Board discussion 
ensued. 
 
Wyse requested clarification of the reporting structure, as described in, ‘The committee 
is a public body that reports to the Benton County Board of Commissioners through the 
Community Development Department.’  
 
Nichols replied that DSAC will work directly with Community Development staff, and 
both committee members and staff are ultimately responsible to the Board. 
 
Augerot pointed out this approach is embedded in most of the other advisory committee 
bylaws. 

Page 180 of 220



Minutes of the Board Meeting Page 8 of 15 March 19, 2024 

 
Under ‘Article 3: Membership,’ packet page 55, redline version, Wyse requested 
clarification on whether ‘local organizations and citizen interest groups’ referred to a 
local representative of an organization, or to someone who is incidentally a member of 
such an organization. 
 
Counsel indicated this language was taken directly from ORS. 
 
Augerot stated the language was designed so community members from local 
organizations and citizen groups had input, not representatives of national 
organizations. The Board also needs a formal procedure or policy on how to appoint 
members to advisory committees, which is not specified here. 
 
To avoid confusion and disagreement, Wyse suggested clearly listing the roles and 
responsibilities of the DSAC chair and members in the bylaws.  
 
Counsel noted that a more robust description of authority and roles is typically included 
in bylaws rather than a separate document.  
 
Augerot observed that the language on roles in the current bylaws is similar to the 
language for all County advisory committees; there is no substantial change besides 
adding qualitative terms such as ‘efficient’ and ‘respectful.’ Augerot preferred to keep 
the bylaws simple and clean, and for the advisory committee and supporting staff to 
adopt their own standard procedures and practices. 
 
Wyse read from ‘Section 3: Responsibilities:’ ‘Committee members shall regularly 
attend meetings of the committee and any meetings of subcommittees to which they are 
appointed, and shall fulfill other duties as appointed by the Chair.’ This appears to give 
the DSAC Chair the authority to assign any duties to committee or subcommittee 
members. Wyse suggested changing this to ‘duties as agreed to by the Chair and the 
Director.’ 
 
Augerot referred to language in Article 5 which describes joint authority in assigning 
responsibilities to subcommittees. 
 
Wyse felt there was a discrepancy between the two passages.  
 
Malone commented that the question of authority was covered in Article 5.  
 
Augerot recommended referring to ‘Article 13: Continuous Improvement Evaluation’ in 
the revised bylaws. Augerot preferred to adopt these bylaws as presented with the 
agreed-upon changes, leaving it up to members and staff to exercise a continuous 
improvement process, ensuring there is no ambiguity going forward. These bylaws will 
raise the bar for all of Benton’s advisory committees, so there will be an opportunity to 
update them. These are living documents. 
 
Counsel summarized that the Board agreed to the following changes to the proposed 
DSAC bylaws: 

Page 181 of 220



Minutes of the Board Meeting Page 9 of 15 March 19, 2024 

1. Under Article 2, second paragraph, second sentence: delete parenthetical 
references to ‘(Department)’ and ‘(Director).’ Reason: use consistent terminology. 

2. Under Article 3, Section 1, item (3): change ‘Employees of permittee’ to 
‘Employees of permittee, at least one, not to exceed two.’ Reason: clarify desired 
number of employee members needed to promote good dialogue between the 
community and the landfill operator. 

3. Under Article 3, Section 1, third paragraph, sentence beginning ‘The Board of 
Commissioners may appoint:’ change ‘how shall not vote’ to ‘who shall not vote.’ 
Reason: correct a typographical error. 

4. Under Article 3, Section 1, third paragraph: change ‘a person holding a permit’ to 
‘a person holding a solid waste permit.’ Reason: clarify the type of permit. 

 
Augerot concurred with Counsel’s summary.  
 
Eklund commented that the bylaws changes suggest that DSAC have a minimum of 
seven members. Eklund asked if DSAC would be unable to meet if membership fell 
below seven. 
 
Counsel replied that the County has found that when it sets a number of members, 
committees often fall below that number. If there is no minimum, the committee may 
meet but not make decisions. If there is a minimum, the committee can make decisions. 
 
Wyse asked whether the committee could still vote if one member could not attend. 
 
Counsel confirmed; an appointed member is distinguished from a present member. 
 
MOTION: Malone moved to adopt the revised Disposal Site Advisory Committee 

bylaws with the amendments listed by Counsel and direct staff to 
implement the bylaws with the Committee beginning March 19, 2024. 
Augerot seconded the motion.  

 
Wyse stated that although she supported updating the bylaws, she would vote against 
the motion because she felt the process was rushed, the community should be able to 
see the new changes in context, and the process for the code of conduct was 
backward.  
 

The motion carried, 2-1 (Wyse opposed). 
 
Chair Augerot recessed the meeting at 10:50 a.m. and reconvened at 10:57 a.m. 
 

7.2 Update Regarding Adult Drug Treatment Court (ADTC) – Presiding 
District Court Judge Matthew Donohue; Rick Crager, Assistant County 
Administrator 

 
Crager explained that the Board suspended the ADTC in summer 2023. Donohue 
helped envision a different model of services with different funding. There is now a grant 
opportunity which would address facilities needs. 
 

Page 182 of 220



Minutes of the Board Meeting Page 10 of 15 March 19, 2024 

Donohue shared that the suspension was due to a lack of an ADTC provider for 
substance use disorders (SUD). Previously, the County was the provider. Another issue 
was the drop in participants (seven to eight, down from a high of 21-22 before the 
pandemic). Issues caused by Measure 110, the pandemic shutdown, and the resultant 
docketing backlog are now working out. The goal was to identify a new provider, 
incentivize participation, and re-examine the program. The Policy Committee (PC), 
consisting of Donohue, Crager, Chief Deputy District Attorney Ryan Joslin, Joel Pickard 
(Probation), and Clark Willis and Tracy Thompson (Oregon Department of Human 
Services), sought another provider. One provider currently provides Urinalysis and SUD 
services for Linn and Lane County Treatment Courts. The PC continues to look for other 
providers and is confident about securing funds to restart.  
 
The Bureau of Justice Assistance offers $900,000 four-year grants to implement an 
ADTC. The application is due May 2, 2024. The grant requires a 25% match in cash or 
in kind. The match can include salaries for participants (Donohue, Crager Court staff, 
PC members, District Attorney’s Office staff, Probation staff, the State coordinator). 
Another need is a facility for the provider, who is not based in Benton County. There is 
an available storefront west of the historic Courthouse on Northwest Monroe Avenue, 
Corvallis. Donohue worked with Oregon Justice Department (OJD) to apply for grants to 
fund a grant coordinator, which Donohue believed has been approved. A family 
coordinator is also needed; Donohue was still working on whether that can be part of 
the match. Donohue, Crager, the PC, and the County grant contractor are working on 
the application. If this grant is not received, the project will start in 2025, because the 
Criminal Justice Commission (CJC) will offer implementation grants in its current 
budget, including a sustainability grant in fall 2025. OJD is a much more competitive 
grant process than CJC, but Donohue was fairly confident about the County’s chances. 
The County needs to provide a Federal grant application, as the Court cannot directly 
apply. Ten percent of the grant can be used for administrative costs. There will probably 
be some contracting requirements, most likely for SUD and peer support. Donohue 
believed the money match requirements can be met. 
 
Crager noted the lobbyists CFM Advocates are providing grant assistance. Last 
summer, the Board asked about the County’s cost for grant and program administration. 
The County could cover its central cost allocation or use that as a match if necessary. 
The County would only need to procure two contracts and provide ongoing grant 
management. The biggest element is facilities. When Behavioral Health moves into the 
new building at 4185 Southwest Research Way, Corvallis, that will free up space at the 
Humphrey-Hoyer Building (557 Northwest Monroe Avenue, Corvallis) where the ADTC 
was before. The PC felt that location would be an ideal stopgap for ADTC, but the 
County must ensure there is enough room for Children and Family Services (CFS) at 
the new building, which has two tenants who may not move out until spring 2025. Also, 
the County’s Humphrey-Hoyer lease will continue for through 2025. Hopefully, CFS will 
move into the new building in July 2024. The County will probably receive notice about 
the grant in August 2024.  
 
Responding to a question from Malone about matching, Crager shared that the facilities 
element could also be a match opportunity. Initially, this would be a County donation, 

Page 183 of 220



Minutes of the Board Meeting Page 11 of 15 March 19, 2024 

because the County will continue paying for the empty Humphrey-Hoyer Building 
regardless. 
 
Wyse supported this effort and asked if the service provider must supply its own space, 
or could lease or rent a space. 
 
Crager replied those options are open. If renting, the provider would likely want to pass 
that cost on to the County.  
 
Augerot remarked that any facility the County makes available should be made clear in 
the Request for Proposals (RFP), so providers are on an even footing. Given the tight 
job market, supplying a facility might be advisable.  
 
Crager noted these are only discussions; there are no obligations yet. Providers are 
limited. The RFP will stay open, but at least there is one very interested candidate.  
 
Responding to a question from Malone, Donohue replied that ADTCs are Circuit Court 
programs, not County programs; the County only administers the grant. Court staff run 
the program as an adjunct to other Court programs. The PC and other stakeholders, 
including the County, are brought into that process in various roles. 
 
Crager added that the grant is part of the County budget, creating fiscal accountability.  
 
The Board favored proceeding with the application and proposal. 
 
8. New Business  
 

8.1  Permanent Position Reclassification Process – Debbie Sessions, 
Marilee Hoppner, Financial Services; Tammy Webb, Human Resources; 
Laurel 
Byer, Public Works 

 
Crager explained that in order to align with State budget law, permanent changes to a 
position, such as increasing classification and thus cost, should be endorsed by the 
Board. Finance is changing its process so this will now occur. Procedures are still under 
development. While work out of class or limited duration positions can be used instead 
of reclassification, sometimes new or existing funds can make the position viable. It 
made sense to make this position permanent. If such changes happen often, staff could 
delegate the decision to the County Administrator, but Crager did not anticipate many 
instances. There will be a bulk of Crisis Center reclassifications soon.  
 
Augerot observed there has been a larger conversation between Finance and Human 
Resources about the interweaving of these positions or reclassifications, which has 
caused confusion about who leads the process and where to start. This item will need to 
be presented at Leadership Team, so all department heads understand. 
 
Sessions shared that this change eliminated the duplicative Position Review Committee 
stage.  
 

Page 184 of 220



Minutes of the Board Meeting Page 12 of 15 March 19, 2024 

Byer explained that the Geographic Information System (GIS) Engineering Technician 
position has now grown and is GIS-focused, helping the Road Crew be more efficient 
and helping with asset and database management. The position will provide backup to 
the GIS Coordinator. 
 
Hoppner added that this aligns the position with the County’s other GIS positions. 
 
Augerot asked if this would make the position more marketable. Byer confirmed.  
 
MOTION: Malone moved to approve a permanent reclassification of Position 500294 

from a Technical Specialist One to Technical Specialist Three. Wyse 
seconded the motion, which carried 3-0. 

 
8.2 Semiannual Finance Report for the Period Ending 12/31/23 – Debbie 

Sessions, Interim Chief Financial Officer 
 

Crager presented the six-month financial report on the state of the budget as of 
December 31, 2023, including information on Capital Improvement Projects (CIPs) 
approved after the budget had started, and County Service District (CSD) financial 
conditions. Per Board request, this is a more succinct report, including a ‘red light/ green 
light’ approach.  
 
There has been one supplemental budget since the 2023-25 biennium began in July 
2023, for a revised total of $503 million. Six-month expenditures are $78.9 million, about 
16%. The biggest cost is staffing, at 22% for the biennium, or just under 25% for the 
year. Vacancy factor was applied for the first time; the County is meeting its total 
vacancy factor. Materials and supplies are about 4% below expected, which is fairly 
typical; this time staff added inflation to the estimate, using a fairly high amount based 
on historical levels, a bit more than the State was using. Capital outlay expenditures are 
at 8% of estimated, as expected; on the biggest projects, the District Attorney’s Office 
(DAO) and new Courthouse (NCH), the County needs to finalize the Oregon Judicial 
Department (OJD) agreement before big construction costs occur. Debt service and 
transfers are as expected. Personal services (staffing) cost should be watched closely 
in the next two years to see if budget adjustments are needed. Factors include current 
contract negotiations going on and the application of the market study. 
 
Crager displayed a chart with department revenue and expenditures color-coded to 
show percentage of deviation from historical averages. Green indicates 1% or less 
deviation, meaning ‘good.’ Yellow indicates 1-3% below average, meaning ‘watch,’ and 
red indicates more than 3% deviation, which may need mitigation. Expenditure should 
not be more than 25%. Green departments: although the Sheriff’s Office manages its 
budget well and is coded green, this budget should be watched closely, as there has 
been considerable implementation of personal services, the market study, and so on. 
Also, there is a concern about Community Corrections staying in budget; it is unknown 
whether the State will continue to pay those costs. The department might break even 
based on current trends, but may have to revisit the item. Everything else looks good.  
 

Page 185 of 220



Minutes of the Board Meeting Page 13 of 15 March 19, 2024 

Departments marked yellow: Juvenile Department had delayed billing but is back on 
track. Community Health Centers (CHCs) are trending 1% below budget for revenues 
and expenses. CHCs are nearly 100% self-funded through revenues. The improvement 
is mainly due to negotiations with Oregon Health Authority Medicaid reimbursement 
rates. Still, CHCs are trending to a low operating contingency. The District Attorney’s 
Office (DAO) is 9% below average, but discontinuation of the Animal Defense Grant 
after December 31, 2024 may require supplemental adjustments. 
 
Non-departmental revenues, which include all Capital Projects and revenues, are 
trending about 5% below expected. The County has received about 41% of expected 
revenues, which aligns with past levels. Some property tax will not be collected until 
later in the year. Interest earnings, now 31%, are giving good returns due to higher 
rates. Dedicated capital project resources are forecast at $46.5 million, though only 
$3.05 million has been received so far. The County has already received new 
Courthouse funds from the bonds issued in May 2023. Beginning balances for this 
biennium were slightly less than anticipated; analysis continues. 
 
Red areas: Community Development (CD) and Records & Elections (R&E) revenue is 
down due to lower housing starts and higher interest rates, which means the County 
collects fewer recording fees. The decline in building permit revenues started after staff 
estimated the 2023-25 budget. If that trend continues, CD might have $700,000 less 
than forecast, which could pressure discretionary funds. Staff are working to mitigate 
this. R&E is about $200,000 less, which is easier to mitigate. Staff will continue to watch 
both. 
 
Natural Areas, Parks, & Events (NAPE) revenues and expenses are at 25%, but some 
areas need to stay on the watch list, so NAPE is coded red. There was $225,000 of 
unanticipated cost for a past vehicle order. The Transient Lodging Tax (TLT) can be 
used to mitigate some impacts, but that reduces funds the County had been 
accumulating towards Master Plan capital opportunities. NAPE revenues are 21%, 
about 2% below average, but COVID-19 affected past averages. About 25% is ideal. 
The Benton County Fair is at 42% of the projection; 50% would be preferable. Charges 
for services are positive at 28%. TLT is at 15% versus 19% forecast, but the TLT was 
new in 2019. Projection suggests the County will end up with 2.5% more TLT than the 
forecast.  
 
Augerot noted that although Public Works was coded green, Fleet was still on the watch 
list.  
 
Crager to return with a special report on Fleet and the CHCs. 
 
Malone asked if NAPE should be coded yellow. 
 
Crager replied that NAPE could be coded red or yellow, but Crager had coded it red due 
to the $225,000 expense and the County Fair percentage.  
 
Hoppner added that NAPE Director Jesse Ott filed for an additional State grant to help 
balance the NAPE budget.  

Page 186 of 220



Minutes of the Board Meeting Page 14 of 15 March 19, 2024 

 
Crager shared that all CSD were coded green except South Third, which was yellow. 
 
Hoppner added that this was due to an error in estimating revenues from past due tax 
accounts. 
 
Crager noted that South Third may require future adjustments. Crager reviewed a list of 
CIPs. Though only $176,000 of the $3 million budget has been expended, Hoppner is 
working with all the project sponsors, and staff feel fairly confident. A few projects are at 
possible risk of incompletion, such as the historic Courthouse roof replacement. Roof 
bids received were well in excess of the allotted $350,000, so the County will need a 
more robust strategy to secure the funds. The current funds may be put towards 
replacing a boiler that is at risk. 
 
Crager commented that all other CIPs were on track. This report does not include road 
projects. Crager wants to create a better communication plan for the public and the 
Board about CIPs. The NCH and DAO project is at 11.2% of expenditure; large 
expenditures will occur once construction begins. The last estimate of the DAO/NCH as 
of December 2023 was on budget. The Emergency Operations Center is on track. 
Augerot brought up concerns about facility size, so Finance is investigating. The Crisis 
Center is in budget with $30,000 to spare (including contingency). The other projects 
are mostly Federal, including the Regional Public Safety Infrastructure Project, Rural 
Sewer Infrastructure Project, and the Community of Alsea Water & Sewer Project.  
 
Budget risks: the County has over $121 million in major capital projects. To stay 
nationally competitive as an employer, the County will need to increase ranges and 
salaries. Staff will work with departments to manage the change, but it may be 
necessary to use some reserves. Staff will continue to watch the CHCs. American 
Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funding ends in 2024. The County has been able to mitigate 
the cost of the Public Employees Retirement System (PERS) with PERS bonds, but 
those bonds and side accounts will end in the next few years, and rates may increase. 
General Fund balance has grown substantially over the last decade, which helps the 
County prepare for emergencies. The County needs to build borrowing capacity for a 
new jail.  
 
Malone praised the report format and urged Communications to share the news that 
County projects are underway.  
 
Wyse praised the report for providing transparency, and encouraged adding the road 
projects. 
 
Augerot found the fund balance diagram very useful, and noted that in 2018, the 
marijuana tax started; in 2019, the TLT started; 2021 brought cost savings due to the 
pandemic hiring freeze. Since 2021-23, the rate of growth in the General Fund balance 
seems back to pre-2017 levels. 
 
Crager concurred. ARPA funds covered many operation costs, which preserved the 
General Fund. Costs were down because hiring was down and staff were working 

Page 187 of 220



Minutes of the Board Meeting Page 15 of 15 March 19, 2024 

remotely, meaning less overhead. That bolstered the General Fund, which has 
increased the County’s ability to borrow funds. Now the County needs to sustain the 
growth. 
 
MOTION: Malone moved to accept receipt of the semiannual finance report for the 

period ending December 31, 2023 in accordance with Section 5.1 of the 
County Finance and Budget Policies. Wyse seconded the motion, which 
carried 3-0. 

 
9. Other 
 

9.1  ABC House Fundraising Event Attendance – Board of Commissioners 
 
The Board discussed the process for selecting attendees and guests for the ABC House 
celebration and other special events. Wyse suggested the Board should make such 
decisions collectively and requested a future discussion before deciding about invitees 
to the ABC House event. 
 
Augerot asked when Wyse would like to hold the discussion. 
 
After debate, Counsel suggested a discussion at his March 27, 2024 meeting with the 
Board. 
 
The Board favored this approach. 
 
Chair Augerot recessed the meeting at 12:26 p.m. and reconvened at 12:29 p.m. 
 
10. Executive Session 
 
Chair Augerot entered Executive Session under ORS 192.660[2][d] – Labor 
Negotiations at 12:29 p.m. 
 
Chair Augerot exited Executive Session and immediately reconvened the regular Board 
Meeting at 12:36 p.m. 
 
11. Adjournment 
 

Chair Augerot adjourned the meeting at 12:36 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
             
Xanthippe Augerot, Chair    Erika Milo, Recorder 
 

 
* NOTE:  Items denoted with an asterisk do NOT have accompanying written materials 
in the meeting packet. 

Page 188 of 220



From: Mark Yeager <mayeager@gmail.com> 
Date: March 18, 2024 at 11:59:54 PM EDT 
To: AUGEROT Xanthippe <Xanthippe.Augerot@bentoncountyor.gov>, MCENENY Rachel 
<rachel.mceneny@bentoncountyor.gov> 
Cc: Alex Powers <Alex.Powers@lee.net>, Penny Rosenberg <penny.rosenberg@lee.net> 
Subject: Public Comment Regarding Proposed DSAC Bylaws 

Chair Augerot and Administrator McEneny - I cannot attend the March 19 BOC 
meeting and I am submitting the following public comments regarding the 
proposed DSAC bylaws that are scheduled under Old Business. I want the entirety 
of my comments included in the public record for this meeting and item. 

The scope and nature of the proposed changes are misguided on many fronts and 
inconsistent with the supposed Committee objective of meaningful and critical 
review of the impacts of Coffin Butte Landfill on the host community and its 
members. 

Many of the proposed changes are designed to muzzle meaningful review of the 
many issues related to the existence and operation of Coffin Butte landfill. 

The inclusion of (e) Act or threat of physical harm in Section 4(2) of Article 3, 
Termination, continues the false accusation of wrongdoing by Committee 
members at the October 2023 meeting. Are you planning to add this language to 
each and every advisory committee bylaws? As you know, and as the Corvallis 
Police Department investigated and confirmed, no member of the Committee 
EVER threatened or caused physical harm to any staff person. This narrative was 
spun by the Community Development Director and directly supported by at least 
one Commissioner. Frankly, as a volunteer for the County for many years, to allow 
this narrative to stand and be supported by the proposed bylaws changes is a 
travesty.  

To be effective, this Committee must have a responsible and knowledgeable 
representative from the landfill franchisee available at each meeting to answer 
questions and receive public comments. Your currently proposed committee 
structure, which is caveated by "to the extent feasible," gets the franchisee off 
the hook. That is a fatal flaw embedded into the bylaws. 

Exhibit 1 Page 189 of 220

mailto:mayeager@gmail.com
mailto:Xanthippe.Augerot@bentoncountyor.gov
mailto:rachel.mceneny@bentoncountyor.gov
mailto:Alex.Powers@lee.net
mailto:penny.rosenberg@lee.net


And now to the muzzles - these bylaws essentially say, Committee members, you 
will only discuss or review what WE SAY you can discuss: Community concerns 
that staff determines are not appropriate will NOT be discussed. 

Article 7, Section 6: 

The Committee’s agendas shall be developed jointly by the Chair, with the 
assistance of and the Community Development Director, or their designee, 
consistent with the Board-directed functions of the Committee. 
. 
Final agenda decisions shall be made by the Community Development Director 
or their designee, in consultation with the Chair and with the goal of supporting 
Committee member interests to the extent feasible for the Department. 
Committee members may add items of business with the concurrence of the 
Chair and the Community Development Director or their designee. 

Section 8 of Article 7 wherein you are now proposing to eliminate the actual 
audio recording of the meetings is an obvious effort by the Community 
Development Director to prevent an actual record of what transpires at the 
meeting to be made available. What will come of that - more unsupported 
accusations leveled at Committee members with whom he disagrees? These 
meetings need to be publicly broadcast and recorded for all to see and hear. 

These proposed bylaws are totally consistent with the many actions that have 
been taken by staff and the County Commissioners to suppress and censor 
community concerns about the landfill over the last several years. Your 
"commitment" to public involvement and transparency is a complete and total 
facade when it comes to the landfill. These proposed bylaws are yet another 
example of your selective adherence to the 2040 Thriving Communities Initiative. 

Sincerely, 

Mark Yeager 

Page 190 of 220



Exhibit 2

Juvenile Court Improvement Project 
Benton County Juvenile Dept. Data 

Date: 03/14/2024 

lrotal open cases 88 

Case Type or Status 

Intake Resource FAA Petition 

s 14 21 

6% 16% 24% 

Mental Health Services 

Aid & Assist QMHP 

3 

Cross Over Cases 

Age 

< 12 12 -14 15 - 17 18 

1 24 48 

1% 27% 55% 

JCP Level 

Intake Low Med High 

20 25 21 

0 0 4 

Trends, Observations, Updates 

Frequent and/ or high volume runaway report cases 

SB 745 Topics 

Program and placement waitlists 

Collaborative community based efforts 

Probation OYA Total 

18 17 13 88 

20% 19% 15% 100% 

Program 

10 4 

> 18 Total 

6 9 88 

7% 10% 100% 

Total Ea. Total 

9 75 
88 

9 13 

Page 191 of 220



BEFORE THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
FOR THE STATE OF OREGON, FOR THE COUNTY OF BENTON 

 
In the Matter of Appointments to the ) ORDER  #D2024-036 
CORVALLIS-BENTON COUNTY ) 
LIBRARY BOARD    ) 
 
 THE ABOVE-ENTITLED MATTER COMING NOW FOR THE CONSIDERATION 
OF THE BOARD AND, 

 IT APPEARING TO THE BOARD 

 THAT the following qualified and knowledgeable individuals have indicated a 
willingness to serve on this board: 

Name Term & Position 
Chris McMorran Beginning: 07/01/24 

Expires: 06/30/27 
Position:  2 

Ari Annachi Beginning: 07/01/24 
Expires: 06/30/27 
Position:  4 

 NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the above individuals are hereby 
appointed to the Corvallis-Benton County Library Board. 

Adopted this 18th day of June, 2024. 

Signed this 18th day of June, 2024. 

BENTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

            
     Xanthippe Augerot, Chair 

            
     Nancy Wyse, Vice Chair 
 
            
     Pat Malone, Commissioner 

Page 192 of 220



BEFORE THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
FOR THE STATE OF OREGON, FOR THE COUNTY OF BENTON 

 
In the Matter of Appointments to the ) ORDER  #D2024-037 
COURTHOUSE PRESERVATION ) 
COMMITTEE    ) 
 
 THE ABOVE-ENTITLED MATTER COMING NOW FOR THE CONSIDERATION 
OF THE BOARD AND, 

 IT APPEARING TO THE BOARD 

 THAT the following qualified and knowledgeable individuals have indicated a 
willingness to serve on this board: 

Name Term & Position 
Adrienne Fritze Beginning: 01/01/22 

Expires: 12/31/24 
Position:  2 

Carol Chin Beginning: 01/01/23 
Expires: 12/31/25 
Position:  4 

Cornelia Levy-Bencheton Beginning: 01/01/23 
Expires: 12/31/25 
Position:  5 

David Dodson Beginning: 01/01/24 
Expires: 12/31/26 
Position:  7 

Roz Keeney Beginning: 01/01/24 
Expires: 12/31/26 
Position:  9 

 NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the above individuals are hereby 
appointed to the Courthouse Preservation Committee. 

Adopted this 18th day of June, 2024. 

Signed this 18th day of June, 2024. 

BENTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

            
     Xanthippe Augerot, Chair 

            
     Nancy Wyse, Vice Chair 
 
            
     Pat Malone, Commissioner 

Page 193 of 220



BEFORE THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
FOR THE STATE OF OREGON, FOR THE COUNTY OF BENTON 

 
In the Matter of Appointments to the  ) ORDER #D2024-037 
DISPOSAL SITE ADVISORY COMMITTEE ) 
 
 THE ABOVE ENTITLED MATTER COMING NOW FOR THE CONSIDERATION 
OF THE BOARD AND, 

 IT APPEARING TO THE BOARD 

 THAT the following qualified and knowledgeable individuals have indicated a 
willingness to serve on this committee: 

Name Term & Position  Name Term & Position 
Chuck Gilbert Beginning: 01/01/24 

Expires: 12/31/25 
Position:  1 

 David Hackleman Beginning: 01/01/24 
Expires: 12/31/25 
Position:  7 

Brent Pawlowski Beginning: 01/01/24 
Expires: 12/31/25 
Position:  4 

 Rachel Purcell Beginning: 01/01/24 
Expires: 12/31/25 
Position:  8 

Jennifer Field Beginning: 01/01/24 
Expires: 12/31/25 
Position:  5 

 Lansing Stout Beginning: 01/01/24 
Expires: 12/31/25 
Position:  9 

Jeff Morrell Beginning: 01/01/24 
Expires: 12/31/25 
Position:  6 

 Matthew Ruettgers Beginning: 01/01/24 
Expires: 12/31/25 
Position:           10 

   Ian McNab Beginning: 01/01/24 
Expires: 12/31/25 
Position:      Designated 
         Permittee 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the above individuals are hereby 
appointed to the Disposal Site Advisory Committee. 

Adopted this 18th day of June, 2024. 

Signed this 18th day of June, 2024. 

BENTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

            
     Xanthippe Augerot, Chair 

            
     Nancy Wyse, Vice Chair 
 
            
     Pat Malone, Commissioner 

Page 194 of 220



BEFORE THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
FOR THE STATE OF OREGON, FOR THE COUNTY OF BENTON 

 
 

In the Matter of Appointment to the  ) ORDER D2024-039 
ENTERPRISE ZONE ADVISORY COMMITTEE ) 

 THE ABOVE-ENTITLED MATTER COMING NOW FOR THE CONSIDERATION 
OF THE BOARD AND, 

 IT APPEARING TO THE BOARD 

 THAT the following qualified and knowledgeable individual has indicated a willingness 
to serve on this Committee: 

Name Term & Position 
Rachel McEneny Beginning: 07/01/24 

Expires: 06/30/27 
Position:  3 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the above individual is hereby 
appointed to the Enterprise Zone Advisory Committee. 

Adopted this 18th day of June, 2024. 

Signed this 18th day of June, 2024. 

BENTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

            
     Xanthippe Augerot, Chair 

            
     Nancy Wyse, Vice Chair 
 
            
     Pat Malone, Commissioner 

Page 195 of 220



BEFORE THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
FOR THE STATE OF OREGON, FOR THE COUNTY OF BENTON 

In the Matter of Appointment to the  ) ORDER No. D2024-040 
BENTON COUNTY FAIR BOARD ) 

 THE ABOVE ENTITLED MATTER COMING NOW FOR THE CONSIDERATION 
OF THE BOARD AND, 

 IT APPEARING TO THE BOARD 

 THAT the following qualified and knowledgeable individual has indicated a willingness 
to serve on this board: 

Name Term & Position 
Rylee Henderer Begins: 01/01/24 

Expires: 12/31/26 
Position:  4 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the above individual is hereby 
appointed to the Benton County Fair Board. 

Adopted this 18th day of June, 2024. 

Signed this 18th day of June, 2024. 

BENTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

            
     Xanthippe Augerot, Chair 

            
     Nancy Wyse, Vice Chair 
 
            
     Pat Malone, Commissioner 

Page 196 of 220



BEFORE THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
FOR THE STATE OF OREGON, FOR THE COUNTY OF BENTON 

 
In the Matter of Appointments to the  ) ORDER  #D2024-041 
FOOD SERVICE ADVISORY COMMITTEE ) 
 
 THE ABOVE ENTITLED MATTER COMING NOW FOR THE CONSIDERATION 
OF THE BOARD AND, 

 IT APPEARING TO THE BOARD 

 THAT the following qualified and knowledgeable individuals have indicated a 
willingness to serve on this committee: 

Name Term & Position 
Brendon Gilbert Begins: 07/01/24 

Expires: 06/30/27 
Position:  1 

John McEvoy Begins: 07/01/24 
Expires: 06/30/27 
Position:  2 

 NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the above individuals are hereby 
appointed to the Food Service Advisory Committee. 

Adopted this 18th day of June, 2024. 

Signed this 18th day of June, 2024. 

BENTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

            
     Xanthippe Augerot, Chair 

            
     Nancy Wyse, Vice Chair 
 
            
     Pat Malone, Commissioner 

Page 197 of 220



BEFORE THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
FOR THE STATE OF OREGON, FOR THE COUNTY OF BENTON 

 
In the Matter of Appointments ) ORDER #D2024-042 
HISTORIC RESOURCES COMMISSION ) 

 THE ABOVE-ENTITLED MATTER COMING NOW FOR THE CONSIDERATION 
OF THE BOARD AND, 

 IT APPEARING TO THE BOARD 

 THAT the following qualified and knowledgeable individuals have indicated a 
willingness to serve on this board: 

Name Term & Position 
Mariapaola Riggio Begins: 07/01/23 

Expires: 06/30/27 
Position:  1 

Bruce Anderson Begins: 07/01/23 
Expires: 06/30/27 
Position:  2 

 NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the above individuals are hereby 
appointed to the Historic Resources Commission. 

Adopted this 18th day of June, 2024. 

Signed this 18th day of June, 2024. 

BENTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

            
     Xanthippe Augerot, Chair 

            
     Nancy Wyse, Vice Chair 
 
            
     Pat Malone, Commissioner 

Page 198 of 220



BEFORE THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
FOR THE STATE OF OREGON, FOR THE COUNTY OF BENTON 

 
In the Matter of Appointments to the  )  ORDER #D2024-043 
MENTAL HEALTH, ADDICTIONS AND ) 
DEVELOPMENTAL DISABILITIES ) 
ADVISORY COMMITTEE ) 

 THE ABOVE-ENTITLED MATTER COMING NOW FOR THE CONSIDERATION 
OF THE BOARD AND, 

 IT APPEARING TO THE BOARD 

 THAT the following qualified and knowledgeable individuals have indicated a 
willingness to serve on this committee: 

Name Term & Position 
Elizabeth Hazlewood Beginning: 07/01/24 

Expires: 06/30/27 
Position:  5 

Alan Acock Beginning: 07/01/22 
Expires: 06/30/25 
Position:  6 

 NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the above individuals are hereby 
appointed to the Mental Health, Addictions and Developmental Disabilities Advisory 
Committee. 

Adopted this 18th day of June, 2024. 

Signed this 18th day of June, 2024. 

BENTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

            
     Xanthippe Augerot, Chair 

            
     Nancy Wyse, Vice Chair 
 
            
     Pat Malone, Commissioner 

Page 199 of 220



BEFORE THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
FOR THE STATE OF OREGON, FOR THE COUNTY OF BENTON 

 
 

In the Matter of Appointments to the ) ORDER  #D2024-044 
NATURAL AREAS and PARKS  ) 
ADVISORY BOARD   ) 

 THE ABOVE-ENTITLED MATTER COMING NOW FOR THE CONSIDERATION 
OF THE BOARD AND, 

 IT APPEARING TO THE BOARD 

 THAT the following qualified and knowledgeable individuals have indicated a 
willingness to serve on this board: 

Name Term & Position 
Carol Walsh Beginning:  07/01/24 

Expires: 06/30/28 
Position:  1 

Bryce Downey Beginning:  07/01/24 
Expires: 06/30/28 
Position:  2 

Phillip Hays Beginning:  07/01/24 
Expires: 06/30/28 
Position:  9 

 NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the above individuals are hereby 
reappointed to the Natural Areas and Parks Advisory Board. 

Adopted this 18th day of June, 2024. 

Signed this 18th day of June, 2024. 

BENTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

            
     Xanthippe Augerot, Chair 

            
     Nancy Wyse, Vice Chair 
 
            
     Pat Malone, Commissioner 

Page 200 of 220



BEFORE THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
FOR THE STATE OF OREGON, FOR THE COUNTY OF BENTON 

 
In the Matter of Appointments to the ) ORDER #D2024-045 
PROPERTY VALUE APPEALS BOARD ) 

 THE ABOVE-ENTITLED MATTER COMING NOW FOR THE CONSIDERATION 
OF THE BOARD AND, 

 IT APPEARING TO THE BOARD 

THAT the following qualified and knowledgeable individuals have indicated a 
willingness to serve on this board: 

Name Term & Position 
Andrew Freborg Beginning: 07/01/24 

Expires: 06/30/26 
Position:     Pool 1 

David Coulombe Beginning: 07/01/23 
Expires: 06/30/25 
Position:     Pool 2 

 NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the above individuals are hereby 
reappointed to the Board of Property Tax Appeals. 

Adopted this 18th day of June, 2024. 

Signed this 18th day of June, 2024. 

BENTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

            
     Xanthippe Augerot, Chair 

            
     Nancy Wyse, Vice Chair 
 
            
     Pat Malone, Commissioner 

Page 201 of 220



BEFORE THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
FOR THE STATE OF OREGON, FOR THE COUNTY OF BENTON 

 
In the Matter of Appointments to the ) ORDER #D2024-046 
STATEWIDE TRANSPORTATION ) 
IMPROVEMENT FUND ) 
ADVISORY COMMITTEE ) 
 
 THE ABOVE-ENTITLED MATTER COMING NOW FOR THE CONSIDERATION 
OF THE BOARD AND, 

 IT APPEARING TO THE BOARD 

 THAT the following qualified and knowledgeable individuals have indicated a 
willingness to serve on this Committee. 

Name Term & Position 
Robert Keith Beginning: 07/01/23 

Expires: 06/30/26 
Position:  2 

Greg Gescher Beginning: 07/01/24 
Expires: 06/30/27 
Position:  4 

Nick Meltzer Beginning: 07/01/24 
Expires: 06/30/27 
Position:  5 

Heidi Henry Beginning: 07/01/24 
Expires: 06/30/27 
Position:  6 

 NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the above individuals are hereby 
appointed to the Statewide Transportation Improvement Fund Advisory Committee. 

Adopted this 18th day of June, 2024. 

Signed this 18th day of June, 2024. 

BENTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

            
     Xanthippe Augerot, Chair 

            
     Nancy Wyse, Vice Chair 
 
            
     Pat Malone, Commissioner 

Page 202 of 220



NEW BUSINESS 

Page 203 of 220



BOC Agenda Checklist Master

Agenda Placement and Contacts

Suggested Agenda
Date

View Agenda Tracker

Suggested
Placement*

Department*

Contact Name *

Phone Extension*

Meeting Attendee
Name *

Item Title *

Item Involves*

Estimated Time *

Board/Committee
Involvement*

06/18/24

BOC Tuesday Meeting

Juvenile

Matt Wetherell

5417666064

Matt Wetherell

Agenda Item Details

Discussion Regarding Annual Contract with Linn County for Youth Detention Beds

Check all that apply
Appointments
Budget
Contract/Agreement
Discussion and Action
Discussion Only
Document Recording
Employment
Notice of Intent
Order/Resolution
Ordinance/Public Hearing 1st Reading
Ordinance/Public Hearing 2nd Reading
Proclamation
Project/Committee Update
Public Comment
Special Report
Other

10

Yes
No

r 
~ 

~ 

~ 

r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 

r 
r-

Page 204 of 220

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1S2peKETqeC8LwBJ3LVhQ1eRm_0Lt4i8Zh9nFeOzJ40Y


Advertisement* Yes
No:) 

J Page 205 of 220



Issues and Fiscal Impact

Identified Salient
Issues*

Options*

Fiscal Impact*

Fiscal Impact
Description*

Item Issues and Description

No issues, this is a yearly contract between Linn and Benton County Juvenile
Departments for the use of 4 Detention beds for youth.

n/a

Yes
No

Yearly budgeted expense, it was included in the biennium cost, it may be lower
than anticipated.

r, 

r 

Page 206 of 220



2040 Thriving Communities Initiative

Mandated
Service?*

2040 Thriving Communities Initiative
Describe how this agenda checklist advances the core values or focus areas of 2040, or supports a strategy of a
departmental goal.

To review the initiative, visit the website HERE.

Mandated Service
Description*

Core Values*

Explain Core Values
Selections*

Focus Areas and
Vision*

Explain Focus Areas
and Vision
Selection*

Yes
No

If this agenda checklist describes a mandated service or other function, please describe here.
We have to be able to house youth for a short amount of time that threaten the
safety of our community or themselves.

Values and Focus Areas
Check boxes that reflect each applicable value or focus area and explain how they will be advanced.

Select all that apply.
Vibrant, Livable Communities
Supportive People Resources
High Quality Environment and Access
Diverse Economy that Fits
Community Resilience
Equity for Everyone
Health in All Actions
N/A

This is designed to get the youth the help and services they may need to hopefully
deflect them from further involvement with the juvenile/criminal justice system

Select all that apply.
Community Safety
Emergency Preparedness
Outdoor Recreation
Prosperous Economy
Environment and Natural Resources
Mobility and Transportation
Housing and Growth
Arts, Entertainment, Culture, and History
Food and Agriculture
Lifelong Learning and Education
N/A

When a youth is housed in a detention center, it is because they have been
accused of breaking a law. We want to ensure that everyone is safe in the
community. This includes any victims and the youth being detained.

r
r 

r 
~ 

r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 

~ 

r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 

Page 207 of 220

https://thebee.in.co.benton.or.us/2040


Recommendations and Motions

Staff
Recommendations*

Meeting Motions*

Item Recommendations and Motions

Staff recommends that this contract be approved and signed as it allows the
department to continue to serve the community as a whole

I move to ...
I move to approve the intergovernmental agreement between Linn and Benton
County to house youth at the Linn/Benton Detention Center.

Meeting Motion
I move to approve the intergovernmental agreement 
between Linn and Benton County to house youth at the 
Linn/Benton Detention Center.

Page 208 of 220



Attachments, Comments, and Submission

Attachments

Comments (optional)

Department
Approver

Item Comments and Attachments

Upload any attachments to be included in the agenda, preferably as PDF files. If more than one
attachment / exhibit, please indicate "1", "2", "3" or "A", "B", "C" on the documents.

If you have any questions, please call ext.6800

AMANDA MAKEPEACE

Page 209 of 220



1. Dept Approval 5. 

2. 

3. 

4.

Department Approval BOC Final Approval 

Comments Comments 

Signature 
Signature 

Counsel Approval 

Comments 

Signature 

Finance Approval 

Comments 

Signature 

County Adlmin iistrator Approval 

Comments 

Signature 

Page 210 of 220



BOC Agenda Checklist Master

Agenda Placement and Contacts

Suggested Agenda
Date

View Agenda Tracker

Suggested
Placement*

Department*

Contact Name *

Phone Extension*

Meeting Attendee
Name *

Item Title *

Item Involves*

Estimated Time *

Board/Committee
Involvement*

06/18/24

BOC Tuesday Meeting

Board of Commissioners

Rick Crager

5417666246

Rick Crager, April Holland, and Lacey Mollel

Agenda Item Details

Modified Proposal for Health Services Structure

Check all that apply
Appointments
Budget
Contract/Agreement
Discussion and Action
Discussion Only
Document Recording
Employment
Notice of Intent
Order/Resolution
Ordinance/Public Hearing 1st Reading
Ordinance/Public Hearing 2nd Reading
Proclamation
Project/Committee Update
Public Comment
Special Report
Other

20 minutes

Yes
No

r 
r 
r 
~ 

r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 

r 
r-

Page 211 of 220

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1S2peKETqeC8LwBJ3LVhQ1eRm_0Lt4i8Zh9nFeOzJ40Y


Advertisement* Yes
No:) 

J Page 212 of 220



Issues and Fiscal Impact

Identified Salient
Issues*

Options*

Fiscal Impact*

Item Issues and Description

Over the last two (2) months, Assistant County Administrator and Interim Directors
of both the Community Health Centers and Health Department have worked on
evaluating the health services organization's structure that was recommended and
approved by the BOC in May 2023. Through this process, we've reviewed other
county government structures, existing program and services in both departments,
current management structures and classifications, the impacts and organization of
county leadership changes, and existing challenges and opportunities with both
combined and separate departmental structures. 

Based on this review, it is clear the goals and objectives that were outlined in the
BOC recommendation remain the same. However, with the addition of the Assistant
County Administrator position and its assigned oversight for both the Health
Department and Community Health Centers, we believe the County could modify its
original plan to reduce the county fiscal impact and maintain some of the existing
department’s leadership structure while still meeting all goals and objectives
originally identified.

Based on the review, it is recommended the Board of Commissioners replace the
May 2023 approved recommendation with the following revised recommendation: 

Maintain the two existing Departments and their existing names - Health
Department and Community Health Centers. Both Departments will maintain
Department Head positions and be overseen by the Assistant County
Administrator. No later than December 31, 2024, complete the development of a
Benton County Health Services Strategic Plan. Said plan will clearly outline the
continuum of services for all health services provided across both Departments
and identify measurable goals and objectives to ensure high quality health
services for the community. In addition, no later than October 31, 2024, implement
organizational changes focused on the following:

• Restructuring and realigning the health business office to better support each
Department in a way that reduces redundancy, creates collaboration amongst
teams, provides fair and equitable support to everyone, and operates in the most
efficient manner possible. 
• Reevaluate the growing Behavioral Health Division, particularly with the future
addition of the Crisis Center to create better integration and coordination within the
appropriate areas of each Department.
• Identify current teams, programs, and/or services that appear duplicative and/or
similar in each Department and determine how they may be more effectively
administered or organized with one or both Departments. 
• Review management span of control to ensure staff, programs, and services are
provided with effective oversight, support, and leadership in conducting their work.
• Reevaluate all positions within each Department to provide clarity and
consistency in job duties resulting in appropriate classification assignments and
help the county to recruit and retain workforce more effectively.

* Approve the modified staff recommendation as presented.
* Not approve, the modified staff recommendation as presented, and maintain the
plan that was approved in May 2023.
* Modify the staff recommendations.

Yes
No:) 

J 

Page 213 of 220



2040 Thriving Communities Initiative

Mandated
Service?*

2040 Thriving Communities Initiative
Describe how this agenda checklist advances the core values or focus areas of 2040, or supports a strategy of a
departmental goal.

To review the initiative, visit the website HERE.

Core Values*

Explain Core Values
Selections*

Focus Areas and
Vision*

Explain Focus Areas
and Vision
Selection*

Yes
No

Values and Focus Areas
Check boxes that reflect each applicable value or focus area and explain how they will be advanced.

Select all that apply.
Vibrant, Livable Communities
Supportive People Resources
High Quality Environment and Access
Diverse Economy that Fits
Community Resilience
Equity for Everyone
Health in All Actions
N/A

The modified structure focuses on providing improvement in the continuum of
health services through increased organizational efficiency, strategic focus, and
measurable outcomes.

Select all that apply.
Community Safety
Emergency Preparedness
Outdoor Recreation
Prosperous Economy
Environment and Natural Resources
Mobility and Transportation
Housing and Growth
Arts, Entertainment, Culture, and History
Food and Agriculture
Lifelong Learning and Education
N/A

Ensuring efficient and high-quality health services that effectively meet the needs
of the community.

r 
C: 

~ 

r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 
r 

Page 214 of 220

https://thebee.in.co.benton.or.us/2040


Recommendations and Motions

Staff
Recommendations*

Meeting Motions*

Item Recommendations and Motions

Staff recommended the BOC accept and approve the modified proposal for the
health services structure as presented.

I move to ...
approve a modification to the May 2023 proposed health services structure to
reflect the recommendations outlined by staff.

Meeting Motion
I move to approve a modification to the May 2023 proposed 
health services structure to reflect the recommendations 
outlined by staff.

Page 215 of 220



Attachments, Comments, and Submission

Attachments

Comments (optional)

Department
Approver

Item Comments and Attachments

Upload any attachments to be included in the agenda, preferably as PDF files. If more than one
attachment / exhibit, please indicate "1", "2", "3" or "A", "B", "C" on the documents.

BOC Health Service Modified Structure.pdf 170.33KB

If you have any questions, please call ext.6800

RACHEL MCENENY

Page 216 of 220



 

1.  
 

 

2. 

 

3.  

 

4.  

 
 

Department Approval 

Comments 

Signature 

I 
'2'Zl"H/:-/ tJf1'(?,1;;. -'IWo/' 

Counsel Approval 

Comments 

Signature 

Jla,.tu //. WMIJ 

County Administrator Approval 

Comments 

Signature 

w-/f~/ tJf1'@ -'IF✓o/' 

BOC Final Approval 

Comments 

Signature 

~ /fa{.9U,U, 

Page 217 of 220



Page 1 of 3 
 

Board of Commissioners Office 

Office: (541) 766-6800 
Fax: (541) 766-6893 

 

4500 SW Research Way 
Corvallis, OR 97333 

 

Bentoncountyor.gov 

 
 
 
 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
Date:  June 7, 2024 
 
To:  Board of Commissioners 
   
From: Rick Crager, Assistant County Administrator 
  Board of Commissioners Office 
 
RE:  Modified Proposal for Health Services Structure 
 
On May 5, 2023, the Board of Commissioners (BOC) approved a proposal 
presented by Suzanne Hoffman, Interim County Administrator, to change the 
existing structure of the Health Department and Community Health Centers to 
create one Health and Human Services Department. The approved 
recommendation is as follows: 
 

Replace the Health Department Director position with one that will 
oversee all the County’s health divisions. Rename the department 
“Health and Human Services Department,” which honors all aspects of 
the policy work and service provision performed. This is a widely 
understood title for this type of department and may ease the change 
management process. Convert the CHC from a department to a division 
that will join the existing Health Department divisions as direct reports 
to a new Health and Human Services Department Director. 

 
The decision made by the BOC was to enable the County to meet the following 
goals and objectives more effectively: 
 

• Lead systems improvements to create efficiencies, ensure continuity of 
operations and optimize performance. 

• Focus on increased and improved service coordination between all 
divisions. 

• Provide a greater level of subject matter expertise than a County 
Administrator is likely to possess. 

• Support and coach division leaders. 
• Attend to work environment and healthy work culture. 

Page 218 of 220



Page 2 of 3 
 

• Increase oversight and accountability, managing risk to the County. 
 
Since the BOC approval in May 2023, the County has undergone two (2) 
transitions of Interim County Administrators prior to the hiring of its current 
County Administrator, Rachel McEneny, in October 2023. These leadership 
transitions greatly slowed the County’s ability to conduct the review and 
analysis necessary to successfully implement a new structure. Additionally, C.A. 
McEneny needed time to observe, evaluate, and subsequently, make necessary 
changes to the county leadership structure to better support all county 
departments. 
 
In March 2024, I was hired as the Assistant County Administrator to help 
support the County Administrator in providing leadership to the multiple 
county departments and services they provide. This is a new position for the 
county. C.A. McEneny sees this position as an opportunity to reconsider the May 
2023 recommendation to the BOC concerning the combination of the Health 
Department and Community Health Center into one Department.   
 
One of the first tasks assigned to me by Rachel was to conduct a reevaluation of 
the proposed structure recommended to the BOC and determine what, if any, 
adjustments should be considered. Once complete, then make any revised 
recommendation to the BOC so that we can quickly begin to move forward on a 
permanent structure. Both departments have been in an interim leadership 
structure over the last 10-16 months. 
 
Over the last two (2) months I’ve worked collaboratively with the Interim 
Community Health Centers Director, Lacey Mollel, and Interim Health 
Department Director, April Holland. During which time, we have reviewed other 
county government structures, existing program and services in both 
departments, current management structures and classifications, the impacts 
and organization of county leadership changes, and existing challenges and 
opportunities with both combined and separate departmental structures.  
Additionally, I spent the four (4) months, prior to accepting the Assistant 
County Administrator opportunity, completing intense budget analysis and 
program/service reviews to help bring the Community Health Center into a 
balanced budget.   
 
Through the work, it is clear the goals and objectives that were outlined in the 
BOC recommendation remain the same. However, with the addition of the 
Assistant County Administrator position and its assigned oversight for both the 
Health Department and Community Health Centers, I believe the County could 
modify its original plan to reduce the county fiscal impact and maintain some of 

Page 219 of 220



Page 3 of 3 
 

the existing department’s leadership structure while still meeting all goals and 
objectives outlined above. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Based on my review, I propose the Board of Commissioners replace the May 
2023 approved recommendation with the following revised recommendation:  
 
Maintain the two existing Departments and their existing names - Health 
Department and Community Health Centers. Both Departments will maintain 
Department Head positions and be overseen by the Assistant County 
Administrator. No later than December 31, 2024, complete the development of a 
Benton County Health Services Strategic Plan. Said plan will clearly outline the 
continuum of services for all health services provided across both Departments 
and identify measurable goals and objectives to ensure high quality health 
services for the community. In addition, no later than October 31, 2024, 
implement organizational changes focused on the following: 
 

• Restructuring and realigning the health business office to better support 
each Department in a way that reduces redundancy, creates collaboration 
amongst teams, provides fair and equitable support to everyone, and 
operates in the most efficient manner possible.   

• Reevaluate the growing Behavioral Health Division, particularly with the 
future addition of the Crisis Center to create better integration and 
coordination within the appropriate areas of each Department. 

• Identify current teams, programs, and/or services that appear duplicative 
and/or similar in each Department and determine how they may be more 
effectively administered or organized with one or both Departments.  

• Review management span of control to ensure staff, programs, and 
services are provided with effective oversight, support, and leadership in 
conducting their work. 

• Reevaluate all positions within each Department to provide clarity and 
consistency in job duties resulting in appropriate classification 
assignments and help the county to recruit and retain workforce more 
effectively. 

Page 220 of 220


	240618 June 18, 2024 AGENDA
	PROCLAMATIONS
	3.1 Juneteenth Proclamation_2024 P2024-013

	WORK SESSIONS
	5.2.A South Corvallis Food Hub_Corvallis City Council and Benton County Commissioners_May 2024_submitted 5-7-2024
	5.2.B South Corvallis Food Hub Comprehensive Space Needs Assessment Report Final
	5.3 Presentation of Benton County Elections Integrity Informational Video CHECKLIST

	CONSENT CALENDAR
	6.1 Renewal of Annual Liquor Licenses for FY 2024-25 CHECKLIST
	6.1 2024-25 Benton County Liquor License Applications

	6.2 240319m_tu Board Meeting Minutes and 2 Exhibits
	240319m_tu Board Meeting Minutes and Two Exhibits
	Exhibit 1 240318 Yeager Public Comment.pdf
	From: Mark Yeager <mayeager@gmail.com> Date: March 18, 2024 at 11:59:54 PM EDT To: AUGEROT Xanthippe <Xanthippe.Augerot@bentoncountyor.gov>, MCENENY Rachel <rachel.mceneny@bentoncountyor.gov> Cc: Alex Powers <Alex.Powers@lee.net>, Penny Rosenberg <pen...

	Exhibit 2 Item 5.1 Juvenile Court Improvement Project Data

	6.3 Advisory Boards and Committees Appointments
	CBCLB appts 240618 D2024-036
	CPC appts 240618 D2024-037
	DSAC appt 240618 D2024-038
	EZAC Order 240618 D2024-039
	FB appt 240618 D2024-040
	FSAC appt 240618 D2024-041
	HRC appts 240618 D2024-042
	MHADDAC appt 240618 D2024-043
	NAPB appts 240618 D2024-044
	Carol Walsh
	Bryce Downey
	Phillip Hays

	PVAB reappt 240618 D2024-045
	STIF appt 240618 D2024-046


	NEW BUSINESS
	7.1 Discussion Regarding Annual Contract with Linn County for Youth Detention Beds CHECKLIST
	7.1 Motion
	7.2 Modified Proposal for Health Services Structure CHECKLIST
	7.2 BOC Health Service Modified Structure

	7.2 Motion




